IRON OXEN

A DOCUMENTARY OF REVOLUTION

IN CHINESE FARMING

William Hinton



To the young mechanics, tractor drivers, technicians, and laborers on China's state farms who went wherever they were needed, turned wastelands into fertile fields, and built a socialist way of life.

In a few decades, why can't 600 million "paupers," by their own efforts, create a socialist country, rich and strong? The wealth of society is created by the workers, the peasants, the working intellectuals. If they take their destiny into their own hands, use Marxism-Leninism as their guide, and energetically tackle problems instead of evading them, there is no difficulty in the world which they cannot overcome.

Mao Zedong

TALES FROM THE FRONT

A Collection of Revolutionary Stories and Poetry

Communists are known for our reliance on and understanding of theoretical knowledge. Our conception of education and self-education comes directly from Lenin's famous formula: "Without revolutionary theory there can be no revolutionary movement." Yet, in our ongoing effort to acquire practical and theoretical knowledge, it may be necessary to engage with historical accounts of concrete struggles in which theory was both forged and applied in the sometimes murky complexity of real life. *Tales from the Front* aims to provide activists with concrete historical examples—both fictionalized and non-fiction—of those instances in which theory and practice mutually produced and intertwined with each other

This book was reprinted with permission from Monthly Review Press

Foreign Languages Press

38 Rue Dunois 75013 Paris

 $flpress@protonmail.com\\foreignlanguages.press$

Imprimé en Italie par Pixartprinting

Dépôt légal: avril 2024 ISBN: 978-2-493844-64-4

Contents

Prologue	9
Iron Oxen, A Documentary of Revolution in Chinese Farming	55
Mule Cart to South Ridge	55
"I've Never Seen a Freight Train"	63
Wasteland Pioneers	77
Director Li	85
Lao Hei Gets Married	99
Donkeys, Rifles, and Tractor Engines	III
"I Accept Your Criticism"	121
Tractors Need Room to Turn Around	131
Battles North and South	147
Drama Under a Rising Moon	161
Beijing on a Tractor	171
Liberated Tianjin	187
Plowing in Thousand Qing Basin	197
Sugar-Coated Bullets	207
Trains, Shops, and a Pacifist	217
Autumn Sowing	233
Militiaman Guo Passes the Gate	243
Double Bridge	251
Soybeans for Steel	261
Wherever the People Need Us	275

A Trip to the South	287
Big Yang Sits Under the Pomegranate Tree	307
When the Sun Stands One Stalk High	321
Combines in the Cotton Patch	33I
It Works	339
People Come First	349
Bujiandan	357
Postscript, 1970	363

Prologue

Tie niu—iron oxen—is the name peasants gave to tractors when they first appeared on China's far flung plains after the end of World War II.

This is a book about tractors in China and the men and women who first put them to work in the Liberated Areas of the North. There, because land reform had been completed and a new revolutionary government held power, large-scale farming and farm mechanization was at last able to establish a firm base in the land of the ox and the hoe.

In pre-revolutionary China, mechanization had been all but impossible. No one seriously considered introducing tractors, grain drills, and combines into a countryside where tillage methods remained as stagnant as the medieval rural society they reflected.¹

The United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration (UNRRA), which sent almost 2,000 tractors to China between 1945 and 1947, never planned to transform native agriculture with them. UNRRA machinery was originally destined for the area in Henan flooded by the Yellow River. There, millions of acres of good land had been laid waste in 1937 when Chiang Kaishek ordered the breaching of the dykes to delay Japan's advance southward. The wild grasses that took over the land after the first deluge subsided spread roots so thick that peasant plows could not break them. Relief tractors were meant to be sodbusters that would break up and turn the heavy roots so that returning refugees could begin once more the age-old cycle of winter wheat and summer beans on fields plowed with animal, or even human power, and harvested with sickles. The tractors, once they had accomplished their task and were worn out from taming several million acres, were to be discarded.

Even the Japanese, who built ten-thousandacre farms on the salt flats of the Bohai Gulf

¹ The virgin Lands of the Northeast were a minor exception. There, tractors were introduced between the two world wars and some mechanized farming was earned on for many years, Lanz, of Germany, had a dealer in Shenyang who sold and serviced tractors on a commercial basis.

during World War II, never introduced machinery for cultivation. Huge diesel engines and rotary pumps for irrigation, yes—but the lands reclaimed by power pumping were divided into countless small plots and rented out to Korean tenants familiar with rice production. These tenants did most of their work by hand. They were migrants from poverty-stricken villages in mountainous Korea, dependent on the Japanese for seed, fertilizer, water, and fuel, were no better off than serfs, and had to accept whatever contract terms their overlords saw fit to grant. Why should anyone consider tractors when manpower such as this was available?

As for China's traditional gentry—families who, depending on the region, owned from one-third to three-quarters of all the land in the country—they rarely invested in such fundamentals as improved seed, chemical fertilizer, insecticides, or modern implements, not to mention tractors and combines. They held scattered plots, not large estates, and their bailiffs were specialists in rent collection, not farm management. If these gentry prospered they bought additional land with their surplus grain, converted it into gold and buried it in the ground, or loaned it out at exorbitant interest rates to tenants who had not kept enough food from the harvest to survive the winter.

How could tractors be grafted onto such a system? Who dared risk capital on imported

machines when 100 percent a month could be earned on short-term loans to the desperate poor? And even if someone wanted to introduce tractors, where were the lands they could work? Few plots, even on the flat North China plain, equaled half an acre in size, while most of the paths between fields were too narrow for modern machines and implements to pass along.

True, there were wastelands, millions of acres of wastelands, but who dared undertake their reclamation? Certainly not any private citizen and certainly not the corrupt and avaricious bureaucrats of the Kuomintang. They left the wastelands for foreigners to tackle.

Ironically, when UNRRA, hoping to stabilize the status quo through resettlement, finally sent tractors by the hundreds to reclaim the huge flooded areas of Henan, the realities of Chinese politics prevented any major concentration of machinery there. Provincial governors and military commanders in other parts of the country were not willing to see supplies and equipment worth millions of dollars sent to one spot to enrich a colleague or rival. No: the tractors had to be split as many ways as there were governors and generals with influence. And so, instead of establishing one great reclamation project in Henan, with central repair shops and satellite depots, with a few skilled engineers and many technicians, the tractors, implements, parts, and supplies were

split into many shipments and sent, ten or twenty units at a time, to provinces north, south, east, and west, wherever wasteland could be found to serve as an excuse. On reaching their destination, these tractors sometimes plowed land and sometimes sat idle, but always served as a lever for enriching those who controlled them. Imposing bureaucracies of relief-fund recipients were built around these tractors as the men in charge went up a rung on the ladder of wealth and political influence.

I went to China in January 1947 as a technical volunteer with the Church of the Brethren Unit, which had recruited most of the instructors for the UNRRA tractor program. In 1947, the Nationalists still breathed confidence in the outcome of the civil war, which they were forcing on the country with American support. Their armies were on the offensive everywhere, driving into and splitting up Communist-held areas all over North and Northeast China. Mismanagement of relief and reconstruction projects, however, caused many UNRRA staff members to question whether the Nationalists could ever rebuild China, even if they should succeed in conquering it. Public-spirited officials with faith in the future, willing and able to do the hard spadework necessary to establish tractor stations, could not be found. Young people who wanted to devote their lives to the grueling labor of mechanized tillage

no doubt existed, but, more often than not, those chosen by local officials as trainees were careerists who had no intention of soiling their hands with manual labor as a way of life. Most of the wasteland available either needed far more than tractor plows to bring it under cultivation or was already under the control of local gentry who knew well how to pare the flesh off any project while leaving the bare bones to the poor peasants and refugees UNRRA had ostensibly set out to help.

My first lesson in these social realities came in the Kuomintang-controlled areas of the Northeast, where I spent six weeks in February and March.

The economy of China's foremost industrial region was in a shambles that winter. The cities looked as if they had been through several years of bombardment. Row on row of substantial brick houses, once occupied by privileged Japanese, had been gutted, their windows smashed, their roofs torn off, their floors torn up. All that remained were brick walls and gaping holes that had once held doors and window frames. Factories had been similarly stripped and looted. Mile on mile of smokeless chimneys stood against the gray winter sky. Everyone blamed the destruction on the Russians, but inquiry revealed that the Russians had removed only key items of heavy equipment. The bulk of the damage had been done by

the local population after the Russians had left and before the Kuomintang troops arrived. The liberated people had revenged themselves on their imperial conquerors and forestalled Kuomintang looting by tearing everything of value out of Japanese-built factories and houses. They mainly sought wood that could be used as fuel and hardware that could be sold. What they could not carry off, they often smashed. The destruction was tremendous, but thousands of families lived for many months on the sale of nuts, bolts, gears, bearings, belts, and other odd items expropriated during those tempestuous days.

While surveying the prospects for mechanized farming in this devastated region, we tractor men stayed at the Yamato Hotel in the heart of downtown Shenyang. It was one of those monstrous buildings that imperialists (in this case Tzarist Russians) were wont to build in all parts of the world, hot or cold. The first floor was two stories high, so that having a meal in the dining room was like eating in the grand hall of the old Pennsylvania Station in New York City. Cold drafts, which seemed to originate somewhere above the multilayered glass chandeliers, swept the room periodically and set everyone shivering. In the foyer, colored light from stained glass windows set high in the walls filtered down on a green tile fountain that had long since ceased to flow. Brown woodwork, brown walls, and dark gray ceilings

unwashed since Tzar Nicholas' execution added to the gloom.

Yet the Yamato Hotel was booked solid with the most fascinating assortment of people on the make. High Kuomintang generals, their aides, and concubines occupied a substantial proportion of the rooms. They shared hallways and lobbies with politicians shorn of their home boroughs and landlords shorn of their homelands. Mayors, governors, and police chiefs appointed to rule in provinces that had not as yet been "liberated" from the grip of the revolutionary hordes exchanged complaints with the worried gentry in whose interest they proposed to govern.

Across the hall from me lived a landlord who claimed twenty thousand acres north of Changchun. Tall, lean, American-educated, polished and yet at the same time a little roughhewn, this impressive gentleman informed me that General Du Yuming's armies would soon restore the sources of his wealth. Next door lived an Englishman named Edgar who was trying hard to recover the seventeen houses he had once owned in Yingkou. When he had finally managed to reach that port city he had found twelve of his houses completely demolished. When he had gone to the mayor to complain, he had been presented with a bill for all the back taxes of the war years. Still, he had not given up. He had a childlike faith that the old imperial world would be put back together again and that his own little corner of it would return to his control.

Conversation at mealtimes turned mostly on soybeans, for the Yamato was also headquarters for a motley crew of speculators from Shanghai. Their contribution to world order was to buy soybeans from Manchurian middlemen at two or three cents a pound, bribe the officers in control of transport to get railway cars to ship them south, and then dispose of them at Yellow Sea ports for seven or eight cents a pound, thus realizing fortunes overnight. "There is the man who made \$300,000 last month," and "Here comes Li who made \$100,000 on one shipment," were typical of the rumors that periodically sent ripples through the dining room.

Although huge shipments of soybeans from the 1946 crop had already been dispatched to France and England, mountains of Manchuria's most famous product still dotted the hinterlands. At every station along the railroad lines we traveled, beans were stacked in bags twenty high, many without cover of any sort and some sitting in pools of water. As the water gradually soaked up through the piles, destroying the value of the beans, traders forced hinterland prices lower while world prices climbed.

A majority of the speculators were actually agents for T. V. Soong and other "family" companies. "Family" in this case meant the Gongs, Songs,

Zhens, and Chiangs who dominated the political, military, and economic affairs of Nationalist China. These soybean buyers were perhaps the least vicious of the "carpetbaggers" sent by those "four" to take over the Northeast in 1945. Most of the generals and top civilian officials ferried by American air force planes into Manchuria after the Japanese surrender and Soviet pull-out were trusted Kuomintang insiders from the Yangtze Valley. While the Northeast's own great general, the young marshall, Zhang Xueliang, languished in a Nanjing villa, still under house arrest for his revolt in Xian in 1936, political hacks who had spent the war enriching themselves in Chongqing, Kunming, and Guizhou swarmed into Manchuria as if it were a conquered colony. They seized and shipped off everything of value that had not already been expropriated by the poor. Those few plants and installations that had miraculously survived the transfer of power were taken over more or less intact by southern officials who soon stripped them cleaner than the populace had stripped plants elsewhere. Anything made of metal and in working order brought many times its value in Central China. After a year under Kuomintang care, the economy was in a worse shambles than anyone had conceived possible when its minions arrived.

Under conditions such as these it was clear that there was no bright future for tractors. We found many abandoned industrial buildings that could be converted into storage sheds, repair shops, and tractor-drivers' living quarters. We also found trained mechanics seeking employment. But there was almost no wasteland to plow in the Shenyang-Changchun area; the region was already choked with agricultural produce that could not be moved to market, and bureaucrats on the make congregated like bees around honey wherever valuable equipment or relief supplies appeared.

I went with an UNRRA dietician to survey a flooded area where local officials had requested famine relief for 100,000 starving people. The county magistrate put us up overnight in a wine factory that belonged to a large landlord. In the factory yard sat two storage bins made of reed mats. These bins, twelve feet across and at least twelve feet high, were stuffed to the brim, one with soybeans, the other with gaoliang²—approximately forty tons to the bin. Other rooms in the compound were also filled with grain, enough to feed thousands. With all this wealth in front of him, the police chief, a large, pot-bellied man with drooping jowls, confided that he was a refugee from the Communists in Hubei Province, that he had twelve family members to support, that his salary was only 8,000 yuan a month, and that he

² Gaoliang is sorghum.—Ed.

urgently needed relief to carry them through until spring. He urged us to give his case serious consideration.

We did. We found that he commanded no less than 300 armed men, enough to seize all the grain in the district, that he lived alone in the magistrate's compound with no one to support, and that if he was a refugee from Communism it must have been some time ago because all the Communist-led regular forces had long since withdrawn from Hubei.

The Communist threat was the main stock-intrade of such officials. The mere mention of red hordes was supposed to so unnerve the Western experts that we would immediately unleash the vast stores of supplies that we supposedly controlled. No tale was considered too fantastic. One day Professor McKonkey, a Canadian who was head of all agricultural rehabilitation work in the Northeast and was known to his UNRRA colleagues as the "Emperor of Manchuria," lost his Russian-style great coat in the fover of the Yamato Hotel. Colonel Sam Li, aide to General Du Yuming, personally investigated the case. After two days of fruitless search he informed us in hushed tones that the coat had been seized by a Communist agent to be used as a disguise for spying at the front.

With equal seriousness Dr. Pan, Minister of Agriculture for the Northeast, insisted that he would have to interview all prospective tractor students personally to make sure there were no Communists among them. He assured us that he could tell a Communist by talking with one. He recommended, to head the whole program, a man who had spent twelve years supervising tractor operations in the field in—of all places—Germany. He had done such good work that he had been awarded a medal by Hitler himself.

After six weeks in the Northeast, I was prepared for difficult conditions elsewhere. I was not disappointed. In April, I was sent to Suiyuan Province to set up a tractor project in the wastelands east of Baotou, the Yellow River terminus of the Beijing-Suiyuan railroad. Our project was located at Salaqi, a county town in the middle of an alkaline plain bounded by high rock mountains on the north and the meandering arms of the Yellow River on the south.

From the crest of the mountains on a clear day one could see almost the whole of the Suiyuan plain and out across the Yellow River to the rising lands of the Ordos Desert far beyond. South of the river lay sand; to the north, grass flats, cropland, and a few scattered trees covered the earth with a layer of vegetation too thin to prevent the soil from blowing. When the wind came up, great twisters of dust rose in the bed of the river, while here and there across the plain smaller dust

squalls whirled, sank, and finally dissipated, only to appear again in some other place.

Trees, isolated and small, were hardly noticeable in that vast expanse. Remove them and the appearance of the plain would hardly be altered. The cropland and grassland, instead of being a deep green, were a yellow gray just tinted with green. It was as if a thin veil had been laid on the earth. Looking down between clumps of grass and stalks of millet to the bare gray earth itself, it was clear that growing things covered but a small fraction of the total area of the plain. Plants, animals, and men were accidents here, scarcely tolerated by nature. One had the feeling that men were pressing the dry land very close to its limit. The scattered villages consisted of small clusters of mud houses-adobe walls, dusty streets, a sprinkling of trees. Each was centered in a small patch of scrawny crops, wherever lesser concentrations of salt allowed such crops to grow.

It was a formidable task for any man to support himself in this country. All winter he shivered in his mud hut while the ground froze five feet down. Spring came, but it brought no rain. The drought lasted for weeks and months. Then suddenly, in July, the climate changed. The sky opened and for hours on end water poured down. The bare rocks of the mountains could not hold it; the baked land could not absorb it. Out of the canyons burst seething brown floods that covered

the land and washed out the crops, smashed the houses, and then were gone. In two days it was as if the rain had never been. The earth was baked as hot and dry as ever. Peasants digging into it with a stick found that all that water had penetrated but a few inches. Another year of meager crops could hardly be avoided.

During the great famine of 1956 relief funds from America had poured into Suiyuan to build a canal that was to end the awful cycle of drought and flood cast of Baotou. Under the direction of an American engineer named Todd, a host of foreign supervisors and thousands of peasants dug a canal forty miles into the plain from the top of the Yellow River bend. They called it the *Minsheng* or "People's Life" Canal. It was supposed to carry enough water to irrigate tens of thousands of acres and create a garden at the foot of the mountains.

Unfortunately, Todd miscalculated and though water entered the ditch when the river was at medium height, it was still ten feet below the land it was supposed to irrigate. When, on the other hand, the river hit flood stage, the canal served as an aqueduct to flood the whole countryside and bring up salt that destroyed whatever crops were already under cultivation and permanently damaged the soil. After Todd departed, the canal was renamed the *Minsi* or "People's Death" Canal.

In 1947 money was again pouring into Suiyuan from abroad in the form of UNRRA flour for dyke repair workers and tractors for the reclamation of wasteland. Officialdom from Guisui³ to Baotou buzzed with excited anticipation. It had been a long time since the bureaucrats of this remote area had been able to approach wealth such as this.

Some of the most valuable equipment accompanying the tractors got lost long before it reached Salaqi. The packing cases that contained spare parts, a welding outfit, mechanics' tools, and a complete blacksmith shop were broken open in the warehouse on the Tianjin docks and openly looted. When we saw the damaged cases, Jim Wilson, my Brethren Service partner, and I decided to accompany our shipment up the railroad in person. Little did we know what a protracted and hazardous journey we were embarking upon. From Kalgan⁴ in Chahar to Datong in North Shanxi, all the bridges on a one hundred mile stretch of track had been blown up by guerrillas. Since the bridges, for the most part, crossed dry arroyos, not running streams, maintenance crews had avoided rebuilding them by laying track down the side of each embankment, across the dry watercourse, and back up the embankment on the

³ Guisui is now known as Hothot, capital of Inner Mongolia Province—Ed.

⁴ Today known as Zhangjiakou.—Ed.

other side. They had thus converted the railroad into something resembling a slow-motion rollercoaster. The train, traveling at less than five miles an hour, plunged periodically off the right-of-way to negotiate creek beds and was derailed twice in one day. Crews of railway workers exhibited extraordinary ingenuity in coaxing the derailed locomotive (later the tender) back onto the track. but a more serious derailment of the east-bound train forced us to spend the night in the open. Most of the passengers—merchants, speculators, landlords, and military men-showed great anxiety at the prospect. They found an abandoned station house, barricaded themselves inside, and posted guards all around lest bandits or Communists (they used the same word, tufei, for both) raid them in the night.

After five days sleeping on fiat cars with our tractors and equipment, we finally reached Salaqi and set up shop in the compound of the county farm on the southern outskirts of the town. The compound was large. It needed to be, for we had two officials for each post on the staff and the posts were twice as numerous as the project required. This doubling up was due to rivalry between the regional relief officials sent out from Taiyuan, where the cohorts of General Yan Xisan were supposed to supervise work in three provinces, and the local Suiyuan men, followers of General Fu Zuoyi, who actually commanded the troops on

the spot. Since Yan's star was falling (he had lost most of Shanxi and large parts of his army, first to the Japanese and later to the Communist-led People's Liberation Army) and Fu's star was rising (he still had a large army, had taken much of Chahar back from the Communists, and was getting supplies direct from the United States), Fu's men had the inside track and assumed all key posts on the farm. But Yan's men could not be sent home and, although there was nothing for them to do, they occupied rooms—not only for themselves, but for their wives and children as well—ate meals, and demanded and received paychecks.

The position of Tractor Captain was assumed by no less an official than the Minister of Agriculture of Suiyuan Province; he brought with him three advisors, all graduates of technical colleges and all absolutely useless, either in the field or the repair shop. The Tractor Captain commanded a Financial Section replete with cashier and bookkeeper, a General Affairs Section that included an executive, several cooks, janitors, room boys, and buyers; a Repair Section that boasted a Japanese engineer and two assistants, and a Drivers' Brigade composed of graduates of the Provincial Agricultural School who had no intention of being tractor hands, but who saw this training as a stepping stone to more exalted careers.

The ten tractors that finally reached Suiyuan were thus supervised by a staff of about thirty,

exclusive of drivers, most of whom were rarely seen during the day. Toward evening, however, the compound came to life and the hours between dusk and midnight were gay with talk, song, and the finger game, which served as an excuse for the consumption of large quantities of *gaoliang* liquor.⁵

As for wasteland, there was plenty of it around Salaqi because of the alkalinity spread by the People's Death Canal, but there was not much point in plowing land on which no crops would grow. Two public farms, one owned by the province and one by the county, contained between them some 16,000 acres, but all that could be tilled had already been rented out to tenants. In order to find land to plow, the baozhangs (heads of 100 families) and jiazhangs (heads of ten family groups) from the surrounding villages were called into conference. Though they were dressed in the same padded clothes worn by most peasants, many of these men were obviously gentry. Assured that taxes would in no way be affected, they were enthusiastic about the prospect of free plowing and drew up a map showing the tracts to be plowed. Since

⁵ The finger game consists of throwing out the fingers of one hand from 0 to 5, and calling out a number which one hopes will equal the total of fingers on one's own and one's opponent's hands. Whoever calls the correct number wins (there can be many draws between each win). The loser has to empty a thimble cup of 90-proof *gaoliang* distillate.

these were privately owned or came under the control of temples and clans, it seemed unlikely that the poor peasants of Salaqi would reap any benefit whatsoever; yet it was the poor peasants and not the gentry we had come to help.

This meeting was held at a time of real crisis for the peasants of Salaqi. Yields had been falling and taxes had been rising for several years. Some months earlier, peasants in one village had refused to deliver their tax grain. The magistrate's guard had visited their settlement, arrested the men, stripped their clothes off, poured cold water on their naked bodies, and locked them in an empty room in the below zero weather of a Suivuan winter. There they froze to death. This object-lesson in law and order had apparently not been brutal enough, however, for not long after we arrived in Salagi several thousand local people went to the railroad station and looted several carloads of wheat and millet awaiting shipment to Tianjin. The Tianjin merchants, who had paid large sums of gold for the grain, were outraged. They had been robbed in broad daylight; they demanded compensation and revenge.

The people saw the "outrage" in a different light. Before the merchants had arrived, ordinary townspeople had barely been able to buy the grain they needed at current price levels. After the merchants had bid the prices up, ordinary townspeople could no longer afford to eat. The price escala-

tion was of no help to the average peasant, either. The peasants had long since turned over the bulk of their harvest to landlords and tax collectors, or had sold it to local merchants for a few dollars to buy coal and oil. Now they, like the townspeople, were faced with soaring costs for food and seed. A rumor spread that Magistrate Gao had enriched himself on the deal; he was said to have received two bags of grain for every ten he helped the merchants buy. A mass meeting developed spontaneously in the town square. Many people spoke up and accused the government, the magistrate, and the merchants. They urged action. In the end the people went down to the railroad and took the only action possible—they took back their grain.

This open defiance of authority astonished and angered Magistrate Gao. He was a short man with a round pockmarked face, shaven head, large watery brown eyes, and a row of huge upper teeth, each one of which was set apart from the others and stained brown with nicotine. When he smiled, and he smiled incessantly when entertaining distinguished guests such as tractor technicians from abroad, these stained teeth stood out like a picket fence across his mouth. But in spite of his uncouth appearance, Gao did not seem to be a vicious man. No doubt he would have been content to spend the rest of his days feasting, sleeping, whoring, stamping official papers, and taking kickbacks from Tianjin merchants.

Unfortunately, the authorities in the provincial capital held Gao responsible for everything that happened in Salaqi, and most of all for maintaining "law and order." The magistrate wanted to keep his job. He was not a local son. He was not even from Suiyuan. He and his staff had come all the way from Taiyuan (some remnant of Yan Xisan's influence) and were a long way from home. If Gao should be demoted, they would all be stranded, As a man of honor, fully aware of his responsibility for relatives, friends, and retainers, the magistrate had no choice but to do whatever was necessary to maintain law and order in his domain.

But this time Gao did not know where to begin. The incident had happened so suddenly and so many people had taken part that he did not know whom to hold responsible. Since he couldn't arrest everyone, he sat tight and called for help. A high-ranking general on Fu Zuoyi's staff, a man born and raised in Salaqi, came all the way west from Kalgan to investigate. At a mass meeting in the town square he rebuked the assembled townspeople and called them thieves and robbers. What kind of patriotism was this, he cried, to steal grain and loot poor merchants at a time when Fu Zuoyi himself had no time for eating and sleeping, so busy was he defending the country from red bandits. The grain had better be returned, every catty

of it.⁶ If it was not, the soldiers would search out every kernel and confiscate it. The guilty would be punished. Let the people not try to take the Law into their own hands. Should they ever be dissatisfied with the way things were going in Salaqi, let them go to the local magistrate, just, kind, brave Mr. Gao, and let him settle their grievances. So spoke the general and departed.

Still Gao took no action. He couldn't find any ringleaders to arrest. But the provincial authorities sixty miles to the east in Guisui knew better. The man responsible for this come could be no other than the wartime guerrilla leader who had, without authorization, broken into Salaqi and given battle to the Japanese garrison. They had been wanting to get him for a long time. Had not Salaqi's own general proclaimed that if he ever caught the guerrilla hero he would kill him?

Suddenly six truckloads of armed men commanded by the provincial chief of police rolled into town from the cast. The ex-guerrilla and several of his friends were quickly arrested. The people of the town were herded into the central square at rifle point and threatened once more. Then the trucks, the armed men, their captain, and his prisoners left as quickly as they had come, raising a great cloud of dust across the hot plain.

⁶ A catty is equal to one half a kilogram, or 1.1 pounds.

Soon after that eight armed men robbed the cash box at the railroad station and got away unharmed. Next the provincial farm was held up in broad daylight by men with automatic rifles. That same week an employee of the county farm was stripped of all his belongings, including his clothes, just outside the town wall.

Magistrate Gao did the only thing he knew how to do. He tightened control over everything and everybody. He doubled the guard that checked passes at the railroad station. He doubled the sentries at the town gate. He conscripted poor townspeople and peasants by the hundreds to repair and pile higher the town's dilapidated walls, and he sent a contingent under armed guard to throw up earthworks around the railroad station. There was no longer any pretense. Magistrate Gao's county was ruled by naked force.

I left Suiyuan with few regrets in July when UNRRA's North China office recalled me and sent me south across the lines to Communist-held southern Hebei, where twenty tractors awaited a technician to help put them to work. They had been dumped into the Liberated Area as the result of an ultimatum from UNRRA's top leaders that some relief supplies must go to the Japanese-devastated Communist areas or all relief to China would cease. The Brethren Service Committee volunteers who had accompanied the tractors all

the way from Shanghai had quit in protest after a quarrel with Liberated Area relief officials and I was sent to salvage something from the debacle. Crossing the battle line, which was the turning point of my life and work in China, was itself unforgettable.

The lone jeep I traveled in churned its way through the endless bog that the monsoon rains had made of the North China plain. The sturdy vehicle, lightly laden with only two people and a few boxes of medical supplies, was covered with layer on layer of mud. As it plowed forward, a spray of silt and water fanned out from each of the four wheels and drummed on the leaves of bean and corn planted tight against the right of way.

It seemed strange that there should be such extensive crops in this place, for there was not a village in sight. The earth was flat as far as the eye could see, and, with the exception of an occasional tree, nothing broke the line of the horizon.

"Never seen it as still as this," said the driver, a stocky White Russian named Igor.

"How come?" I asked.

"No man's land," said Igor. "Too damn quiet!"

He stepped down hard on the accelerator, gripped the wheel with both hands, and concentrated on staying on the high side of the road, which had become nothing but a few cart tracks in the mud. The jeep rushed forward, smashing

through water holes and all but leaving the ground wherever the route crossed one of those slight elevations that marked some ancient boundary between fields.

Suddenly a man appeared on the track in front of us. He was running, flying toward us. He had a gun in his hand and brought it to his shoulder as he ran.

"Watch out . . ."

Igor jammed on the brakes with all his strength. I tried to duck my head below the dash but my knees got in the way.

The gun went off.

There was no impact. The bullet went over our heads. The jeep lurched to a stop and stalled three feet from the sentry, who now stood, gun in hand, ready to pull the trigger again.

We were already surrounded by men with rifles. They seemed to have risen out of the earth. I caught a brief glimpse of weapons and clothing—an old rabbit gun with a five-foot barrel, a German Luger in a wooden holster, homespun black tunics held together with cloth fasteners, white towels on shaven heads, a blue visor cap set off with a badge struck in rough likeness to Mao Zedong, cloth shoes mud-splattered and soaking wet, soil curling upward under the pressure of bare toes.

These were not soldiers, I realized, but militiamen—the famed *minbing* of the Chinese Rev-

olution. They and they alone stood guard at the border.

The man with the visor cap and the Luger examined Igor's papers, smiled, and waved us on.

"Next time don't come so fast," he called as we pulled away.

Ahead of us a narrow walk topped a wideopen, multi-gated sluice. The jeep bounced across the walk and plunged down into the fertile plain beyond. We had entered the Communist-led Liberated Area. It was like a plunge into a dream world, unreal because it was so quiet and so calm. There was not one soldier, one single trench, or any kind of fortification in sight-in contrast to the Nationalist territory we had left behind, where every town and village had been convened into a mud-walled fort. There was no evidence of any military activity in the course of the next thirty miles. Travelers were few and far between: invariably they turned out to be peasants or peddlers lugging carrying-poles, pushing wheelbarrows, or driving mule carts on routine rural errands.

The muddy track, which Igor followed as if by instinct, wound in and out over the small undulations of the plain amid a jungle of growing crops that seemed, under the influence of the monsoon, to have run riot. *Gaoliang* twelve feet high, corn leaves a full handbreadth across, completely blocked all vistas. Only at the edges of the villages, where threshing floors made small clearings of

bare ground, were there any breaks in the double wall of green. Coming suddenly upon such openings, we caught sight of mud-walled dwellings under arbors of trees, women, bare to the waist, spinning cotton in their dooryards, naked children rolling in the gutters. It was as if nothing ever happened, had ever happened, or would ever happen to disturb the pastoral fecundity of this faraway world.

For the next four months I lived and worked in the small county town of Jixian, which lay on the flat belly of the North China plain at a point almost equidistant from the encircling ring of the Kuomintang armies. There, behind a tight blockade, one thousand miles from the nearest parts depot, with tractors running on gasoline worth \$5 a gallon, seventy students plowed 3,000 acres of sod so that local peasants could plant wheat. My job was to teach the students the care, repair, and maintenance techniques required by modern farm machinery. But far more absorbing than this job was my effort to understand the social revolution that was surging all around me.

It did not take me long to realize that the outward medievalism of rural life in South Hebei concealed currents of profound inner change. If the same kind of wooden-wheeled carts that we had seen on the other side of the lines rattled down the same narrow tracks, if the same hardworking peasants urged their slow oxen across the same fields, if the same wide-eyed, earth-smeared children played on the banks of the village pools, and if the same low, mud-walled houses provided the same shelter for man and beast-still, if one looked closely one saw that this sameness was only superficial. There was, for instance, the matter of clothing. Nowhere did I see anyone expensively dressed, and nowhere did I find anyone in rags, a thing unheard of in traditional China. Most of the clothing was made of homespun, handwoven, and hand-dyed cloth. The thread was coarse, the weaving slightly irregular, and the dye fast fading, but the clothes wore well and cost the people only their labor. Since cold fall weather was coming, women were working diligently to prepare the padded suits that would carry their families through the winter. We saw them everywhere, on doorsteps, in courtyards, out under the trees, spinning, weaving, sewing, and fluffing cotton. Some of the clothes they were making were winter uniforms for soldiers. Such self-sufficiency had long since disappeared in Nationalist-held areas.

If the people would be warm that winter, they would also eat well. Observers told me that the land had not been farmed so intensively or vigorously for years. When the summer crops had done poorly the previous year, the peasants had planted wheat on an immense scale. Wheat had always been a gamble—even if one succeeded in getting a crop, the landowners and the government took

most of it—but now that the land belonged to the people, they were willing to take their chances with the weather. Never had so high a proportion of the land been sown to wheat.

And never had so little land lain idle. I noticed only scattered patches of uncultivated land. I asked about one of these, a good-looking five mu^7 plot near the experiment station at Linqing. Mr. Zhang, head of the station, told me it belonged to a landlord whose acreage had been expropriated. He had never had to work before and found field labor intolerable. By himself he was unable to till the land that still was his.

Cotton, too, had been planted more widely than ever before. The revolutionary government had launched a special campaign to interest peasants in growing cotton and, most important, had offered a guaranteed price for it. As a result, half the land in South Hebei seemed to be in cotton.

Such prosperity on the land had stimulated commerce. I had thought that in an area so cut off from the outside world trade would languish. But business in towns like Linqing, Weixian, Handan, and Nangong was brisk. The shops were full of locally made goods and even of goods from across the lines. In all commercial centers, I was told, the number of shops had greatly increased, even doubled, since the days of the Japanese occupa-

⁷ There are six *mu* to the acre.

tion. With land and crops of their own, the peasants had money to spend for the first time in their lives. Merchants and craftsmen found it hard to keep up with demand.

The most striking thing about the towns was the absence of beggars. I cannot say that there were no beggars in the Liberated Areas, for I saw one, a ragged man holding out a bowl on the main street of Wu'an. I also saw three blind men wandering about Linging with a little brass gong. They may have been beggars or they may have had some trade. With these exceptions, beggars seemed to have completely disappeared. It was unbelievable but it was true. The same went for prostitutes: there did not seem to be any. I was never importuned even though I wandered day and night on the main streets and back alleys of the biggest towns in the area. In Nationalist-held Beijing, on the other hand, clerks and room boys in the main hotels doubled as pimps, while little children touted for their sisters on the sidewalks.

Even more astonishing was the lack of crime. You could drive up to a building in a jeep loaded with baggage, jump out, go inside, and talk for three hours. When you came out there would be a large crowd around the jeep looking everything over, but not one item would be missing. I had boxes full of personal belongings scattered about my room at the tractor school in Jixian. The door was never locked and the compound gate was

never shut, yet I never lost anything. This was in sharp contrast to my experience in Nationalist-held areas, where anything not under lock and key disappeared almost instantly.

We had some valuable tools and spare parts to maintain the tractors and it was some time before we managed to set up any kind of tool check system. But throughout the term of the school, even though large kits of tools were taken daily to the fields, we never lost a single item.

Obviously, law and order was no problem in the Liberated Areas and as a reflection of this soldiers were almost never seen; if one did see a soldier, he was usually on leave. Soldiers on leave carried guns, which was also something new. In Kuomintang China, one rarely saw off-duty soldiers with guns; they could not be trusted to bring the weapons back.

But if soldiers were few and far between, militia were everywhere. They could be seen drilling in the early morning on village threshing doors. They went to town with their rifles slung over their shoulders and thin sacks of millet on their backs—tall peasants dressed in blue or black homespun cotton with white towels on their heads. And they could be seen on their way to joint maneuvers, or going to fight in support of regular forces at the front. They moved in great crowds on the highway or rested in the shade by

the road, two or three hundred at a time. Here the whole people was armed.

An armed people was evidently in no need of walls. Everywhere town walls had been or were being torn down. At Linqing the population had used the city wall to mend the river dyke. Townspeople in Jixian took thousands of wall bricks home to repair their houses and rebuild what the Japanese had destroyed. When the plowing season ended, we used bricks from the town wall to block up the tractors. In the Liberated Areas ancient fortifications had become a prime source of construction materials for all purposes. With their walls flattened, the towns became a part of the countryside instead of bastions where nervous landlords stored their wealth.

To one who had just come from setting up a tractor project in Kuomintang-held Suiyuan Province, the difference between China Liberated Area Relief Administration (CLARA) officials and Nationalist relief officials was striking. In Kuomintang areas the top man was top man. His word was law; what he wanted was supposed to be done. (Although if his subordinates didn't like it, they sabotaged it in one way or another.) When he was away, all decisions hung fire. No one would take any responsibility. In the Liberated Areas it was different. Here responsible men leaned over backward to get mutual agreement on policy all the way down the line. There were no one-man

decisions on important issues, but rather committee decisions. Higher committees showed considerable reluctance to force any action on lower ones. They sought rather to explain and persuade.

Time and again I told old Mr. Du, head of CLARA's Linqing office, that for the successful operation of the tractor project this or that had to be done. "Yes," he would say, "I am convinced you are right. But I cannot just order it done. You see, we must talk it over. Everyone must know the reason why this is essential. We must have a meeting about it and convince them." This was a slow way to work. It could be carried to extremes, but in the long run the results were better. People who did not agree with an order were apt to sabotage it, no matter who the boss might be. The Communists, at least those in CLARA, tried to bring everyone in on the making of decisions and to enlist their support in carrying them out.

On the tractor project itself, democracy was the keynote. Staff and students met regularly to discuss problems and presented criticism to those in charge whenever they felt like it. The students decided their daily schedule—their working hours and their study time. They elected their own foremen and their own squad leaders. Having to stand up to the criticism of the majority and abide by their decisions made the work of a foreign advisor more complicated than it might have been, but it also made it very interesting.

Nearly every day, Mr. Zhang, head of the proiect, would come to me with some new complaint or idea that the students had had-they weren't getting an equal chance to drive, the hours in the field were stretching out so that they had no time to study, I was wasting gasoline, and so on. One of the most frequent requests was that more time be spent on lectures and study pertaining to motors and farm machinery. I was an advocate of learning by practice, and also felt that from the UNRRA point of view, we ought to plow as much land as possible before the ground froze, and so resisted classroom work as much as I could. A constant good-natured tug-of-war was waged over this issue, which we finally settled with a compromise: I agreed to give lectures on rainy days. As it turned out, it didn't rain from then on, so I won after all.

When it came to using the plowed land, everyone, from the poorest peasant to the county magistrate, had his say. Some of the farmers, those with stock and tools, were all for parceling out the land to those who could work it. The poor farmers, on the other hand, were for pooling it, village by village, and working it together. A series of meetings was held in the villages to discuss the problem, and village leaders met with sub-district leaders more than once. In the end the poor farmers, who were in the majority, had their way and the land was pooled.

The government men with whom I worked were sincere and hard working. They asked little for themselves. Since I was a foreigner, it was felt that I needed special feeding, and for the first few days the project staff ate good food with me. Then their consciences began to hurt. One morning I came to the table to find it set for only two, the interpreter and myself. The rest had decided that my level of eating was too extravagant for them, too far above the people's diet. And so they banished me to a sumptuous solitude while they ate simpler fare in another part of the compound. I objected strenuously to this isolation and so once again we compromised. We ate simpler food and we ate together.

As a result Jixian became known to UNRRA personnel as the worst place in the area to stop for a meal.

During the last weeks of the summer drought, I had a chance to see how these men reacted to a crisis. By August, the crops in Jixian were beginning to show the effects of months of dry weather. The local people were alarmed. They began to haul water to their fields on their backs in the hope of saving at least a few square yards of crop. Old women and small children were struggling over the hot roads with carrying-poles. We had a big water trailer and four large freight trailers. We also had some empty gasoline drums. We decided to put this equipment into service haul-

ing water. But before anything was done, those in charge first found out who needed help the most, whether there were any widows, or sick, or disabled people who were unable to help themselves. Then we hauled water for them.

It was many times impressed on me how hard the government men worked. One day I went to the sub-district office in search of Mr. Yu, head of Jixian's third sub-district. There was no one there but the clerk. Everyone else was out in the villages on business. We decided we would find Mr. Yu in the countryside and set out after him on a tractor. It turned out to be a wild ride, for the man we sought was on a bicycle and evidently had a lot of people to see that day. Every time we arrived in a village scores of children would rush up to tell us that he had just left for the north, south, east, or west, as the case might be. He was certainly no stranger to them. We finally caught up with him at a small office far out at the county border.

But it was not only the lower civil servants who worked hard, lived simply, and tried to understand the peasants' needs. I met and worked with top government officials of the same caliber. One of these was Mr. Yuan, head of the Civil Affairs Bureau of the Chin-Chi-Lu-Yu [Shanxi-Hebei-Shandong-Henan] Border Region, who was also a CLARA committee man. He was always on the move. He traveled from one end of the region to the other by truck, cart, horse, mule, and even on

foot. He looked into conditions everywhere. One rainy night a group of us were stuck in the mud with six vehicles a few miles west of Linqing. Rain had been falling for fifteen hours and in places the mud on the road was three feet deep. We could neither advance nor retreat and finally had to sleep on a cold *kang*⁸ in a village inn. That very night, Mr. Yuan came through on his horse for an important meeting in Linqing. Two days later he left again.

These men were not by any means completely preoccupied with agricultural problems. The development of transportation and industry was also important, and evidence of this was everywhere. We saw long stretches of road built in a few days. In Hainan a large motor pool and a transport depot were under construction. Strong new bricks were being used. The motor pool workers—mechanics, drivers, and office staff—were building their own brick dormitory. The Handan railroad was already being rebuilt.

The largest project of all was the dyke work on the Yellow River, but this I did not see myself. However, I did see how the government and people met the threat of flood on the Grand Canal with a tremendous mobilization of men and material. In August, as the water in the canal rose, more

⁸ A *kang* is a sleeping platform of mud brick that has flues from the cooking stove running under it to provide heat.

than 100 miles of dyke were built up several feet in a few days. Weak spots were strengthened and brush reinforcements placed at the curves. Night and day watchers manned lookout stations which were located every few hundred yards. At night one could see the tortuous course of the river by the signal lanterns hung at each station. The water rose to within three inches of the top of the emergency embankments, and then receded. By united effort, a major disaster had been averted and the Grand Canal had been held within its banks. It was only later, after Chiang's troops deliberately cut the dykes south of Tangguantun, that Central Hebei was flooded.

Even though mobilizing to take action for their own protection and well being was taken for granted by the people in the Liberated Areas, it was a continual source of surprise to visitors. I was once embarrassed, for instance, when I went to confer with the CLARA men in Linqing about the difficulty of getting our plowed land planted without grain drills, I urged immediate action, only to return to Jixian and find the entire area in question already planted. During the few days that I had been gone, village meetings had been held, seed distributed, plans quickly made, and almost 10,000 mu of land planted. The people simply went out with all the animals, seeders, rollers, and labor they had and put in the crop. One group of fourteen villages planted 5,000 mu in one morning. To be truthful, I believe that by this effort they even surprised themselves.

Mutual aid groups, where as many as 80 to 100 families pooled labor, stock, and tools to do their work in common, were widespread. But the mobilization of the people did not stop there. Even small children were drawn into social effort whenever possible. Not only were they going to school and helping around the farms, but they were organized into brigades to guard roads and catch spies. Sometimes these small militiamen carried spears with red tassels. They took their guard duty very seriously. It was comical to see a six-foot lad, armed with a pistol and carrying a dispatch case, pushing his bicycle vigorously through a city gate only to be stopped by a small boy, not quite three feet high, who would run up behind and ask. "Where are you going?" The big fellow would turn around abruptly, as if to say, "None of your business," but catching sight of the determined little face below, would quickly smile, look resigned, glance at the bystanders as if to say, "What can I do?" and reach deep into his padded clothing for his pass. The boy would unfold it, but since he couldn't read, he would take it with dignity to some older person who would pass it around until somebody was found who could read it. If it sounded all right, he would wave the traveler on

Everything that had been achieved in the Communist areas had been carried through by the united efforts and hard work of the people. The people's brains and muscles were the primary resource. By modern standards, China had not begun to industrialize, but compared to the Liberated Areas, Kuomintang China was an industrial giant with trucks, ships, trains, and planes, nulls, mines, and power stations. Fast mail, telegraph, telephone, and radio linked the major ports and cities. Here a telephone line was a rarity and it was usually patched with small lengths of wire, many of them not more than two or three feet long. The main lines looked like the knotted wires we used to use in America to plant check-rowed corn. In spite of these handicaps, people were in touch with each other throughout the area. Carts and bicycles traveled the highways, newspapers were distributed, mail was delivered, and when something important happened, every villager was informed by megaphone.

Newcomers to the Liberated Areas were often startled, as I was my first evening, by a noise that sounded like a combination of a dying cow and a donkey calling his wife. I found that this was the village announcer shouting through a megaphone from the top of the highest roof. I sometimes doubted the effectiveness of this means of communication, for whenever I heard the noise, I used to ask those nearby what was being said.

They invariably answered that they couldn't make it out. On one occasion, however, it did work, without a doubt. I went to a small village in search of a man named Han Daming, labor hero number two of the Chin-Chi-Lu-Yu [Shanxi-Hebei-Shandong-Henan] Border Region. The village mayor said Han lived a half a *li* away in another small settlement, hereupon he proceeded to the roof of his office with shouting tube in hand and summoned Han with a bull-like bellow. In a few minutes Han appeared.

This Han was typical of the men who had come to the fore during the years of war and revolution. He was forty-three years old. He stood six feet tall and was lean and strong. He talked freely of the trials he and his village had been through, and with pride of the way they had overcome all obstacles. Once he had owned ten mu of very poor land, then the Japanese came, and after them, the flood and the drought. The peasants sold their stock and tools in order to live a few months longer. Then they died by the hundreds. Han refused to die. He tried eating the seeds of weeds and grasses and found some that were nourishing. He organized groups to hunt for these. Those who survived went on to reclaim land under Han's leadership. They pulled plows with yokes around their necks. They collected tons of wild grass for sale as fuel in the city. They fought the Japanese. Then came V-J day, the Civil War, and land

reform. Now Han had over thirty *mu* and a strong bull which he won when he was chosen as a labor hero by his neighbors, by his sub-district, by his county, by his sub-region, and, finally, by a conference of labor heroes of the whole Chin-Chi-Lu-Yu [Shanxi-Hebei-Shandong-Henan] Border Region. Now, though he still lived and worked on his own small farm, he was a local leader and a national hero.

As I talked to Han, the other villagers gathered around eagerly and joined in the discussion. Each had something to add to what Han Daming was saying. When the talk turned to the future, to the land they expected to reclaim, to the mutual aid they were even now organizing, to the coming winter production, to the possibility of a tractor or brigade for their sub-district, they all began to talk at once, as if a spark had suddenly caught fire.

Talking to these people one could not help feeling that the land had a future. After centuries of stagnation, they had suddenly started to move forward, perhaps not all at once, or at the same speed, but this year, life was better than last, next year was already on their minds, and they were thinking about a thousand new ways to increase production, to add to their land, and to work together.

This new mood was the result of the land reform and the new lease on life it had given the majority. The outstanding fact of life here was that the land and wealth derived from land had been divided. Land distribution was a reality and the people were for it. Those who had always worked the land now owned it. Ask anyone on the road and he would tell you: "Our family got a cart, and a three-section house," or "We got a cow, five *mu*, and eight bushels of grain," or "I got two *mu*. I took the rest in cash."

The people were behind land reform and they were willing to fight for their right to own a few mu. On a trip into the mountains, I made my way through 600 young men coming from the opposite direction. They had their tied rolls on their backs and had a few utensils strung on their belts. They walked in groups of two and three, talking and laughing. They were the volunteers from but one sub-district, on their way to their county town to join up. There was not one man in uniform among them, nor any armed escort to herd them on their way. The only weapon in the crowd was an old rabbit gun almost six feet long that one of the recruits was bringing with him as a personal contribution to the firepower of the army. A three-day campaign had brought 4,000 volunteers in that one county alone. Many more were turned down because they were needed at home, their health was poor, or their character unsavory. Only the very best men could get into the revolutionary army in 1947.

And that was something to think about in a land where armies had traditionally been built by tying ropes around defenseless peasants' necks.

The original plowing project in Jixian closed down in the fall of 1947 when UNRRA was dismantled all over the world. Since gasoline could no longer be obtained to power the tractors, all the machinery was hauled away to the mountains and stored in loess caves. Students and staff dispersed to take up a variety of occupations, none connected with agriculture or farm machinery. I myself went to teach English at Northern University, a guerrilla institution of higher learning housed at that time in a small village called Gao Settlement in Lucheng County on the western slope of the Taihang range. While there I had the opportunity to join a land-reform work team as an observer and gather material for the book Fanshen.9 In 1949 fuel for tractors became available and the plowing of wasteland started up once more. I was transferred from my teaching post back to the tractor project and settled down to the long hard task of China's reconstruction—that ten-thousand li10 Long March that Mao Zedong had warned would follow victory in the revolution.

⁹ Fanshen: A Documentary of Revolution in a Chinese Village (New York and London: Monthly Review Press, 1967).

¹⁰ One *li* is about one-third of a mile.—Ed.

The following pages tell the story of the first sixteen months of that Long March on one agricultural front—the training class at South Ridge, the establishment of Jiheng State Farm, the breaking of its wastelands with tractor-powered plows, the sowing of the first crop of wheat with modern drills, and the first mechanized harvest in North China. All of this took place on the eve of and immediately following that turning point in China's history, the smashing of the thirty-year-old rule of the Kuomintang and the establishment of the People's Republic of China.

Chapter 1

Mule Cart to South Ridge

The rubber—tired mule cart that carried me and my belongings from Hengshui station bumped and swayed across the frozen ruts of the South Hebei highway like a dinghy in a choppy sea. Each time the two-wheeled vehicle hit a ridge or a hollow, the heavy shafts pushed the rear mule sharply to one side. He had to shift his weight quickly and take the thrust of the cart on his shoulder or be thrown off balance. The lead mule, out in front of the shafts and hitched only by two stout ropes, strained forward unconcerned about the buffeting his mate was taking.

They were a handsome team, fat, sleek, and well groomed. The pride their driver took in them was evident from the red tassels on their halters and the shining bells that kept up a constant brittle jingling. The driver himself sat half sideways

on the left shaft of the cart, feet dangling toward the road, hands crossed deep inside the sleeves of his padded jacket. His whip, tipped with a long lean thong that could be made to crack like a rifle shot, lay idle in the crook of his arm while he urged the mules on with a high pitched "Brrrrr-r-r-r. brrrrr-r-r," rendered by rolling the rip of his tongue against the roof of his mouth.

Not that the animals needed any urging. Since the load was light and the air brisk, they were in high spirits and kept up a rapid pace that broke, every so often, into a smart trot.

This cart and team spoke well for the tractor training center toward which we were heading. "Whoever is in charge evidently believes in doing things right," I thought to myself.

As we proceeded southward across the flat countryside made barren by winter I chatted with Xue Feng, a staff member from the center who had been sent out to meet me. He was a jovial fellow, about thirty years old, who burst into song from time to time and made puns which my Chinese was too poor to understand. He wore the typical costume of the Border Region cadre—thick-soled cloth shoes, faded gray homespun pants and jacket, heavily padded with cotton, and a padded visor cap. With the earflaps of the cap tied under his chin and the bottoms of his trousers bound rightly to his ankles he looked, from a distance, like a skier at some northern New England resort.

Closer inspection dispelled the illusion. Xue Feng's suit showed the results of many weeks of hard use. It had long since adapted itself to the contours of his body. Deep creases marked the elbows and the knees, and the cloth, since it could not be washed without taking the whole garment apart and removing the cotton, was darker wherever the wear was heavy. From the shine of grease on the sleeves and chest it was clear that he had been working with machinery.

"Are the tractors running already?" I asked.

"No," he said. "We towed them here with mules, all twenty of them. It was quite a job. We didn't even try to get them started. We have been waiting for you for that."

"I hope I can live up to expectations," I said, wondering what condition the machines had fallen into since I had left them in Jixian in the fall of 1947.

Xue Feng spoke enthusiastically of the work ahead. When Jinan, the capital of Shandong, had fallen a few months before, huge stocks of gasoline had been captured. This brought the question of farm mechanization to the fore. Land reform was completed in all the old areas, and mutual aid groups were springing up on a mass scale. Soon the peasants would be calling for new tools and new ways of doing things. State-operated farms were going to be set up in the wastelands to pioneer new methods and apply machinery to

agriculture. This was not to be relief or plowing for resettlement, such as UNRRA had initiated, but the inauguration of mechanized farming on a large scale as a commercial operation. Soon hundreds, perhaps thousands, of tractor drivers would be needed. And so, for a start, seventy students had been gathered together and gasoline was being hauled by mule cart from Jinan. Only an instructor was needed.

"Now that you are here everything is fine." Xue said. "It was quite a job prying you out of that University. If it hadn't been for Chairman Yang, who intervened personally, I don't know if we'd have got you."

"But that's what I stayed on for in the first place," I said. "To do tractor work."

"I know, but try and tell the University that. Never mind, you are here now. Have you any plans for the course you are going to give?"

"No," I answered, taken aback. I had somehow expected to get down to that later.

"That doesn't matter. There'll be plenty of time for that," he assured me. "The main thing is to have somebody around who knows something about tractors. None of us in the Agriculture Department has ever seen one.

"The second day after I arrived they asked me to help make a plan for the gasoline, parts, etc., needed for the training school and the practice plowing that will go with it. Well, if I had studied agriculture or even engineering, I might have had some idea of how to go about it, but me. . . . I was transferred there from the Drama Corps."

"How did they come to put you in the Agriculture Department?"

"I once worked in a factory. That was years ago in Henan after I ran away from my father's home. He was a big landowner."

He laughed and I laughed too. In this New China you could never tell what might happen. There were so many projects opening up, so many thousands of jobs waiting for everyone. Xue's situation was far from unique. There were many people doing jobs they had never imagined doing and often doing them on a larger scale than anyone had ever dreamed of. The result was a vast surge of brains and creativity into all fields.

"What happened to the land we plowed here in '47?" I asked.

"Well, they got a crop of wheat, but it wasn't a very good one, and some of the land has already gone back to waste. There is a lot more land to the northeast that you never plowed. That's where the headquarters of the new farm is to be and that's where our training class is now—right on the edge of Qianqingwa, the Thousand Qing Basin.¹¹

The sun was setting in a clear winter sky as we headed across the Thousand Qing Basin. Fifteen

¹¹ A *qing* is 100 mu. One thousand *qing* equals 16,666 acres.

miles and four hours by cart from Hengshui station. Almost 17,000 acres of land, laid down by the disastrous floods of the early forties, lay as flat as a lake. Large stretches were overgrown with rough witchgrass the peasants had been unable to control with their light plows and hand hoes.

As far as the eye could see everything was the same dull color—the yellow brown of North China earth. The leaves had long since fallen from the trees. Even the shoots of wheat, which might have shown a tinge of green on scattered patches, lay flattened and were covered with a coating of fine yellow dust. On every side the bare earth stretched to the horizon and the villages, whose walls and roofs were made of the same brown stuff as the plain itself, merged indistinguishably into it. The sky seemed enormous.

"What's to prevent new floods from ruining the land the tractors plow?" I asked.

"The dyke project," Xue answered, and his eyes lit up. "During the last two years a lot of work has been done on the river to hold it in its banks. The chances of a flood are much less than ever before. That's why the Ministry chose to start here. This time it is not a matter of a catch crop. They want to build a real farm here. In fact, there is already a section of land cultivated by the Regional Agricultural Bureau and Old Yang Bangzi [Big Yang] is farm manager. He is a former middle peasant

from Nangong, a leader in the guerrilla war who studied two years in Yanan."

Far across the flat, against the sinking sun, we could just make out a high tower on the edge of the basin. "There it is," said Xue Feng. "That's South Ridge settlement. That's the tractor center. That building was erected by a landlord who made a fortune as a contractor in Tianjin. See how it towers over the landscape."

It certainly did seem strange, a building like that here in the middle of nowhere, in the very heart of the plain, miles from the nearest highway and the nearest town. We were two hundred miles south of Beijing and half way between the Yellow Sea and the Taihang mountains. Clustered around the tower, almost invisible in the gathering dusk, were the low brick compounds of the former landlord's relatives, and beyond them the mud huts of the peasants.

When we finally arrived it was almost dark. In the afterglow of the sunset we could see that the building was only a skeleton. The four-story structure had been stripped of its flooring and joists, and now towered above the village an empty shell, its gaping windows still ironically barred. The tower stood as a gutted monument to a China that was already gone, even if its scarred remains had not yet been cleared away.

Xue Feng pounded on a large wooden gate. As it swung open on a creaking hinge, we saw oil lamps lighting up the courtyard inside. A crowd of young people swept out into the street, picked up our belongings, and surged with us back through the opening. Eager hands shook mine. Weather-stained faces broke into laughter.

"Han Jiaoshi [Teacher Han] has come. Han Jiaoshi has come." Soon the whole area was filled with people, all laughing and talking at once.

A little man in an outsize padded suit took me by the arm.

"How are you?" he asked in strongly accented English, and everybody laughed with delight at the effort. Then he introduced himself.

"I am Li Zhi, director of the training school. We welcome your coming. We have been waiting impatiently for you for a long time. Welcome."

"Welcome," said the others. "Welcome to South Ridge."

Chapter 2

"I've Never Seen a Freight Train"

Even in broad daylight South Ridge lay lost and desolate in the vast expanse of earth and sky that stretched out to the horizon on every side. This no one seemed to mind, however.

Long before sunrise the population was up and stirring. Those who were not awakened by the crowing of the village cocks were roused by the clear notes of Wang's bugle. Wang, a student just out of the army, had a powerful pair of lungs and a keen sense of time.

The notes of the bugle had hardly died away when the cold stillness was again shattered by the full-throated singing of the students, followed by the steady one-two-three-four of the morning exercises, which they did in unison. This sound mingled with the cracking of the peasants' mule

whips and the rumble of their iron-tired carts as they rocked down the rutted lane toward the basin. From the distance came the laughter of village women as they coaxed their blinking donkeys out of their warm stalls and set them to work grinding corn at the stone mills beside the street. In the half light, men and boys were already at work on the flat, scraping dirt into mounds which would later be processed for salt.

By the time I had risen and dressed, the students had already tidied their quarters, swept the courtyards clean, washed their hands and faces, brushed their teeth and hair, and settled down in small groups to a quiet half hour of newspaper reading.

At breakfast, which was eaten in an open courtyard around a huge cauldron of steaming millet, meetings, classes, and work details were announced, and before I had time to finish one bowl, everyone had disappeared to begin the day's work.

As I rushed to get to class on time I met the village children, slates in hand, running gaily if somewhat noisily off to the little adobe structure on the edge of the embankment that served as a school. The children were fortunate to have a building to meet in. There was no roof in South Ridge large enough to cover the tractor classes. A crumbling wagon-shed to break the northwest wind, a blackboard propped on an old cart, a tractor rolled up

beside it, some logs laid on the ground for seats that was the lecture hall of the Tractor Training Class set up by the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry of the North China People's Government in the winter of the year 1949. Students who couldn't find a place on the logs brought bricks with them and sat huddled in groups wherever the wind blew less fiercely. On days when the sun shone brightly and the air was still, the outdoor classroom was a pleasant place, but on other days it took all the fortitude the students possessed to stay there. The wind, blowing down on us right out of the Mongolian steppe, swept over the low roof of the shed and set the straw and chaff in the yard whirling in the air. The dust blew into the students' eyes and settled in a thin yellow film on the pages of their notebooks. It was so cold that the ink froze in the inkwells and fountain pens. The students' hands got so numb that they could not write, and every few minutes they had to stop to blow on their fingers. Some wore a mitten on one hand and wrote with the other.

Every half hour, Ding Wenqing, the class leader, blew on his whistle and they all stood up, jumped up and down to bring the feeling back into their numb toes, and beat their bodies with their arms to get the circulation going. The cooks brought a kettle of boiling water. The students sipped it as hot as they could stand it, and then returned to

their tasks while the warmth spread momentarily outward toward their limbs.

At such times I used to watch their faces for any sign of discouragement. I never saw any, nor did I ever hear any grumbling. When the wind blew, the young men and women thawed out their pens, brushed the dirt from their paper, and went on taking notes as if nothing had happened.

Of course, not all of them could take notes. At least a quarter of the class was illiterate, or at least not literate enough to write down the many characters needed to transcribe a lecture. Some of the more advanced complained. They asked for a division of the class, with courses matched to various educational levels. But Director Li would not hear of it. He was pleased with the variety of the students.

"Knowledge is not all contained between the covers of books," he said. "Some who can't read nevertheless know a lot about machines, and others have raised crops. They can all help each other. That's the way it should be."

Sun Xiaogong, a student from Beijing who had come across the lines into the Liberated Areas only a few weeks before, acted as interpreter. I explained each concept carefully to Sun in English. Once he understood the English, he then tried to understand what I was talking about. Only then was he able to explain it to the students in Chinese. This task was complicated by the fact that

Sun had studied social, not mechanical, science, and everything from a wrench to a cotter pin was new to him. He knew neither the English nor the Chinese terms for the parts or their functions. The few Chinese terms that he did know turned out to be colloquial.

We soon discovered that there was no common mechanical language in China. The names for parts and tools were as varied as the regions where men drove trucks. What they called a piston depended on whom they had learned from. The Northeasterners (Manchurians) had learned their trucking from the Japanese, who in turn had learned from the Americans. For them, the parts had meaningless English names like "pea-stone" for piston, "shi lin da" for cylinder, and "ku lan ke sha fa ta" for crankshaft.

This would have made things very easy for me, once I got the hang of it, if mechanics from other regions had had the same system. But they didn't. The North Chinese, being more original, made up names of their own, most of them very apt and descriptive. We could have used these except for the fact that the Chinese in the Yangtze Valley, where trucking and the machine industry was more highly developed than elsewhere, used a different set of names.

What we finally called the parts depended on what the "technical group" decided. The technical group was made up of five or six students who had formerly driven trucks, worked in repair shops, or handled machinery of some kind. If they couldn't agree on what to call something, Sun chose the word that sounded best to him. So piston ended up as *goubei* (plunger), cylinder as *qikang* (gas chamber), and crankshaft as *wanzhou* (bent shaft).

Fortunately, the course did not depend on lectures for its substance. The core of our activity centered on tearing down tractors part by part to learn their names and functions. A lot more time was spent unbolting things, removing head and pan, and watching the pistons move up and down, than in talking in front of the blackboard. It was not long before Sun became an enthusiastic mechanic and lectured brilliantly to the class on things he had learned an hour or two before.

The technical group played an important role. They helped prepare material, put on demonstrations, and took turns reaching the things they knew. Had I not been there, there would still have been a course based on the collective experience of these workers.

The mechanical side of things came easily to the students: they could see how the parts fit together and how they moved. But to explain something like electricity was a different matter. I never was able to make it clear, perhaps because it had never been really clear to me. We spoke of

electricity by analogy, but none of the analogies could be extended too far.

One day in class one of the technical group asked me. "Which end of the battery does the spark glow out of?"

"It doesn't flow from either end," I said, "It moves simultaneously through the whole circuit at once."

"But there is a spark wire and a ground wire," he said.

"That's just for convenience sake. We call part of the circuit the ground and part of it alive. It could just as easily be the other way around."

"But when we hold the spark wire near the block we can see the current jump," he said.

"Which way does it jump?"

"From the wire to the block."

"You can see that?"

"Sure."

"But look," I said, "that's impossible. The spark is instantaneous. It exists at both ends and the middle at the same time."

"But you said it flowed."

"It does and it doesn't. It is not like water flowing through a pipe. It's like the shock that goes through a train when it starts up. Each car hits the next—bang, bang, bang, and the energy passes down the line."

The class looked puzzled.

"Haven't you noticed how a freight train starts up?" I asked.

There was an awkward silence. I overheard a young woman turn to the student on the log next to her and say: "I've never seen a freight train."

The idea behind an induction coil, the concept of magnetic lines of force cutting across wires, or of wires cutting across magnetic lines of force, was even harder for them to grasp.

Since we had no magnet I took an iron rod, wrapped it with wire, and connected the ends to the poles of a battery. To the delight of the class this rod picked up lumps of iron and made iron filings bristle on a piece of paper. But before even one had had a chance to see and understand what was happening, the wire got so hot it burned my hands. I dropped the bar. When we hooked it up again the battery, which would have to be taken all the way to Shijiazhuang by train for recharging, had lost its juice.

Partial understanding never satisfied the students. They wanted to know every last detail. They wanted to take everything apart, even things that could not easily be put together again, like the coil. It was not enough to give them a general idea of how a carburetor functioned. They wanted to know what each hole was for, why this one was larger than that, exactly where the air went in when the engine was idling, and where it went in when it was racing.

"What is this hole for?" they asked.

"That is the air intake."

"But the little one?"

"That is also for air."

"Why is it so small?"

That had me stumped.

"The engineers have worked it out experimentally, they find that that size works best," I said, trying to make the best of it.

"But that's no answer," said the students. "Why does it work best? What would happen if it were larger?"

"The truth of the matter is, I don't know," I said and we all laughed.

Such questions were saved for the technical group. We used to meet until after midnight trying to find a satisfactory explanation to all the questions. Bit by bit, without instruction books or texts of any kind, we worked out the proper function of every hole and passage in the carburetor, every wire and connection in the electrical system, and every spring and lever in the hydraulic pump that lifted the plow. Everything was studied and argued out.

The hydraulic pump gave us no end of trouble. We took it apart, studied it for several days, and learned everything except what made it stop when the plow reached the top. For that there were many different theories, not one of which made sense. It was only many days later that one

of the students, working on a jammed pump in the field, found the answer.

I would have been ashamed of my ignorance had it not been a stimulant to searching study on the part of the students. Instead of telling them everything, I had to lead them to discover the tractor's secrets. Thus the lessons were really learned instead of memorized and forgotten.

In the old society it would have been considered a terrible loss of face for the teacher not to know something. But to Director Li and the students "face" was a stupid hangover from the past. One of the things they liked about me was that I frankly told them when I was stumped.

"Han Jiaoshi does not care about 'face," they said. "When he doesn't know something he says so."

The common search for knowledge put us all in the same boat and made our work collective. I was not *gaogao zaishang* (high high on top) but down on the ground with the rest.

Collective study was taken for granted. It had a long tradition in the Liberated Areas and was rooted in the common need of the people to find ways out of a desperate situation. During the terror launched by the Japanese and continued by the dispossessed landlords' "Home Return Corps," prima donnas and individual heroes were of little use. Nothing less than the combined brains and energies of the whole community could protect them. The tunnels dug by the peasants of Central

Hebei that connected the villages underground and made resistance on the flat land possible, could never have been built without the labor and ingenuity of millions working together. And so there had grown up the habit of consultation and the pooling of all experience, ideas, and energy.

In his weekly talks to the tractor students, Director Li made this very concrete.

"What is the use of training a few smart drivers if the rest of us lag behind?" he asked. "Can three or four operate a ten-thousand-acre farm? What is the use of one man taking good care of his machine if the next man to go on shift hasn't learned his lesson well and ruins it? We must develop a team. Everyone must be helped to become competent."

Those who could take notes helped those who could not. Those who could draw made diagrams for those who found it difficult. Those who had some experience with machines worked patiently with those who had none.

In the evening I used to go from compound to compound to help the students with their study. They lived in several dilapidated courtyards that had once been occupied by a landlord's in-laws, The dirt floors had been swept clean, new paper pasted on the window lattice, and a thick mat of straw laid down for bedding. In some of the rooms there were old brick sleeping platforms that could be heated in winter, but for the most

part the students had to sleep on the floor. They were packed in ten or twelve to a room. Each person's quilt was rolled up against the wall. Towels, toothbrushes, and extra clothing hung on nails. Few had more than the clothes on their backs to worry about, so the rooms were not cluttered.

After dark I always found the students clustered around an oil lamp in groups of two. three, or four, heads together, notebooks on their knees, vigorously discussing, They read aloud from their notes and tested each other. "What are the four cycles?" "Why must the spark be advanced?" "Why does the piston have three rings?" And each time someone opened his mouth his breath condensed in the cold air.

Often groups came to me for permission to borrow carburetors, distributors, or oil pumps from the parts department. They brought the parts back to their quarters and took turns explaining them to each other. "Now you see," said one, "this is the carburetor, this is what mixes the gas with the air."

"What do you want to mix air with it for?" asked another.

"Without air it won't explode, but it has to be just the right amount. The air comes in here . . ."

"What makes it come in? Why should it want to come in at all?"

"Because the piston goes down and that makes a vacuum. It is sucked in . . . "

And so they continued until the bugle sounded for sleep.

Chapter 3

Wasteland Pioneers

The students came from every class and background and from all over North China.

Smallest and most striking of the three women in the school was a mountain girl, Ji Fengying. Not yet twenty, she had a lovely oval face and a wide-eyed look of wonder. She wore a peasant jacket with cloth fastenings in place of buttons, and a white towel on her head after the manner of her home village.

When her parents had died of starvation, she had been adopted by a family only slightly better off who reared her as the intended bride of their son. She had suffered from hunger and exhaustion during the burn-all, loot-all, kill-all campaigns of the Japanese in Wutai and was subject to fainting spells and violent headaches. She wrote slowly and laboriously and persisted in studying long

after the others had gone to sleep. Everyone worried lest her health give way completely, and she most of all, for she had set her heart on becoming a tractor expert.

The most efficient and capable of the girls was Li Zhenrong, a middle peasant's daughter. She wore her hair straight and pulled her cadres' visor cap down low over her forehead. Her nose was rather large and sharp for a Chinese and her mouth thin and short. Strongly built and full of energy, she naturally took the lead in everything, helped organize a branch of the Youth Corps among the students, and kept exemplary notes from which the others in her study group gained much help. She had been to high school and had been trained as a teacher, so she read and wrote fluently. Her shortcoming was a certain lack of warmth and a certain mechanical approach to problems. She always wanted to know how many bolts there were on the part and how many on the head. She kept a careful record of these facts, though as far as I could see, it served no purpose.

He Jiying, a Zhengding merchant's child, was a lively, healthy, fun-loving girl, strong, broad of face, and solid of limb. She too had studied to be a teacher. She knew her characters and her figures and was quick to catch on to anything new. She was the best of the three at working with her hands.

Among the boys there were all sorts: intellectuals from Beijing universities, workers and craftsmen from Shijiazhuang, the biggest city in the Liberated Areas at that time, peasants both rich and poor, landlords' sons, demobilized soldiers, and young government workers. About half of them were chosen through publicly announced examinations. The other half were sent by various regional agricultural departments, army units, schools, and local governments.

A natural leader among them was Guo Huxian, former landless peasant from the Taihang mountains. At the age of fifteen he led the militia of his village against the Japanese and killed more than a dozen of the enemy using homemade stone mines. Frail and soft spoken, Guo weighed only a little over 100 pounds. Not yet twenty-two, he had the maturity and restraint of a man of forty. People sought him out and trusted him because he looked at problems dispassionately. He seemed to have no personal vanity, make no personal calculations, harbor no personal feelings to intrude into and distort an objective judgment. He had completely identified his own life with the cause of New China and asked nothing more than to serve where he was needed.

Quite different, and yet also a leader, was Zhang Ming, a proud and brilliant young schoolteacher from a Wutai mountain town. As a son of well-to-do parents he had had many advantages and a good education. He was passionately interested in science, always wanted to go deeper into things than anyone else, and dreamed of being an engineer—a great engineer. That was the difference between Zhang and Guo. Zhang had personal ambitions that sometimes created a conflict. He was impatient with those who were not as quick and bright as himself.

Ding Wenqing, elected leader of the student brigade, was a peasant and demobilized soldier. His character was as clear and open as the sky and his heart full of the joy of life. He was not given to subtle thought, but took his duties as brigade leader seriously and worked hard at anything he was asked to do. Like Guo, he was deeply devoted to the cause of New China, but he did not understand as well what that meant. His outlook on life was simple, yet he had a peasant's shrewdness where material values were concerned. No one ever got the better of him in a commercial bargain, and that was a good thing for the tractor work, for many deals with merchants had to be negotiated.

The class also included Liu Gaizhang, who stood six feet four in his cloth shoes but insisted that in his home village he was short. Lao Bao, who was always angry at something; Wei, a former medical orderly in the Eighth Route Army, who made everyone laugh at his assorted mimicry, as he applied first aid to cuts and bruises; Li,

an intellectual who was always vaguely dissatisfied; and Ma Lianxiang, who sacrificed his chance to study in order to take over the direction of the kitchen so that everyone could eat as well as the meager budget allowed.

Taken together they reflected a fair cross-section of North China youth, neither better nor worse than the average, though perhaps, on the whole, a little more adventurous. They came to study tractors for a variety of reasons: some because they had been sent by their home organizations, others because they were bored with what they were doing, still others because they believed wholeheartedly in the power of machines to transform the society in which they had grown up.

Tang Yuming came because he thought tractoring would lead to a truck driving job and hence a chance to travel and see city life. Zhang Ming came because he saw it as an opening to an engineering career. Guo Huxian was sent by the Agricultural Department of the Taihang Mountain Region because he had a vision of what mechanization could do in the mountains. Li, the intellectual, came because the whole setup sounded romantic.

There was no doubt that romance surrounded the very idea of tractoring. Tractors had become a symbol of all that was new and bright in the countryside. The "iron ox" would draw in its wake a whole new world. A shimmering aura of prestige and progress enveloped mechanized farming and drew young people as a magnet draws filings. In China there was no occupation, except flying, which carried with it such public interest.

Those who came to learn found out, of course, that tractoring was not all romance, that in fact it consisted mainly of hard, monotonous, greasy work. Nevertheless, none of them quit. Of the seventy who started out that year, not one left for home or asked for a transfer to less arduous work. And this was due, I think, to the common background shared by them all.

What they had in common was the experience of the last decade, the experience of China's war of resistance and the land revolution that followed it. They had all been through an invasion as ruthless and terrible as any country had ever suffered, and they had seen the peace, so bitterly won after eight long years, smashed by another invasion. This second invasion, into the Liberated Areas they had all helped to build, was attempted by China's traditional gentry, led by Chiang Kaishek and armed and financed by the United States. The students knew that their country stood at a crossroads in history, that smashing this invasion could end. once and for all. the misery of feudalism and foreign domination. If the invasion succeeded they would return to the past.

Not one of them held any brief for the past. In their minds it stood for greed, graft, and corruption, debt, rent, and backbreaking toil; buyand-sell marriages, concubinage, and infanticide, national humiliation and betrayal. Those who came of poor peasant stock hated the past. Even those who, as landlords' sons had benefited under the old system, were sick of it because of the humiliation it had brought on China. They passionately desired something new.

It was Director Li's task to deepen this passion and to direct it into a disciplined, self-conscious effort to build a new type of agriculture. If the program was to be a success, he had to weld this multiple assortment of individuals into a strong collective force, into a battle-seasoned team capable of conquering all natural obstacles and of resisting all the corrupt influence of the old society that still surrounded them and from which they had all sprung.

"Our task," Director Li told the students, "is to build islands of socialism in a vast sea of individual farming. We are the ones who will have to show the way to the whole country. It will be no easy job and it will not be accomplished in one year, or two years, or ten years. Chairman Mao has told us that nationwide victory for our armies is but the first step in a ten-thousand-*li* Long March to build a new China. We are pioneers on that march."

Chapter 4

Director Li

It soon became clear that Director Li was the dynamo around whom life at the school centered.

In appearance he was not particularly impressive. A Sichuanese of medium height, lean, dark, and quick in his movements, he contrasted rather sharply with the more stolid, muscular peasants of the North China plain, who made up the majority of the student body. Director Li's clothes, especially his padded winter garments, were too big for him. He seemed to walk about inside his enormous pants. The cuffs of those pants had to be rolled up to keep from dragging on the ground and the baggy seat always seemed to float halfway to his knees. On his feet he usually wore the half-leather, half-canvas shoes peculiar to the Liberation Army of those days, and these shoes, like the rest of his clothes, appeared to be too big. Since

both left and right were made from the same pattern, they lent a rather comic touch to the whole outfit. There was much about Director Li's appearance that reminded one of Charlie Chaplin.

Out of the jacket, which padded out Li's shoulders and hid his slender build, protruded a rather scrawny neck attached to an alert head, made to seem small by a bulky padded cap. From under the cap a shock of long black hair stuck out. When this fell over his face he removed the cap, flung the offending lock back over his head, and smoothed it into place with his right hand.

Director Li had a warm friendly smile that revealed very prominent upper teeth and a slight twist to the muscles of his face. This caused one corner of his mouth to rise higher than the other. But the two things that one noticed more than anything else were his large, bright, active eyes, and his graceful, slender hands. Li used his hands as he talked and the tendons stood out sharply on their backs, his eyes revealed an intelligence that was to impress me deeply as time went on, while his hands suggested a manual skill that few Chinese intellectuals possessed.

Director Li was one of those people, rare in old China but springing up in increasing numbers in the new: an intellectual with his feet on the ground. The anti-Japanese war and the revolution against feudal control and domination brought the best of China's educated young men and women into close contact with the people, where, faced with problems of life and death—famine, guerrilla warfare, the scorched-earth campaigns of the Japanese, and the murderous rampaging of the Home Return Corps of the landlords—they learned to adapt their academic training to the rock bottom activity of organizing peasants to fight for their very existence.

Most of these young people eventually became Communists. They gave up their homes, their land, their wealth, sometimes even their fiancées or wives, and went into the mountains to devote their lives—to sacrifice them, if need be—for a New China. In doing this they found a life immeasurably richer, finer, and warmer in human relationships than any they had left behind. Their new existence was based on companionship and unselfish work together with millions of ordinary people. In the course of this work they themselves were transformed until they retained hardly any trace of the selfishness, vanity, frustration, and sophisticated ennui that had characterized the lives of so many educated Chinese in the past.

Director Li's family was a bankrupt branch of one of the wealthy Sichuan salt-producing dynasties. He was born and grew up among the salt fields where for centuries, deep wells dug with ingenious bamboo bows had tapped pools of salt water many thousands of feet under the earth. Long before the West invented deep drilling, the Chinese had developed techniques for cutting through rock to almost any depth desired. The Li family had been in the business for generations.

Li was a precocious but rebellious youth. When he reached high school he was expelled from one center after another for political activity among the students. At that time he did not have any fixed views: he only knew that something was basically wrong with China. For a time he and a group of friends became convinced that cooperative farm communities would save the peasants, so they all transferred to an agricultural school to study bees, vegetable gardening, sheep, and dairy cattle. After a year Li decided that without revolution, agricultural cooperation was nothing but a Utopian dream and transferred somewhere else. However, he never forgot the smattering of technical knowledge he had picked up during that period.

"You see, all those different things I did in my youth—they have not been wasted. Sooner or later the time comes when what you know is needed."

Very early he became interested in mechanical devices. When bicycles made their appearance in that out of the way region, he was the first to own one. After he learned to ride he taught the hired help around the school, the floor sweepers, water carriers, cooks, and their apprentices. In time he built up a big following among them.

"I told them never mind if anything breaks, just come and tell me, and we'll take it apart and fix it ourselves, and we'll learn just that much more about it. So we all became skilled bicycle repair men and skilled riders too. I was never stingy with that bike, I didn't keep it to myself, and the result was that the others were very responsible with it. They took very good care of it.

"As it happened, that bicycle group turned out to be very useful to the student movement. Just at that time the students in Sichuan were very active. The Japanese were moving into North China after taking over the whole of Manchuria. and the Kuomintang was reacting by arresting those Chinese who protested. We students got very angry and staged a number of mass strikes to force the government into taking a stand in defense of the nation.

"Well, of course the strikes were suppressed. The governor sent troops to guard the gates of the schools and universities and tried to prevent the students from contacting each other. But we managed to keep in touch just the same. A lot of people wondered how we did it.

"The secret was my bicycle group. No one suspected that those boys had any connection with us. They came and went at will and so we were able to send messages anywhere we wanted to."

Director Li went to almost as many colleges as he did high schools and gradually his politi-

cal views became clearer. He began to see that it was the feudal land system itself and the foreign oppressors who propped up that system that made life so terrible for the people. He began to read books on Marxism and eventually joined the Communist Party in order to work for the liberation of his country and the end of feudal backwardness.

Then began the years of hard, dangerous organizing work among the people of his native province. He worked for a time among the salt workers of his home county. Then he was employed as a clerk in the postal service truck repair depot in Chongqing. Still later he went into the mountains of western Sichuan to work among the Tibetan mountaineers. While there he worked in the branch office of a bank. When things got hot for him, when the authorities were about to investigate who was behind the progressive activity in the area, he moved on, only to start all over again in some other place. In spite of this uncertain life, he found time to marry a young student, Xiao (little) Fan.

"Several things helped me a lot," he said. "One was my name, a very distinguished one around home. The other was my position in the Gelaohui. That was the strongest secret society in West China. My uncle had been a leading man in it and I inherited his title. Of course, I had to be clever enough to hold on to it. But a position like that

meant great power. I commanded the services of hundreds of men. The society was really a front for carrying on the intrigues of the reactionary landlords, but it had revolutionary origins in the revolt against the Manzu conquest and a lot of its members were poor workmen, gang-ridden stevedores, carters, and boatmen from the river ports. The organization was especially strong among the boatmen and since the rivers are the main arteries of our province that meant a lot to me.

"We had signs and signals to show who was a member and what rank he held. All I had to do was walk into a waterfront eating stand, put my chopsticks down in a certain way, and I was immediately in touch with men who could get me a boat to any place I wanted to go."

In 1945 after the Japanese surrender, the Kuomintang and the Communists held talks in Chongqing. To reinforce Zhou Enlai's Chongqing staff, a number of Sichuan province Communist Party members were called from the underground. Li Zhi, who by that time was already the father of a daughter, was one of these.

When the talks failed, the underground members could not go back where they had come from. They would have been arrested, perhaps shot. Chiang Kai-shek did, however, guarantee them safe conduct through the lines to the Yanan Border Region. They traveled with their families north to Yanan by truck, never sure whether

the notorious General Hu Zongnan, who commanded the blockade of the Yanan region, would honor the safe conduct or not.

Director Li stayed on near Yanan until Hu Zongnan invaded in the spring of 1947. Then he and his family started on the long trek through North Shaanxi that lasted until the 300,000-man Kuomintang army of the Northwest was finally routed and destroyed twelve months later. The Li family baby girl traveled in a basket hung on one side of a donkey, while all the Li family household possessions balanced her in a similar basket hung on the other side. The travelers stopped at countless out of the way mountain hamlets, worked for a while, and then moved on, never more than a few miles ahead of the invading troops.

Near the city of Suide, Li worked for a while as finance officer for a mountain county. He left through the north gate with the county funds and records packed on mules when enemy patrols entered the town from the south. The next day he received an order to join a guerrilla detachment that was harassing the Kuomintang regulars as they advanced. He had to leave his wife and child behind. Xiao Fan was pregnant again and due to give birth within a few days. Since the area was almost sure to be occupied by the enemy, the only thing to do was to disguise her in peasant clothes and leave her with some local family in hopes that

no one would discover that she was a cadre's wife from far away.

With a heavy heart Li rode off to his first battle.

"I hated to leave them behind," Director Li said, "but I thought the best way to protect her was to put up an active fight. Then the enemy soldiers wouldn't have time to go snooping in all the caves.

"I didn't know what I would do when I got to the unit. I had never handled a gun before in my life. Our fifteen men had no sooner settled on a big knoll overlooking a bend in the road than we saw enemy patrols advancing. They peered right and left as if they expected every stone to explode. There were at least one hundred of them. We let them pass and sent word back to the regulars. A few hours later when our own troops attacked, we went in to the enemy's flank and harassed them as they ran. That was the beginning of Hu Zongnan's big retreat. In a few days the whole area was cleaned out and our army went on to liberate the whole Northwest.

"On the night of the big battle I got a message from my wife. The enemy troops had gone right past the door but no one had searched the house. She was safe and we had another daughter.

"That was the beginning and end of my military career. Xiao Fan has never forgiven me for going off that day and leaving her at the mercy of the enemy. But there was a principle involved. Where would we be if everyone looked first after

his private affairs and tried to play safe alone? The only way is to stick together, work together, and act in a disciplined way. Only because we all went out and fought were we able to drive those bandits back and bring safety to everyone."

From North Shaanxi, Li and his family came cast to join the land-reform work in the Chin-Cha-Chi [Shanxi-Inner Mongolia-Hebei] region west of Beijing. This time the donkey carried a baby in each basket and the household goods had to be piled between. Li served as secretary to a land-reform team that was in charge of a whole county. When that job was finished he went to Shijiazhuang to await a new assignment. While there he read in the newspapers about the tractor school. He applied and was accepted.

"But," he said, "I applied to come here as a student. Instead they made me the director. What a break. I wanted to join the classes and learn all about machinery. And now I haven't time."

Whenever he had a spare minute, however, Director Li came to class and sometimes in the evenings when we both had nothing to do, he asked me to explain to him the parts that he had missed. He had a flair for mechanical things and, like the students, was keenly interested in every detail. He remembered a great deal about the postal service repair shop he had worked in in Sichuan years before and was always comparing notes.

When it came time to put the tractors in working order I found that we had no distilled water to use in the batteries. As there were no stills in the vicinity. I thought we would have to send to Shijiazhuang for one. Director Li would not hear of it. "I'll make one myself," he said. He spent one evening with paper and pencil sketching our plans. The next day he walked into town and came back a few hours later with a little still set up and ready to go.

"Where did you get that?" I asked, both surprised and happy.

"The local tinsmith and I put our heads together and invented it," he said. He was very pleased with himself. He called the students together and showed them how the still was made so that they could make one themselves in the future.

That was typical of Director Li. To him the whole of life was education. There were lessons to be learned from almost everything that happened if only one took advantage of it.

I have never met anybody who enjoyed young people more than Director Li, or who helped to develop in them more zest for life, fun, work, and study. One reason was that he himself enjoyed living so intensely. Every task was for him an adventure to be savored to the full and shared with everyone. Whether it was designing a still, planning a course, analyzing current affairs, or helping the cook to make better meals, Director Li's

own enthusiasm was so infectious that he carried everyone else along with him.

He loved to be in the thick of whatever was going on. Whenever possible he took part in the late afternoon basketball games that were played on the threshing floor behind the tractor shed. In spite of his small size he proved to be no slight opponent.

Quick, clever, and tireless, he was always waiting where nobody expected him. Between exhausting meetings, he used to relax with a hand of poker. This gave him a chance to meet and talk with students in circumstances that had nothing to do with work. When dancing came to the countryside he was one of the first to learn. As with most of the young people, it was a matter of indifference to him whether he danced with a man or a woman What he enjoyed was the music, the crowd, and the social atmosphere.

It did not take him long to promote an orchestra of Chinese instruments, an opera group, and a drama corps at South Ridge He believed in hard work but he did not believe that life should be all labor and no fun. This endeared him to young people immediately.

Director La was also a good listener. He believed that everyone had something to contribute, something valuable to say. When problems came up for discussion, he was always the last to speak. He presented the issues, then urged every-

one to talk them over. Sometimes the group come to a conclusion without his saying a word. If it was a good one he accepted it and put it into practice. If the discussion got entangled and came to an impasse he always came up with a fresh approach, a new insight that cut through the difficulty and enabled the group to go on and solve the problem. He was able to do this because he concentrated on the matter, listened intently while others were talking, and studied what they said with an open mind.

Another thing that impressed me about Director Li was his complete lack of concern for himself. He was not a healthy man. He had piles and a chronic liver infection, but he never asked for any privileges, any special treatment, any special food. He lived off the same subsistence allowance as everyone else—food, clothes, and fifty cents a month spending money—and worried only that others were not getting enough. He was always asking the cook to make a plate of eggs for me. "Lao Han is not used to our food," he would say. "And besides, he has a big body and needs extra nourishment." But he would never eat any of the eggs himself.

When I arrived at South Ridge he offered me my choice of rooms. I chose the west side of the farm courtyard. This was the room with the biggest window, the most sunlight, and the driest floor. Most of the dwellings were low and damp, with only the tamped earth of the plain underfoot. But the west room was built about three feet above the ground and paved with large square bricks. It turned out that he himself was living there. He moved out without the slightest sign of annoyance when he might easily have said: "That's mine."

During the winter of 1949 Li's wife was at the seashore sick, with another baby due. By that time he had four daughters, all of whom were in nursery schools run for the children of government cadres. He did not regard the separation from his wife and family as an imposition. There was work for him to do in South Ridge. "The government takes excellent care of my little girls," he said. "I don't think I should be more concerned for their welfare than for the welfare of other people's children. We are working for all children so that they can grow up in a new world that will belong to all of them."

Chapter 5

Lao Hei Gets Married

ne of the students who could not read or write his name but nevertheless had a lot to teach the others was Lao Hei, a mechanic from Shijiazhuang. Handsome, strong, and straightforward, he was always breaking things and getting into trouble because of his enthusiasm. Lao Hei usually said exactly what came into his mind. This made the others laugh at him, but he didn't mind. He laughed right along with them. His chief worry was his inability to read. The characters he studied one day he forgot the next. This disturbed his natural self-confidence and brought creases to his broad forehead. Another problem that perplexed him was marriage. When he arrived at the school he was already twenty and had no prospect of a wife.

Lao Hei soon made a name for himself. Wherever anything had to be taken apart or put together, blocked up or knocked down, he was always on hand to do it. He had an athletic build and great physical strength. Having made such slow progress in reading and writing he was happy to be able to excel in muscular feats. His grin was always broadest when he had just moved something that everyone else said was too heavy for anybody to lift. "Call Lao Hei, Lao Hei can do it" became a common saving around South Ridge.

Lao Hei became very attached to me. I helped him with technical problems and he helped me prepare class material. One day as we dismantled one of the tractors, I asked him how he had happened to become a mechanic. He seemed much closer in temperament and habits to a typical peasant than to any of the mechanics I had met before. As a group they tended to be sophisticated and opportunistic.

"My father died when I was very young." he told me. "My mother scraped along for a few years, but when times got tough there was nothing to eat in the house. I was ten years old, but I was big for my age, so, with the help of a family friend I apprenticed myself to a Japanese truck driver."

"Did he teach you much?"

"He taught me as little as he could. He kept me to do the dirty work. When he said, 'Get me the three-quarter wrench,' I had to have it there by the time his hand reached out. If I didn't, I was beaten. He lost his temper fifty times a day. 'Get me two buckets of water.' 'Where's the oil?' 'Wash those rags.' 'Why haven't you wiped that fender off?' I was on the run from sunrise to sundown and often far into the night. I had to get his food for him and wash up afterward. And for everything I did wrong I was beaten with whatever he happened to have handy. Sometimes it was a wrench, sometimes a stick; sometimes he used his leather belt. See, here, the scar on my head—that's where he hit me with a wrench. When he got really angry he made me stand outside in the cold with only a cotton shirt on.

"I learned quite a bit. Couldn't help it, because he was lazy. Shoved more and more of the work onto me. But he was smart. Didn't show me the tricky things. He kept them to himself. After all, why should he teach me everything in one day? Even after three years I hadn't learned to scrape a bearing or time the spark. When there was something like that to do he always sent me away on some errand."

"Did everyone treat apprentices that way?"

"Sure, that was the ordinary thing. They made you sweat for knowledge. They didn't teach you for nothing, and they never taught all they knew. Lots of mechanics had to take work back to their old masters for the final touches and pay well to have it done, too. "These students are lucky. You're teaching them everything—one, two, three. Why, it took me three years to learn what we went through this month. They don't know how lucky they are. The new society wants everyone to learn as much and as quickly as possible. That is something we never even dreamed of. And to think, I got all those beatings for nothing."

"But now you can help the others. You have so much experience, you can save them a lot of trouble," I said.

"Yes," said Lao Hei. "That's the way it should be, but they shouldn't take it for granted. They shouldn't forget how it was for us."

From Lao Hei and others I learned something about the truckmen's lives in the old days. In that world it was each man for himself. Each man's main concern was to protect his rice bowl and that meant to protect the secrets of his trade. If driving and repairing ever became common knowledge, there would be a lot more competition and it would be that much harder to make a living. The idea was to restrict the craft and to build up the craftsmen into an elite who ruled the transportation world.

Opportunities were not lacking. In old China transportation was at a premium. It was easy to collect money from "yellow fish" (illegal passengers), steal gasoline, swap new parts for old, do favors for old friends or for the highest bidder,

smuggle banned goods, and enter into all sorts of illicit trade. The profession was ruled by gangs which skimmed off the cream. But if a man was clever, had luck, and built connections, he could in time save enough to start a small shop or even buy a truck of his own. Once launched, there was no telling how wealthy he might become.

Truck drivers made much more through chicanery than they did through honest labor. One way or another they hoped to make a killing and launch themselves as independent businessmen. They were thus quickly corrupted, and came closer to being *liumang fanzi* (rascals) than the *laoshi gongren* (honest workers) people expected them to be.

Somehow or other Lao Hei had come through this school unscathed. He was too honest and straightforward to consider how he could cheat to become rich. In spite of beatings and insults, he had stubbornly persisted in finding out all he could about trucks and engines, hoping he would be able to earn enough to eat.

But even though Lao Hei had not surrendered his innocence, he had unconsciously absorbed many of the prejudices of his trade.

One day there was a tractor that no one could get started. When they called in Lao Hei, he was very confident.

"All you have to know are a few tricks of the trade." he said merrily.

Within a few minutes the engine sputtered to life. But when the other students asked him how he had done it, he said gruffly: "It's running now, what difference does it make? The main thing was to get it going, wasn't it?"

His classmates did not agree. They criticized him severely.

"'Get it going!' Listen to him talk. Whenever we're in trouble we're supposed to call Lao Hei."

"We're here to learn how to fix things like that. Suppose it happens when you aren't around? Are we supposed to quit work? No, you've got to tell us how you did it. That's the only way to serve the people."

"Lao Hei, there's a name for that. That's technical selfishness. The master craftsman wants to make a secret of his skill, wants a monopoly. Those days are gone now. The only way for us to go up is to all go up together."

As Lao Hei listened to their words he grew more and more uncomfortable. His face flushed, and his eyes looked uncertainly from face to face.

"I'm wrong," he said finally. "I'm sorry, there should be no secrets among us. I'll show you how I did it, but just remember, nobody told me these things, as I am telling you.

"Of course, that was the old society," said Li Zhenrong, the middle peasant's daughter. "But things are different now. Who wants to go on making the mistakes of the past? We've got to help one another."

Everybody agreed with that.

A few days later Lao Hei again put the wrong foot forward. He and I had been working together all afternoon and became better acquainted than before. Lao Hei said to me:

"Lao Han, let us become blood brothers. I would like to become your brother, and we two would always help each other.

"Sure, Lao Hei," I said. "I'll be your brother." And so we agreed. But when Lao Guo, the militiaman from the Taihang mountains, heard about it he was upset.

"Lao Hei," he said, "what's this talk of brothers? Are we nor all equal here? Should we not all help each other without condition, and if need be sacrifice our lives for one another? We are all class brothers, poor peasants and workers, and we must all stick together. What's the matter with the word tongzhi [comrade]? Is there any finer relationship between men than that? Blood brothers—that's a feudal idea—to form a small clique, we two against the world. No, Lao Hei, that's a feudal thought."

At first neither Lao Hei nor I understood what Guo meant, but as time went on we learned to see the problem in a new light.

In the meantime, Lao Hei got married. This was the biggest social event South Ridge had seen in some time and we all made the most of it. The

marriage happened very suddenly. One of the tractor students, Liu Meisheng, decided that Lao Hei would make a good match for his sister. Since the girl was well educated, had had two years of middle school, could read and write and even do algebra, we were curious as to why Liu had chosen Lao Hei. Although we never got to the bottom of it, one significant factor did come to light. The Liu's had landlord connections. They had probably decided that an alliance with a working man might prove useful in the future—it would consolidate their status in the new society, so to speak-and so Lao Hei and little Lin were introduced. When they met, the young people decided they liked each other's looks and agreed to the match.

For Lao Hei this was a tremendous stroke of fortune. In the old society he could not have thought of marrying so soon. Any bride would have cost him a lot of money. To marry an educated girl would have been out of the question. Once the affair was settled he went around in a sort of daze.

How much the girl actually had to say in the matter was doubtful. Once the family decided this was what they wanted for her, I think she probably did as she was told. She did not have any reasonable alternative. But, she was lucky. They might well have decided on somebody far worse. Lao Hei was strong, handsome, hardworking, honest,

and kind. In the old society she might have ended up as some corpulent squire's second wife.

To call this a love match, however, would have been to stretch a point. The two only saw each other once before they agreed to get married. Nevertheless, for the Chinese countryside in 1949, it was considered a free marriage. The young couple were not married off sight unseen by their parents as had been the custom for thousands of years. They had at least met and agreed. This was a big step forward in human relations and was celebrated accordingly.

The wedding was simple but gay. We all took the morning off. Lao Hei's mother, a bound-footed old widow in black, came down from Shi-jiazhuang. The bride and her family arrived in a cart decorated in red. The school fixed up a two-room apartment in one of the compounds for the new couple and the students decorated it with pictures and bright slogans on red paper: "Celebrate the new style marriage!" "The masses have all been liberated." "Abolish feudal ways where parents rule the marriage and rode about the streets in sedan chairs." "When husband and wife are of one mind, production goes fastest."

In the center of the wall hung a banner beautifully inscribed with these words: "One is a worker, one is a student, together they form a revolutionary couple. The boy is a mechanic, the girl will be a teacher. Both strive to be models. Such workers

are the main force of the reconstruction of our society! Tractor Training Class, North China People's Government."

On the brick sleeping platform was a new quilt of flowered cloth, a gift from the government.

The ceremony itself was over quickly. We crowded into the newly constructed dining shed to witness it. Director Li introduced the couple. Then they had to get up and say a few words. The students demanded a blow-by-blow account of their romance, but both Lao Hei and his bride were tongue-tied. Lao Hei stood there grinning foolishly, while the girl looked at the floor and obviously wished she could sink out of sight. Then the bride's brother said a few words Lao Hei's mother stood up and said how glad she was to see her son married at last and to such a fine girl. Close friends rose to speak and hinted broadly that what was expected of the couple was production and not just the mechanical kind either. Roars of laughter greeted these sallies.

Finally the embarrassed, blushing pair were allowed to sit down, and we all celebrated by eating peanuts and drinking tea. The young couple held open house in their room the rest of the day for those who wanted to pay their respects, read the slogans, and feel the new quilt.

The wedding was hardly over before family trouble began. Lao Hei's mother, who had been waiting all these years for a daughter-in-law, decided not to return to Shijiazhuang. She moved in with her son and expected little Lin to take care of her. But the bride had other ideas and soon the two started quarreling. Lao Hei, caught in the middle, was unable to do anything with either of them and came to class completely distraught. He even forgot the Chinese characters his wife so painstakingly taught him each day.

Director Li finally had to take a hand in the matter and persuaded Lao Hei's mother to go back to the city. In the new society, he told her, it is no longer right to expect your daughter-in-law to be a servant. It is better to let the young people work out their own lives. The old lady departed indignantly for Shijiazhuang, but relations between Lao Hei and his wife improved sharply as soon as she had disappeared.

And then Lao Hei disappointed us again. Everyone thought that since the girl had already started middle school, she should have a chance to complete it, and the middle school in the county seat was only a few miles away. With Lao Hei to support her, she could easily enroll there and go on with her studies.

But Lao Hei was stubbornly opposed. He wouldn't listen to reason. He wanted his wife home. Perhaps he thought the gap in their educational levels was already too wide and feared to increase it, or perhaps he was afraid she would take a fancy to someone more polished than he.

Or perhaps he just thought, like so many millions of other Chinese men of peasant background, that a woman's place was at home. Whatever the reason, he absolutely refused to let his wife go back to school, so she had to settle down and be a housekeeper.

His fellow students did not let the matter rest. They argued with him whenever the question came up. They told him that this was a feudal tail on his thinking and ought to be cut off. But it was a long time before Lao Hei changed his mind and by that time he was well on the way to becoming an engineer.

Chapter 6

Donkeys, Rifles, and Tractor Engines

One morning I went out to the tractor lot and found Lao Hei fanning a blazing tire built under the crankcase of a cold tractor. After the flames had licked the gray iron for some minutes he stepped on the starter. Nothing happened. He then got another tractor to haul his machine around and around. The engine was so stiff that the rear wheels skidded in the dirt. Lao Hei decided that he wasn't hauling it fast enough. He shifted the towing machine into second gear. Still no results, so he called for more weight on the rear wheels. Several students jumped on the drawbar. At last the tractor jerked to life. Immediately Lao Hei opened the throttle wide. He shoved the transmission into high gear and forced

the tractor around in tight circles, skidding first one wheel and then the other.

To the uninitiated students all this looked very impressive, but to anyone who felt what was happening inside that tractor it was a demonstration that set the teeth on edge.

"No, Lao Hei," I said. "That's not the way to start a cold machine. You have to be gentle with iron, gentle, gentle. You must ease it into motion, let it warm up slowly, allow the oil to reach every part. Each time you force things you take hours off the working life of the machine."

This plea was a part of the constant struggle we had to wage against the sloppy habits and rule-of-thumb methods brought to the school from China's dusty highways and makeshift repair shops by Lao Hei and the other truck drivers. The class could not have succeeded without these men and their experience, but at the same time I could not allow them to pass on to the rest of the students their improvised solutions, their disregard for grit and dirt, their faith in the hammer and pliers as the basic tools of the mechanic's trade.

China's great tradition of precision craftsmanship had definitely not been inherited by her mechanics. The infinite patience taken by the Chinese with wood, ivory, silk embroidery, and jade was abandoned where iron was concerned. Metal objects were expected to be tough. What did it matter if one beat them, dropped them, or failed to wipe them off? In part this attitude grew out of ignorance, but ignorance could not be blamed for all of it. Much more important were the conditions that prevailed in the trucking industry. Truck owners operated on a shoestring. They supplied neither the buildings nor the equipment for proper maintenance. Hired drivers could hardly be blamed for slackness when the owners themselves did not care enough about their vehicles to build shops and provide tools, parts, and facilities.

A vicious circle developed. Mechanics were careless because their tools were poor. Owners dared not buy good tools because their mechanics were careless. No one trusted anyone else. A good wrench could easily be swapped at a profit for an inferior one. Fine parts could be taken out of the engine and replaced with shoddy imitations. Gasoline could be siphoned from gas tanks, good mineral oil diluted with crankcase refuse or exchanged for the products of seed pressing mills. No one knew exactly what he was buying. Everybody expected to be cheated and everybody cheated in turn.

Under this kind of care new vehicles deteriorated rapidly but old vehicles were kept running for decades. Fifteen- and twenty-year-old trucks were common. They rattled by in second gear, hoods gone, radiators boiling, four out of five lights dead, half the spring leaves broken. A copper strip against the steering column served as a

horn button, a heavy chain around one tire served to keep the wall from blowing. An extra man rode the running board to stoke the wood-burning gas producer and wield the crank when the engine stalled. To save fuel, the drivers coasted down hills, and to save brake linings they pressed steadily on the horn. The horn was the one absolutely essential accessory. Lights, brakes, window glass, self-starters, all could be dispensed with but not the horn.

The fact that these trucks ran year after year could not be attributed to any solid mechanical skill, but only to a certain dogged perseverance on the part of the truckers. They had to keep their trucks running because there was nothing with which to replace them—a worn-out truck traveling fifty miles a day still hauled cargo more cheaply than a wheelbarrow. So they worked out many ingenious ways to patch and repair what never should have worn out so rapidly in the first place.

In the realm of patching and tinkering, these Chinese drivers had no equal in the world. They knew how to replace the membrane on a fuel pump with a piece of pig's bladder, how to make old spark plugs spark by forcing the high voltage current to leap from wire to plug, how to revive an old coil by baking it in an oven, how to cast parts in a blast furnace made of discarded oil drums.

Nevertheless, for all this ingenuity, they were always behind in the race against wear and disintegration. They were so busy improvising ways to travel a few more miles that they had no time to work out a real system of preventive maintenance. And, of course, they had no funds with which to carry out any proper plan.

Trucks careened through the North China dust without air filters on the carburetors, oil filters on the oil lines, or breather caps on the crankcases. Radiators were filled with alkali water that plugged the blocks with lime. This state of affairs had continued for so long that most people in the trade took it for granted. Truck drivers and mechanics did not even realize the harm that dirt could do. They did not know how to create precision fits, how to measure tolerances, how to prevent unnecessary wear.

Coupled with this ignorance was a certain arrogance. With a rough-and-ready solution for everything, they felt no need to study scientific methods. They thought that their ways were good enough. After all, had they not kept trucks on the road year after year? They resented any suggestion that they still had something to learn.

In essence, what these truckmen lacked was a real feel for machines—that sixth sense that comes from growing up with engines, that sense that grasps the machine as a living, breathing, vibrant whole, with its own demands and its own set of laws.

I wanted the students to acquire this feeling. I wanted them to learn to love the tractors as a soldier loves the rifle on which his life depends. I reminded them how well rifles actually were kept by the soldiers that passed on the road. Army men, when they had a few spare minutes, polished and oiled every part of their weapons, they always kept a wad of cotton stuffed in the muzzle to keep out dust and damp, and when they put their rifles down or picked them up, they did so with great care, as if the steel were fragile glass.

I also compared the machines to the peasants' draft animals.

"Look how carefully the farmer tends his donkey," I said. "He gives it a warm room in the house, he selects the best fodder he can find, he chops it carefully and watches to see how it meets the donkey's appetite. He makes sure the donkey has cooled down before he offers it water, and he lets it warm up slowly before putting it to heavy work.

"Are our tractors any less deserving? A tractor can plow far more in a day than several dozen donkeys. Well tended, a tractor will outlast any donkey. But it can't protect itself at all. It is completely dependent on you. An abused donkey can always lie down and refuse to move. But an abused tractor cannot retaliate. It cannot fight back.

"Of course a tractor can complain. But you have to learn to understand the language of the tractor when it speaks. You have to pay attention and listen, for the machine has many voices, and they all speak at once. You have to learn to tell one from the other."

The students responded enthusiastically to these ideas. They began to listen to the engines as a naturalist listens to bird calls. They learned to cut out one cylinder at a time and analyze the difference in the sound. They took rods and held them against their ears and picked up the tapping of valves, the knocking of bearings, and the humming of the various gears.

From the beginning I tried to get them to do even the smallest things right. Before starting to work we laid out boards on sawhorses and covered them with paper. We placed our tools on the paper, never on the ground. On each nut, we used the wrench that fit it. We wiped all parts clean and wrapped them up. We washed them with kerosene before replacing them.

It soon became clear why Chinese mechanics had long since abandoned such practices. Boards were scarce, paper scarcer. Only a few copies of the *People's Daily* arrived each day, and these were read and reread by group after group. There were no piles of old papers lying around. Kerosene for washing parts cost the equivalent of \$3.00 a gallon and rags were nonexistent. Everyone used worn

clothes to make cloth shoes. What remained when the shoes, in their turn, were worn out, was good for nothing. For wiping grease and dirt, cotton waste had to be bought from the textile mills of Shijiazhuang. This meant a three-day journey by foot and train. As for wrenches, we had almost none. We scoured the markets in the railroad towns but turned up only a few worn, open-end tools. If it had not been for my little leather case with a set of tools from the hardware stores of Los Angeles, we would have been helpless.

In spite of these difficulties, I insisted that cotton waste, newspapers, and kerosene were cheaper than machine parts. Director Li backed me up with an adequate budget, and so the new rules took hold.

A strict table of inspection and maintenance was drawn up and posted at key points around the school. Each study group took responsibility for one tractor and challenged the rest to a contest. Inspection committees were elected to judge the work week by week. They awarded points to those who did the best. As a result the tractors shone as if they had just come off the production line. Not a drop of grease or a streak of dust was allowed to remain.

The students learned the daily maintenance rules by heart and practiced the routine inspection so that it became second nature—first look at the oil stick, then check the radiator, then test

the fan belt, then open the air filter, and so on right around the machine. *Baoyang* (maintenance) became the chief slogan of the school and I was renamed Han Baoyang, or Maintenance Han.

Once this attitude took hold, anyone who neglected a machine, dropped tools on the ground, failed to cover up parts, or forgot to make a proper inspection was severely criticized in his or her group for lack of a proper "working style."

Faced with this kind of an offensive, even the most blasé truck drivers and mechanics began to change. Lao Hei gave up building fires under tractor engines, and Lao Wang, whose special charge was the school's precious Dodge truck, demanded a set of good tools to replace the pliers and screwdriver he had depended on for so long.

Self-and-mutual criticism helped solve the problem of sloppy technique. It also helped solve much more basic problems of outlook and attitude, as the students met every Sunday after supper to criticize weaknesses and help each other become better revolutionaries, better builders of a new world.

Chapter 7

"I Accept Your Criticism"

One Sunday evening I dropped in on one of the mutual aid study groups. Zhang Ming moved over and motioned for me to sit down. The students were sitting or lying in the straw listening intently to the speaker, Liu Gaiming, a strongly built peasant lad who had a veritable passion for basketball.

"I don't know why," Liu said. "I can't concentrate. Whenever I try to sit down and look at my notes I get sleepy. I can't go on."

"You're never sleepy when it comes to playing basketball. You always seem to be wide awake then," said Liu Boying. His voice came from a dark corner. There was only one light in the room, a dim flame from a twist of cotton in a bowl of oil. It lit up the faces of those directly around it and cast grotesque moving shadows on the mud stalls.

"Yes, that's right," said another. "Morning, noon, and night you're out on the threshing floor bouncing the ball around. If you can't get a game going you play by yourself. Why can't you put the same effort into study? It must be because you don't like to study."

"Well, I only had a few years of school. Studying is hard," said Liu.

"It is just as hard for the rest of us. Many of us never went to school at all. But the people sent us here to learn, not to play basketball. We are eating the people's millet. How can we face them if we don't study hard?" asked Liu Boying.

Liu Gaiming sat for some moments in silence.

"Does anyone else have any suggestions for Comrade Liu?" the group captain asked.

"My idea is the same," said another voice from the darkness.

"Comrade Liu doesn't apply himself. I think it is only laziness. But if he makes an effort he can overcome it. I think we ought to help and remind him from time to time. If he will agree to it, I myself will help him to review the work, once a day, or every other day. We can't just tell him what is wrong. We have to help him."

"That's right," said Li. "How about it, Comrade? Do you want Lao Wang to help you or have you a better idea?" "I don't know. I never was lazy when it came to fieldwork. But books make my head swim. I think..."

"You don't have to decide now. You can talk it over later, but I think it would be a good idea," said Wang.

With that they passed on to the next person.

Sunday evening meetings such as this became the workshops where the new working style was hammered out.

"Working style" meant more than simply the proper way to look after machinery. "Style" reflected a whole background and point of view. Most valued was a dedicated proletarian "style," as distinct from the loose individualism of the peasant or the aristocratic feudal "style" of the landlord.

To call an action "feudal" was to level the most serious criticism, to call it "proletarian" was to give the highest praise. What people meant by a proletarian "working style" included hard work, unconditional devotion to the common task, a spirit of mutual help, concern for public property, prompt attention to problems, precision, cleanliness, and responsibility. These were the working-class virtues needed to overcome the basic selfishness, slackness, and diffuseness of village life, where time was measured by how long it took to smoke a pipe or eat a bowl of millet. People believed that without some of the natural

discipline and cohesion of the working class, the peasants could never free themselves from feudal bondage. It was, therefore, important for everyone to develop a proletarian style of work.

Self-and-mutual criticism was the method adopted for the cultivation of this new approach. Each person was encouraged to speak frankly of his own work and study and then to ask for criticisms and suggestions from the rest of the group. Criticism was not supposed to tear others down, but to help them overcome shortcomings, to help them change and grow. Instead of forming cliques and gossiping behind each other's backs, the students and stall aired their views in open meetings and strove to reconcile them in a principled way.

They took seriously the words of Mao Zedong: "If we have shortcomings, we are not afraid to have them pointed out and criticized, because we serve the people. Anyone, no matter who, may point out our shortcomings. If he is right, we will correct them, if what he proposes will benefit the people, we will act upon it Our cadres should be concerned about every soldier, and all people in the revolutionary ranks should care for each other and love and help each other."

This was the spirit behind the meetings, even though in the heat of the moment those involved sometimes failed to live up to it. During the first weeks there were frequent quarrels. Students sometimes went to bed angry and embittered. But as the process continued week after week, attitudes improved. Those who at first found criticism hard to bear learned that it really was given in a spirit of helpfulness. They found that when they accepted it and tried to overcome their mistakes, their peace of mind returned and their relations with others changed rapidly. Resentment gave way to appreciation for the concern shown by others, and the warm comradeship and mutual trust that existed within the group was enlarged and strengthened.

On the Sunday evening that I visited the study group, the main criticism was directed at the group captain himself, Li, the intellectual. He brought up the question of his own short temper.

"I quarreled with Lao Zhang the other day. I know that is wrong. I thought, he is always getting in the way. He is so slow. So I spoke to him sharply. That was wrong. I should have explained instead. My trouble is individualism."

"Yes, but you ought to examine it more deeply," said Ji Fengying, who was sitting next to the light. The free ends of the towel around her head cast a shadow on the wall that looked like the drooping ears of a sheep. "You are always impatient with people. Even now you want to settle everything right away. You study hard yourself. You are very bright. You have been to the university, so you ought to help others more and patiently explain

things. You ought to consider what is at the root of your thinking."

"Yes," said another. "Sometimes you act just like a landlord. One would think you thought you were better than other people. You must realize that your education was made possible by others' hard work. For every one who studies, hundreds must sweat in the fields. There is no particular merit to being a student. If things had been the other way around, anyone might have done the same as you. So you should really think about it. Impatience is not just a part of your character. It has to do with your outlook."

"I have thought about that before," said Li, "but I haven't overcome it yet. It is true. I thought I am a student because I am bright. I did not worry about all the hard work that others put into it. I took it for granted. But I no longer think that way. I know that there is labor in everything. There is no idleness without labor, there is no studying without labor—just as now, how could we study if there were nobody to support us, if we didn't get millet from the government?"

"Lao Li, you speak well," said Ji Fengying, "but when you really understand something it must show in your life. Your actions must be changed by it. I do not think you have faced the problem. Not to the bottom anyway."

"Well, I need your help. Everyone should say what they think and give me their criticism."

"It is better for you to think about it yourself," said Zhang Ming, knocking the charred end off the wick so that the flame glowed suddenly brighter. "Surely there is pride behind that impatience. Until you conquer that, it will show up all the time. It is no use putting on a big hat, 'I am impatient,' "This is individualism.' or some other ism."

"Are there any other ideas?" asked Li.

"Yes," said Liu Boying from the corner. "You should try to be more objective. You see something and you make up your mind right away. And then you won't hear of any other opinion—like that spark plug the other day. You said it must be the points. We took the distributor apart six times but still had the same trouble. It turned out to be the plug after all. You should keep your mind open and listen to others."

"But there was something wrong with the points," said Li.

"No there wasn't. Han Jiaoshi came along and found one of the plugs skipping. He fixed it right away."

"But the points were burned. The tractor wouldn't even start."

"That's just what I mean," said Liu Boying. "When you think you are right no one can tell you anything. You won't listen."

"Lao Liu is right," said another voice from the shadows. "You always know best."

Several others spoke up in agreement.

"Let's ask Han Jiaoshi," said Li, very upset. "Was there anything wrong with the points?" he asked, turning to me.

"But don't you see, Comrade Li," Ji Fengying put in hastily before I could answer, "it is you we are talking about, not the points. That's just one example. There are lots of others. The other day you said it wouldn't freeze. But it did freeze and Lao Guo had to get up in the middle of the night to check the tractors. Ours still had water in it. There have been other times. Lao Liu is right. You are too hasty in your judgments. And then you won't admit you are wrong."

"I accept your criticism," said Li, "and I will surely change." But though he said the words, it was clear that in his heart he did not yet agree.

"We raised these opinions to help you, Lao Li," said Ji Fengying, "so you must not get upset but think them over. Perhaps there is much truth in what we say."

In this way the students challenged, changed, and strengthened each other. Slowly but steadily everyone's outlook was transformed. Peasants, students, artisans, workers, even the sons and daughters of landlords, who entered the revolutionary' ranks learned to forget themselves and think in terms of what was good for the whole.

Chairman Mao had written that it took ten years for an intellectual to overcome his various conceits and illusions and really devote himself wholeheartedly to the service of the people. A laboring peasant could do it in far less time. He had fewer layers of illusion to peel off. The same was true of a worker. But everyone, regardless of origin, had in some degree to slough off the remnants of selfishness, hypocrisy, "face," and mutual antagonism carried over from the past. On that there was general agreement.

I too came to realize the importance of all this when I saw in practice that technical knowledge alone was not enough to create a love for machines or a sense of responsibility for public property. It was those students who most thoroughly identified their interest with that of the Chinese people and who saw the tractors as levers for the liberation of the whole countryside who worked the hardest, took the greatest pains, and assumed the heaviest responsibility.

When, after a period of warm weather, the temperature suddenly fell below freezing, it was not Zhang Ming, the ambitious engineer, or Wang, the would-be truck driver, who got up in the middle of the night to check all the tractor radiators and make sure they were drained. It was militiaman Guo and Youth Corps leader Li. Their concern for public property surpassed their concern for any personal property, such as their private toothbrush or precious padded quilt.

They felt a sense of duty not only to their own people but to the working people of the whole world, for as Director Li said, "These machines were created by American working men and women. They were given to the people of China by the whole world in order to help us overcome the devastation of war. Now the people have entrusted us with their care, and they expect us to use them well and wisely for the benefit of all. Can we let down our own people? Can we let down the people of the whole world by treating the tractors carelessly? No, we must care for them as we would our own children."

Chapter 8

Tractors Need Room to Turn Around

In January, my wife Bertha, who had stayed behind in Connecticut when I volunteered for the UNRRA tractor unit, arrived in South Ridge after a long wait in Nationalist Henan and an adventurous trek through the mountains from Xinxiang, where a Catholic priest had helped smuggle her through the lines. She immediately found work as the nurse of the training school and ministered to all the ills of both students and staff. She had very little equipment and almost no medical supplies, but her many years' experience made up, in part, for any such lacks, and her prestige soon equaled that of any doctor in the West.

Since Bertha was not acclimated to the North China winter. Director Li ordered a stove built beside the *kang* or brick platform on which we

slept. The flue of the stove directed heat and smoke under the *kang* and we fired it with coal night and day. Because the wind changed frequently, the stove sometimes made no difference to the temperature in the room and sometimes made the *kang* so hot that we could not sleep. Before we had learned how to regulate it, we ran through our whole winter's ration of coal and had to return to living as everyone else did, in a room that was just as hot or cold as the air outside. Padded clothing during the day and extra quilts at night kept us alive.

In February an experienced organizer, Zhang Xingsan (Zhang Three Names) arrived in South Ridge. He came directly from the Ministry of Agriculture of the People's Government of North China to take over the farm in Thousand Qing Basin which had hitherto been managed by the local man, Big Yang. The farm was to be called Jiheng because its land ran through two counties—Ji and Hengshen. Since the students being trained under Director Li were destined to become tractor drivers on Jiheng Farm, the training class became, on Zhang Xingsan's arrival, the Jiheng Farm Tractor Brigade. But it was too early to plow, so classes continued as before.

I always remember Manager Zhang as bald, but that is not correct. He was not bald, but cleanshaven. Whenever the hair on his round head got long enough to darken the skin with a five o'clock shadow he called the barber to shave it off. This was a common custom in North China.

Zhang was a commanding figure, six feet tall and well proportioned. Just as Director Li's clothes always seemed too big for him. Manager Zhang's clothes, though made of the same material and equally well padded, always seemed to fit. He wore his garments with the offhand ease of one used to fine cloth and expert tailoring although he had probably rarely enjoyed either. He was a landlord's son who had graduated from Yanjing University (China's Harvard), spoke a foreign language (English), and had held responsible positions in various Liberated Areas governments. He came from Dingxian, a county that lay south of Beijing and up against the Wutai mountains. 12

¹² Dingxian became known to the world when Jimmy Yen, Chiang Kai-Shek's favorite literacy expert, chose it for an experiment in rural reconstruction. The peasants were organized into co-ops, new breeds of pigs and chickens were imported to raise the level of livelihood, and reading circles were set up in every hamlet.

Why Chiang and the Rockefeller Foundation, which supported Yen's endeavors with cash, should want to spend so much money in Dingxian had never been clear to me until I talked with Zhang, who remembered the pigs with favor. "More revolutionaries and Communists were born and raised in Dingxian than in any other county in China," he said. "I, myself have five brothers. All six of us are in the Party. One is a railroad executive in the Northeast, another is a staff officer in the Northwest, a third is in the Supply Department of the North China forces. Other families from

From his temperament and bearing I felt that Zhang would have done well in the army, but he had chosen a completely different road. At Yanjing he studied agriculture. After graduation he worked in government experiment stations and local agricultural bureaus until the Japanese invasion. Then he joined the guerrilla forces in Central Hebei. As the Liberated Areas expanded he was asked to organize rural supply co-ops in the enemy's rear. By the time the Japanese surrendered he had built up an extensive network of stores and supply lines.

Zhang was an energetic executive. From the time of his arrival the affairs of the farm began to hum.

When he asked Big Yang how much wasteland was under state control Yang told him: "Probably 20,000 mu." "Probably!" Zhang exclaimed. "We can't farm probably. Any child knows that the first thing about a farm is the land. How much? Where does it lie? What quality is it? They haven't even made a survey!" Zhang was quite upset with Big Yang, who overnight had been demoted to second-in-command.

"When I arrived," Zhang told me, "no one even came to the gate to meet me. They didn't have a

our home are the same. No matter where you go, you'll find Dingxian cadres making revolution."

quilt for me to sleep under. I almost froze. Did you ever hear of such a thing?"

It had not been easy for him to step out of a big regional job and come down to this isolated place. And then to be treated like an intruder when he got there!

The fact of the matter was, of course, that Big Yang resented the demotion. Not only had Zhang come down from the North to take over his job, but he began to turn things upside down before he even got in the door. The very first day he wanted to know how much land there was, who had made a survey, whether or not the boundaries had been staked, and a thousand and one other things.

That was Zhang's way. He had more than a trace of *jixinbing* (anxious heart sickness). He liked to see things done, done fast, and done well. Sloppy methods, country ways, didn't suit him at all. And besides, there was no time to waste. If a farm was to get underway, a start had to be made right away.

As soon as I could get a tractor fit for work, Manager Zhang had Lao Hei drive out and plow a line around the land that was still unclaimed by any peasant. This businesslike act created a stir in the villages around the basin. It brought the whole question of tractors and public land to a head. The people were worried about the future of the land. The fact that there were several thousand acres of wasteland in Thousand Qing Basin was without

doubt a great loss to the country. Anyone could recognize that. It should be plowed up and put into crops. On the other hand, the huge tract of idle land was a convenience to the peasants who lived nearby. It made fine pasturage for sheep. When one of them needed a little extra hay for the donkey or cow he could always go out and cut wild grass; such grass, dried and bundled, could always be sold at the county seat on market day. Most important of all, he could always go out and reclaim a little extra land. Although most of the basin had been spoiled by salt brought to the surface by floods and needed washing on a large scale before it could ever be really productive, there were areas of very good soil scattered about. If a peasant had the time and energy he could always take a hoe and add a mu or two of wheat to his holdings. Dotted here and there in the basin were patches of cultivated land belonging to many different families

The peasants wondered what would happen to their economy if the whole basin were plowed. Where would they pasture their sheep? Would there be any place left to cut grass? What would happen to those plots of land in the middle of the waste that they had worked so hard to reclaim? The village chairman of South Ridge came to discuss these questions with Manager Zhang. He was a fussy little man who had held office for many years—right through the Japanese occupation, in

fact. Elected after the Liberation because of the support he had given the peoples' guerrillas while pretending to be a loyal puppet of Japan, he busied himself about village affairs like an old hen with a brood of young chicks.

The village chairman's talk with Manager Zhang began a series of conferences that soon expanded to include the whole neighborhood and lasted for weeks. At the final meeting, the problem of the wasteland was presented to the village chairmen, local labor heroes, and model peasants of the twelve communities most concerned with the future of the basin. This gathering was held at Han Family Village, a low mound in the middle of an area covered with the crumbling adobe dwellings of people who all bore the same surname—Han.

This village was the home of Han Daming, the famous labor hero of the Chin-Chi-Lu-Yu [Shanxi-Hebei-Shandong-Henan] Border Region whom I had met two years before. He had prospered greatly in the meantime and appeared at the meeting in a brand new set of padded clothes. His face had filled out. He was stouter, but people said he was still the same keen, hardworking team leader that he had been in the past.

Han was very enthusiastic about the tractors. At regional meetings, he had talked with people from many places, leading cadres had told him about machine tractor stations, electricity, and

mechanized farms where one man could handle several hundred *mu*. He was eager to see such things come to pass and was ready for new things and new ways.

When Zhang Xingsan appealed to the peasants for cooperation in building a large-scale farm in the basin, he counted on Han to catch the vision and help explain it to the rest. He was not disappointed.

Zhang reminded the peasants of the need for utilizing every inch of productive land to support the front and revive the economy.

"Chairman Mao has given us the formula for victory in four lines," he said. "Soldiers at the front advance/strengthen revolutionary discipline/raise production one inch/and nothing can defeat us.' We here cannot advance at the front, but we can grasp hold of a very important point. We can raise production, and more than one inch at that. Since the villagers don't have the power to reclaim the land, the government is preparing to do it with machines.

"Comrades, machines need room to turn around. Even a small tractor can plow fifty mu in a day. A big one can plow one hundred and fifty, but not if the plots are small We must give them room. We have to let them go straight. In the Northeast there are places where the driver plows in one direction all morning. Then he eats lunch and plows back in the afternoon. That is efficiency.

"What we propose to do is to swap your small plots in the middle of the basin for land at the side. We will plow the new plots for you. We will plow six inches deep, not three. Then our tractors will have room to turn around. Someday, when we learn to use these machines well, we will help you on your own land. This is a pioneer project. It can change the face of all China and bring an abundant life for everyone. Comrades, what do you think about it?"

When he finished speaking the peasants turned to each other and started talking all at once. When the conversation died down a little, Han Daming spoke up:

"Countrymen, it was not so long ago that we were pulling plows with our bare hands. I still have the welts here on my shoulders made by the rope. Then the *guizi* [devils] were driven out and the land was divided. We got oxen. But life does not stop flowing. The iron oxen have come to replace the flesh-and-blood beasts. We've got to look ahead. New things are happening all the time.

"You wouldn't ask an ox to plow its own stall. You wouldn't try to pluck a chicken with a scythe? I say the comrade is right. The machines need a clear path. I've heard that there is a harvester with a knife as long as a mule cart. Can we expect that knife to jump our plots? No. We have to give the machines a chance."

Some supported Han, but others were skeptical. "Those plots are the best land. Where is there land so good?" asked one.

"Where will we pasture the sheep?" asked another. "When all the grass is plowed under where can we cut fuel?"

Zhang explained that there would still be plenty of land left that was too alkaline for crops. As for the fuel, the plowing would turn up quantities of heavy grass roots, at least a two or three years' supply. By then coal would be coming in on the railroad, or they could think of other means. True, the quality of the land that replaced the odd plots would not be up to the old, but it would be plowed much deeper and would be easier to work. Also it would be nearer home.

Han Daming was enthusiastic. "How long will it be before our group can buy a tractor?" he asked. Eight or ten like-minded peasants joined him in discussing this question. In the end all agreed to return to the villages and urge the people to swap their scattered plots.

Back in South Ridge there was at least one family that could not be persuaded to cooperate. Its members hated the tractors, the tractor class, Jiheng Farm, and everything it stood for. That was the family of landlord Yang (not a relative of Big Yang, the manager). Yang had once owned the compound in which the school was housed. The gutted tower had been his also.

All these dwellings were now "struggle fruits"—confiscated landlord property held by the village for distribution to the landless and homeless. Since South Ridge, like Han Family Village, had suffered heavily in the famine of 1944, there was enough housing to go around for the time being without dismantling the Yangs' courtyards, and so the village had loaned them temporarily to the government.

Landlord Yang and his family still occupied a small section of the many buildings that had once been theirs. By blocking several passageways and knocking a hole in the outside walk, they had created a small yard that was completely cut off from the rest of their former holdings but still had access to the street. Yang's son and daughter-inlaw lived in another such sanctuary at the very back of the compound. This son wore a slouching felt hat reminiscent of Tianjin waterfront loafers. This gave him a dissolute appearance that was heightened by the pallor of his complexion, the stoop of his shoulders, and the slow movement of his limbs. He was most probably an opium smoker. With the coming of spring he went almost daily to the fields that remained his, but from the expression on his face it was clear that the very idea of labor was obnoxious to him.

Old Yang himself was a hearty man who affected peasant clothes, but the attitude of the family was nevertheless amply revealed by his

three-year-old son. This chubby, well-fed baby, instead of playing games and joking with the students like the rest of the village children, always scowled as they went by. Several times he attacked individuals as they walked down the lane by running out and striking at their legs with his fists and shouting, "Da da [hit, hit]," as he ran. At other times he swore at them under his breath.

One day his father caught him at it and gave him a sound thrashing, but that didn't make him friendlier. When no one was looking he threw stones at the tractors.

A few days later Xue Feng, the man who had accompanied me to South Ridge on the mule cart, found Yang and his eldest son striding around the compound where the tractors were parked.

"What are you doing here?" Xue Feng asked.

"Just looking over our property, your mother's ..."

"What do you mean, your property? This belongs to the village."

"Just the same, it's my property," said the landlord, "and I'll have it back someday too."

"You'll have it back? And who do you think will allow you to steal it from the people?" Xue demanded.

"Oh, the day will come. You think the sky will not change again?"

"Get out of here, you turtle's egg. Get out of here this minute," shouted Xue.

"Who is going to throw me out?" asked Yang.

"I am, right now," said Xue, and advanced toward him ready to strike.

Yang retreated slowly out the gate with his son beside him, cursing and swearing all the time.

This incident was reported to the County security forces for investigation but Yang was never arrested.

"What about these ex-landlords?" I asked Xue the next day. "What kind of a future do they face?"

"That depends on their own behavior," he said. "They have their land, their houses, their draft animals, and their implements. If they go into the fields and work they can make a fair living—at least as good a living as anyone else. But they aren't allowed to vote, or join the Peasant's Union, or the Women's Association, or the Consumer Co-op, or any other popular organization."

"Why is that?"

"For centuries they have dominated the village. They are literate, they are experienced. Given half a chance they would not hesitate to seize control once more, take their lands back, and set up the old system. And if they can't do that they try to disrupt the new system the peasants are building.

"Under the leadership of the Communist Party the peasants have taken away the land on which the landlords' power was based. But this power was also buttressed by custom and tradition, clan ties, temple rites, superstition, classical education, opera, and in a hundred other ways. Now our people are trying to build something new. They want to do away with superstition, clan quarrels, the oppression of women, the domination of the village by cliques and factions for private gain. The landlords want no such thing. They resist and sabotage it. Therefore the peasants have isolated them. They do not allow them any influence in village affairs."

"Will that always be so?" I asked.

"No. If the former landlord works honestly for five years and is law abiding he can be brought back into the community with full rights, provided that the people want him."

"Will five years change a landlord's point of view?"

"In some cases. Five years of hard work growing your own crops can influence a person quite a lot. Also, by that time the peasants' power will be well established. New customs and traditions will already have taken root. Everyone's outlook will be different then. It will not be so easy to create disunity. The peasants will have had five years' experience in working together and running their own affairs."

All the other families in South Ridge who held land in the basin agreed to swap lots. Some did it with enthusiasm, some did it with reservations, but none of them flatly opposed it as did Landlord Yang, and so the first concrete steps in the creation of Jiheng Farm, the project that was to launch mechanization in all North China, were taken. It was none too soon in view of the situation in China as a whole. The civil war had reached its climax. Overall victory for the Revolution was in sight and soon problems of reconstruction would replace those of war.

Chapter 9

Battles North and South

The winter of 1949 was a crucial one. Day after day the news from the front dominated all other concerns.

Starting with the Manchurian campaign in the fall of 1948, the big cities of the North which had been held by Chiang Kai-shek ever since the Japanese surrender in 1945 fell one by one. Jinzhou, Changchun, and Shenyang were liberated by November 1. While the armies of General Lin Biao raced south across the Great Wall toward Tianjin and Beijing, the armies of Chen Yi, Chen Geng, and one-eyed Liu Bocheng were locked in a gigantic struggle with Chiang's main forces in the lowlands around Suzhou. Close to half a million troops were fighting on each side. This battle, one of the largest ever fought, ended in the complete annihilation of Chiang's forces north of the Yang-

tze and liberated most of the territory between the Yellow and Yangtze rivers. The attack on Tianjin a few weeks later and the surrender at Beijing of Fu Zuoyi's North China troops set the stage for the drive across the Yangtze that was the main event of the new year.

This succession of victories kept the school in a constant state of excitement and anticipation. On February 7, the day that the news of Beijing's surrender reached South Ridge, the whole village went wild with joy. The students formed a dance brigade and went weaving down the village lanes to the accompaniment of the most joyous rhythm their drummers and cymbal bearers could devise. They were joined by another brigade made up of village children. People came running out of their houses to see what all the noise and commotion was about.

"Beijing is liberated. General Fu has surrendered," the students shouted.

Beijing liberated! . . . Listeners stood still for a moment, letting the news sink in, trying to adjust to all that it meant. Then they rushed indoors to find other family members, to bring them out on the street to join the happy throngs.

It was difficult for a visitor to appreciate all that this news meant to the local peasants. Beijing was not just another city, but the ancient capital of China. Its liberation was a sign that the war would soon be over, that their sons and daughters would soon be home, that twelve years of bloodshed and strife, a century of Western intervention, and millenniums of landlord rule would soon come to an end. It also meant the economic revival of a region that had been living on a subsistence economy since 1937.

The peasants of South Hebei lived and labored on a long funnel-like plain where all roads converged on Beijing and Tianjin. For more than a decade they had been cut off from the commercial, industrial, and cultural heart of their region. Although they had maintained contacts, smuggled goods, and sent students across the lines, the Japanese and then the Nationalist blockade had grievously disrupted the normal flow of life. This hit the peasants of Hengshui, Xianxian, and Nangong especially hard because they had long been traders as well as farmers. Almost all of them had relatives in the shops and markets of the cities to the north, and tens of thousands had traditionally survived in the winter by peddling goods bought in city markets in the rural areas. Suddenly the area was whole once more. Contacts, trade, and interchange of all kinds would quickly revive. Relatives could be visited, families united, commercial ties renewed

The elation over the victories in North China was tempered somewhat by the realization that Taiyuan, the great industrial city of Shanxi to the west, and Qingdao, the main commercial port of

Shandong to the cast, were still held by Nationalist forces, not to mention the vast area of South, Southwest, and Northwest China. The front lines had suddenly shifted to distant places, but the fighting was far from over, and there would be many bloody battles before peace could come to the whole land.

That the Nationalists still possessed dangerous strength was brought sharply home to everyone in South Ridge by the sight and sound of American-built transport planes flying day and night from Qingdao into Taiyuan. Their route lay right across Thousand Qing Basin. The first time one of these planes appeared, the students were out practicing driving. Thinking that the aircraft might return to attack them, they quickly dispersed the tractors, covered them with sorghum stalks, and took shelter behind the mounds left on the flat by the salt washers.

But the pilots, flying less than a thousand feet above the plain, ignored the tractors. They were busy freighting the war lord Yan Xishan, his gold bars, his household treasures, his wives, children, concubines, and close relatives out of Taiyuan before the city fell. At the same time they brought load after load of ammunition to its besieged defenders.

The planes made everyone angry. Who could say how much of the toil and sweat of the Shanxi people was flown out with every load? How many peasants had been bankrupted, how many girls sold into slavery, how many people reduced to a diet of bark and leaves so that those gold bars could be piled up? Now that accumulated wealth, product of the labor of millions, would be lost to China. The peasants shook their fists at the planes as they flew over.

The disasters at the front threw the Kuomintang into confusion and brought the question of peace to the fore once again. The peace offer Chiang made in January led to headlines all winter.

To make the offer plausible the Nationalists put on a new face. Chiang retired to his summer house in the hills and General Li Zongren suddenly took over the negotiations. But what kind of a compromise was possible at that late date? Director Li gave a talk to the students in which he outlined the terms put forth by Chairman Mao.

Chiang had offered to talk peace on condition that his constitution, his political system, and his armies be preserved. Mao answered with eight points. The bogus Kuomintang constitution would have to be abolished, the bogus political system terminated, the armies reorganized in accordance with democratic principles, war criminals like Chiang and his top generals would have to be punished, the land of the landlords divided, the capital of the four families and the war lords confiscated, all treaties betraying the nation abro-

gated, and a political consultative conference convened to set up a new government.

"That is our minimum program," Director Li said. "How could we demand any less? Anything else would be betrayal of all that the people have fought for not only during the last three years of civil war, but during the eight-year-long anti-Japanese war as well."

Then he repeated an old folk tale which Mao Zedong had borrowed from Aesop:

"Once a farmer came across a viper that lay injured and helpless on the ground. The viper appealed to the farmer for mercy. The farmer took pity on the creature, picked him up, put him inside his shirt, and carried him home. The warmth of the farmer's body revived the viper. He sank his poisonous fangs into the farmer's flesh. Within a few days the farmer died. To make peace with those gangsters now without removing their fangs would be like the farmer who took pity on the viper. Defeated and wobbling, they appeal to us for peace, only to turn and rend us when they have recovered a little strength."

This talk moved the students. They discussed it during the newspaper reading period in the morning and whenever they had a free moment during the day. The consensus was that a viper's fangs must certainly be removed. There was no sense compromising with the Nationalists, not until the gentry's power had been broken and the

people assured of control could a settlement be made with individuals.

"They should have thought of this when they launched the war in 1946," Zhang Ming said. "Then they were riding high. Everyone who disagreed with them was silenced or wiped out. They would not hear of a coalition. Now it is too late. They are on the run. I say we should drive on Nanjing and capture Chiang alive."

In the old days the saying was: "Good iron is not fashioned into nails, nor good men into soldiers." The Japanese War and the fight for land had changed all that. Now people considered it an honor to serve in the armed forces and so did their families. Recruits were no longer called *bing* (soldiers) but "army men" or "People's Fighters," and the whole community took responsibility for them. There were many sons of South Ridge people in the ranks.

When the young men left home, the whole community saw them off with music and dancing. They rode through the village on horseback with red flowers pinned to their chests, while all the children from the surrounding neighborhood raced down the road in front of them, the old people lined the lanes, and the young students and village cadres marched behind, singing, cheering, and shouting.

By the doors of a soldier's home hung a wooden plaque which read "Glorious Army Family." During the planting and harvesting season, these families received special help from their neighbors. The mutual aid teams set aside days to help with soldiers' crops, taxes were lightened for their families, and whatever aid came from the government was allotted to them first.

When the New Year came it was the custom for neighbors, village cadres, students, and government personnel to visit the soldiers' families as a token of gratitude for the sacrifices their sons and daughters were making, to talk with them and find out if they had any problems, and to encourage them to work hard for victory.

The tractor students at South Ridge turned these visits into a major celebration. They made several banners with slogans such as "All people unite to save the country," "Defend the fruits of land reform," "Drive to Nanjing and capture Chiang alive," and "Hail brave fighters' families." With drums beating and cymbals clashing they went from door to door.

"Comrade Wang, come out, come out," they shouted as they passed before a plaque-decorated home. "Happy New Year! Happy New Year! Long life to you and your son at the front."

When the old peasant and his wife appeared, blinking in the bright sun and tongue-tied with emotion, a great cheer went up.

"Long live brave fighters' families."

"Long live the People's Liberation Armies."

When the old man had finally gathered himself together to say something, he asked them all in.

"Come in and sit a while."

"Thank you. Comrade, there are too many of us. We came to congratulate you. No need to cause you trouble," and with that they moved on to the next house. Everywhere, they were met with a warm welcome, and their cheers brought tears to more than one pair of eyes.

The armed forces soon began to appear in the flesh, as contingents of Lin Biao's Northeastern legions passed through Jixian. They were marching to take up positions along the north bank of the Yangtze where the final offensive was being prepared. First several squads came through. A few days later columns of hundreds followed. Behind them the army poured down by the tens of thousands. Soon the whole countryside was alive with troops on the move. Travelers from Shijiazhuang and Dexian reported that the highways on either side of the plain were crowded too. The armies were moving across the flats of Hebei by three routes, east, west, and center down to the Yellow River and across it to the plains of Jiangsu, Henan, and Hubei.

None of the highways were big enough to hold the mass of men and carts and weapons. They overflowed onto the side roads, and from them onto the paths and cart tracks between the villages. Looking across the plain one could sometimes see as many as four or five columns moving, some close at hand, some in the middle distance, and others so far away that their red banners could just be glimpsed now and then as they pulled out from in back of one settlement and then faded from sight behind another.

Toward evening, platoons chose the villages in which they would spend the night. They found lodging in various peasant homes, but cooked their meals outdoors, each squad around an iron pot. They quickly made friends with the people and were followed everywhere by crowds of children. Here a soldier fixed a little girl's school slate, there another played ball with three laughing boys, over by the well, two machine gunners helped an old woman bring up water; wherever possible the army men helped with whatever chores the people had to do.

The three basic principles and eight points for attention that have been the rules of conduct of the Communist-led armies in China since their inception were strictly observed: Pay for what you need; Replace the doors that you sleep on; Don't take as much as a needle or a strand of thread from the people; Don't molest women . . . Simple rules like these had won the trust of the peasants ever since the first irregulars had marched down from Jinggangshan twenty years before. Now they

guided an army millions strong and did more to defeat Chiang Kai-shek than all the ammunition and weapons in the world.

In the gathering twilight, as the soldiers sat on bricks and stones and unwound their cloth puttees, people crowded around to ask news of their own sons and daughters. Had they by chance heard of Han Xuming? When last heard from he was with Lin Biao's army outside of Shenyang. Did they know Li Sugang who went into Tianjin with one of the first platoons?

Every once in a while these questions brought answers. The villagers found a fighter who knew one of their own. Or—even more exciting—a local man left his own unit for a few hours to drop by and say hello. Then family and friends stayed up all night listening to tales of the victorious campaign.

In the morning the soldiers got up before dawn, swept the courtyards, replaced what they had borrowed, filled the water jars, and were off before anyone had time to say goodbye.

Several times the tractor students went out to the highway four miles away to watch large detachments pass.

The highway itself was crowded with train after train of mule carts hauling grain, ammunition, and heavy weapons. Interspersed with the carts were cavalry brigades mounted on fat Mongolian ponies, necks arched and long manes flying.

The troops made no effort to look smart, or to march in step. They had come a long way and had a still longer way to go. Five hundred miles to the Yangtze, fifteen hundred to Guangzhou. In their cloth shoes they walked along with an easy swinging gait that took them thirty miles a day. Each man carried his millet rations in a long sock-like bag thrown over one shoulder. On the other shoulder he carried a rifle, while around his waist hung heavy cloth belts full of cartridges. The weapons were all battered Japanese products or shiny new arms just shipped in from America. Everyone said Chiang's Manchurian armies had been very well equipped. The People's Liberation Army had made the most of it.

Each outfit carried its banners in front. The red silk battle flags floated proudly in the wind. Some banners were plain. Others bore the name of the army, the division, the regiment, and told of awards and honors won in various campaigns. Much of the history of the war could be read in those banners. Some units had marched all the way from Yanan in the Northwest to Harbin in the Northeast and back again.

I was surprised to see how many women were marching. They were not combat soldiers but headquarters personnel, medical orderlies, and signal operators. They looked healthy, tanned, and strong. There was something about the sight of those marching columns that stirred the blood far more than any dress parade. The shuffle of cloth soles in the dust, stained padded clothes well creased at the joints, the sweat-drenched towels under fatigue caps, the jangling cooking pots, the shining rifle barrels, each with its plug of red cloth in the muzzle, the mules, sweat covered and straining, their harnesses and halters decorated to suit the drivers' taste—all this spoke of battle seasoning, of struggle and hardship, of months and years of fighting and marching. For the men and women in these ranks, war had become a way of life.

The students took a tractor with them to the highway. The soldiers called out as they passed: "Comrades, what is that?"

"That is a tractor, an iron ox."

"And can it plow?"

"Sure it can, fifty mu in a day."

"Take good care of it. After we've marched to Guangzhou and driven that dog's fart Chiang into the sea, we'll be back to help you," shouted one of the men.

"We'll be here," responded Lao Hei. "Hurry back, hurry back."

Chapter 10

Drama Under a Rising Moon

s the People's Liberation Army, one million strong, gathered on the north branch of the Yangtze for the great push into South China, our tractor students wound up their formal studies with a final examination. It took considerable effort to find an examination that did not involve reading, but we did. We took various parts from the tractor, set them out around the courtyard, and tied a number on each one. The students were supposed to walk around and write down the name of the part and its function. Those who could not write went in later with members of the technical group and dictated their answers. The examination was quite an event because no one had ever seen such an examination before. In fact, many had never faced any kind of examination in their lives. But, because of their group study, everyone knew the material and everyone passed. Zhang Ming and Li Zhenrong got outstanding marks, but the emphasis was on the standing of the group, not the individual. When the group averages were posted, Zhang Ming realized that he should have helped his roommates more, for they were near the bottom of the list.

After this came graduation, which was combined with the ceremonies officially setting up Jiheng Farm. The double ceremony was a gala occasion to which were invited all the local peasants, labor heroes, chairmen, and secretaries of the two counties, Communist Party leaders from the regional office, school teachers and merchants from Jixian, and many others.

The students built a big stage of cedar poles and reed mats and covered it with green boughs, red bunting, and flags. Around the village, in addition to the usual political slogans, they posted tractor reminders such as "Don't forget the twelve rules of Maintenance," "Protect children, drive in first gear," "Watch temperature, oil pressure, and ammeter," "Drain the radiator before you leave," etc.... On one long wall characters three feet high proclaimed "Study Teacher Han's spirit of protecting public property."

Farm Manager Zhang, who loved to make speeches, gave the main address. He told why Thousand Qing Basin had been chosen for a farm, why the land had to be unified into large blocks, and how the arrangements with the local people were progressing. He outlined what the future held in store for all of Chinese agriculture once mechanization was successful. He sat down to a tremendous burst of applause. As was the custom in the Liberated Areas, he joined in the applause himself, for the honor was not meant to be for the speaker, but for the ideas expressed, for mechanized agriculture, for the future of China, for the local peasants who had sacrificed personal convenience to make the whole thing possible.

Director Li said a few words, and then, one by one, the various local leaders talked. When the speeches were over, the audience moved out to the fields to see the tractors in operation. Ten of the best drivers put their machines through a sort of dance by weaving in and out across the ground in predetermined patterns which included spinning with one wheel locked. Then they all hitched onto plows and turned a furrow up and back, laying open a strip of soil almost sixty feet wide in a few seconds. The plows were exchanged for cultivators and the new land was thoroughly harrowed. Since that exhausted the implements available, the demonstration ended abruptly.

All this went off perfectly, much to everyone's delight, but when we figured out how much gasoline had been consumed to no purpose except the students' vanity, everyone decided that it never

should have been done. In spite of the capture of Jinan airfield and all its aviation fuel, gasoline was still worth \$3.00 a gallon and was scarce. The students decided that if anyone wanted to see the tractors in motion in the future they would have to come around when they were really at work.

The evening centered on music and drama, all prepared by the students. The most brilliant achievement and the one that attracted most attention was a series of colored film strips that were cast upon a large white cloth. Director Li thought up the method. He took a camera, removed the back, and wound a strip of paper on the spools in place of film. Cartoons were drawn on the paper and then the whole strip was oiled. With a strong light shining from behind, the pictures were brilliantly outlined on the screen. As soon as they had seen the effect, quite a few people made film strips of their own.

Zhang Ming made the best ones. He took for protagonist the Chinese cartoon character San Mao. San Mao was a Shanghai waif who was always getting tangled up with the Kuomintang authorities. His original creator had used him to great advantage to expose the corruption and cruelty of Chiang's regime. San Mao means three hairs and that was all this waif had growing on his fine round pate.

Zhang Ming's San Mao was not from Shanghai, but was a South Ridge village child who was always getting mixed up with the tractors. The first picture showed San Mao looking longingly around a corner at the tractors in their shed. The next showed curiosity gaining the upper hand; he had already climbed the wheel. In the third he had touched the hot line from the battery and received a shock that knocked him senseless. Undeterred. he got up and looked for some other angle of approach. A few frames later he was shown stealing a ride on the plow as the tractor went to the field. The machine crossed a newly plowed furrow and San Mao was thrown off. A big bump appeared on his head and, strange to say, it was exactly on that bump that his three hairs were growing. And so it went. The village children thought it wonderful.

Another filmstrip told the story of Wang Fengtou, or Wind Head Wang. A "wind head" is a person who always has to be first and fastest, and this "wind head" got on the tractor and drove like a madman. He drove so fast, he went right into a tree. Undaunted, he took out another tractor and drove away without checking the oil. He burnt out all the bearings.

"Never mind, there are plenty of good ones left." said Wind Head Wang and he jumped onto a new tractor, only to have it burble to a stop—he had forgotten to add water to the radiator—all the bearings had seized. And so it went. The moral: Don't be a "wind head."

A third film told the story of Jiheng Farm, the acreage, the layout, the crops planned, the difference in performance between a tractor and a mule.

The success of these films was marred only by an expensive accident. Lao Hei, who was in charge of lighting, wired the sealed-beam tractor headlights directly to the generator on a tractor. He no sooner started the engine than the lights burned out. Since they were irreplaceable, Lao Hei was very upset. If anyone had spoken harshly he would have wept. Since the show had to go on, there was nothing to do but borrow some headlights from another tractor and try again, this time making sure that the circuit included the battery.

After the film strips came the drama hour. The most uproarious presentation involved the installation of General Li Zongren as the new president at Nanjing. It was written by Li, the intellectual, and portrayed in bold strokes the collapse of the Nationalist regime. President Li was getting nowhere with his fellow countrymen, when, alas, he was called before Uncle Sam (a tall character in a paper top hat played by me) and asked to account for himself.

"You great big useless oaf," yelled Uncle Sam.
"I gave you airplanes, tanks, and big guns and you lose them all to the Communists. What the hell is the story?"

"We-we-welll," said Li. "I just can't seem to get the soldiers to fight. Whenever they see the People's Liberation Army they surrender."

"Can't get them to fight! What do you mean?"

"Just that. They go over in droves and take their cannon with them. What shall I do, oh, what shall I do?"

"What shall you do?" retorted Uncle Sam in a fury. "The question is what shall I do?"

But as soon as he said this, the whole question became academic because the Liberation Army soldiers, the guerrillas, and the people came rushing across the stage and overwhelmed the conference. Uncle Sam was knocked off his stool. The tall top hat crashed to the ground. The arrogant foreigner fled in fright while Li grabbed his coattails and looked for a place to hide. He succeeded only in tripping Uncle Sam up. They all fell down in a heap and were captured.

By this time the audience was in an uproar and it took several minutes to quiet the applause.

Another play, directed by Sun, the interpreter, whose secret ambition had always been to go on the stage, told a story called "Four Sisters Quarrel."

An old man was celebrating his birthday. His four daughters all came to bring him presents. The question arose as to who should drink the first cup of wine. The father suggested that she whose husband was doing the most for the war should drink first. The first sisters husband turned out to

be a front line scout whose work was as dangerous as could be. The second sister's husband was
a machine gunner who mowed down the enemy.
The third sister's husband was an officer at headquarters and the fourth sister's husband a cook in
a field kitchen. "If it weren't for the scout the army
would not know where to go," said the first. "If it
weren't for the officer, who would give directions
and make plans?" asked the third. "But surely the
machine gun is the backbone of all the fighting,"
said the second. While the fourth asked the unanswerable question: "And where would they all be
if it weren't for the man who does the cooking?
You won't get anywhere, either at the front or at
the rear, without hot food in your belly."

Well, the old man was stuck, so he decided to ask which of the sisters did the most work in the rear. But there again it was a tie: one made shoes, another raised corn, the third wove cloth, and the fourth made clothes. The old man decided they were all heroes' wives and heroic women themselves, so he went out for more cups and all five drank together. Just then a group of soldiers came by on their way to the front. The four women rushed out and gave them all the presents they had brought for the old man.

The people were very pleased with this play too, especially the women, and Lao Sun beamed as the cast took their bows. Each mutual aid study group then presented something, either a dance, or a skit, or a song, and it was long after midnight before the party finally broke up and the peasants went off to their homes under a rising moon.

Chapter 11

Beijing on a Tractor

Trucks, trains, mule carts, wheelbarrows, camels, donkeys, and number eleven jeeps (the Chinese equivalent of shank's mare) had all carried people to Beijing in the past, but ours, I am sure was the first group ever to arrive powered by tractor.

A few days after the graduation celebrations, word came from the North China Ministry of Agriculture that Director Li, Farm Manager Zhang, Technician Han, Bertha, the nurse, and a dozen students and a trailer were needed in the city to help set up a State Farm Management Bureau, lay the groundwork for several new state farms, and buy the supplies, fuel, and parts needed for the spring plowing at South Ridge. Manager Zhang decided that an extra tractor would not be

refused. We hitched the tractor to the trailer and set off for the north.

The trip was a joyful one. Seated comfortably on a mountain of baggage, we rolled through the countryside at ten miles an hour and had plenty of time to see the landscape, sing, and talk. Members of the technical group took turns driving and we pushed right through to Beijing—two days and one night without a break.

As we went north we bucked the flow of the armies that were still marching south. The uniformed men and women laughed with delight when they saw the tractor. They seemed to know right away what it was and called out, "Tuolaji lailiao, tuolaji lailiao [a tractor is coming, a tractor is coming]."

We passed through the heart of Central Hebei, the area that had suffered the most from the mopping-up campaigns of the Japanese war. The villages in the area had survived only because of the tunnel warfare developed by the peasants. Gaping holes in the fields showed where the tunnels had run that once connected every village.

This was the region where Manager Zhang had spent the war years and as we rolled up the road he kept recognizing places where he had lived, worked, or fought. At one spot he pointed east to a mud-walled village. "See that place," he said. "That was our headquarters. The Japanese devils held that other village to the north—less

than three miles away. We had to be on guard all the time. Our sentries patrolled the sorghum and kept a close watch. Whenever the Japanese made the slightest move, we took to the fields through the tunnels. We lived opposite them like that for months."

A little later we came to an irrigation canal that wound for miles through the countryside. This large-scale engineering work had been built by the peasants of the area only a year or two before, at the height of the civil war. While Nationalist General Fu Zuoyi's troops were blowing dykes on the grand canal to flood hundreds of thousands of *mu*, the peasants of Central Hebei were digging an irrigation channel to bring water to perennially parched land. Zhang had had a hand in organizing that project too, and talked about it with pride.

Toward evening we passed Xianxian and the largest mission compound I had ever seen. This was the center of the famous Xianxian spy case: French Catholic fathers had been charged with operating an intelligence net and reporting to Beijing by radio. The suspects were tried and expelled from the area, but the mission remained. The French must have lived like kings. Their church grounds and outbuildings covered an area larger than many a walled county town.

It was still early in the spring and darkness brought intense cold. Shivering, we pulled into Hejian, famous wartime capital of the Liberated Area of Central Hebei. In the blackness the town appeared to be nothing but rubble—great crumbling walls, abandoned courtyards, fallen roofs but in the center of the destruction, we found a couple of prosperous looking restaurants and had a supper of hot soup and noodles. This warmed us up and we started on again. At dawn we found ourselves in the center of the Baoding-Beijing-Tianjin triangle, the area where the fighting of the last three years had been most bitter. The effects of the battle were visible everywhere. Hardly a wall still stood. The villages had been smashed back into the mud and dust from which they had originally been fashioned. The Kuomintang general in charge of this area had been a renegade Communist who knew guerrilla warfare better than most Nationalist commanders. He had split his armies into roving bands and carried the fight to the outlying hamlets with utter ruthlessness.

In the afternoon we went through a long stretch of sand where the trucks of the south-bound armies were moving with difficulty. We saw big Burma-road Dodges and GMC six-by-sixes, beautifully kept up and expertly driven. I noted particularly how their army drivers double clutched in the sand and pulled through it without either spinning their wheels or letting them come to a stop. They had a degree of proficiency that I had not expected. "If you can do as well with the tractors as those soldiers do with their trucks, our

farms will succeed, at least on the technical end," I said to the students.

The sun was still high when we rolled into Beijing. Crowds of people stopped to stare as the tractor and trailer roared by. Sunburned and covered with dust, we looked like wanderers from the Gobi Desert.

Beijing again!

I had left two years before, at the height of the student protest against the civil war. Thousands had marched that spring in defiance of a national ban on street demonstrations, and the unity between the students and the population at large had been such that the Beijing authorities had retreated temporarily. On May 25, 1947, the police stayed off the streets and soldiers were confined to their barracks.

I had never seen anything to compare with the energy, organization, and flair for publicity shown by Beijing's students during the demonstration that followed. First came the massed columns of marchers holding banners aloft, singing defiant revolutionary songs and shouting slogans in unison. Their mood was neither grim nor violent, but hopeful, friendly, and passionate in demanding a better world. On both sides of the marchers the propagandists went to work. Most numerous were the boys and girls with chalk. They wrote slogans on every convenient surface: the pavement, the sidewalks, the walls (Beijing has more

miles of blank wall than any city in the world), the arches, the gates, the doors, the store windows, the awnings, and on all moving things—cars, streetcars, trucks, even rickshaws. It was as if a flock of birds had descended and had been joined by an army of literate beavers. "The people want peace," "The people want to live," "Stop civil war," "Chinese must love Chinese," "No more hunger" these and many other slogans were written wherever there was room to scrawl a few ideographs. After the chalk men came the paint pot wielders. They painted the same slogans, but larger and with paint that could not be brushed off. Some used a few lines to depict starving children, the dove of peace, or empty rice bowls. Following the painters and competing with them in energy and determination came the tar-pot artists. They dipped twisted pieces of cloth into pots of liquid tar and rubbed slogans on the walls. One group of five girls was especially diligent and before the march was over they were splashed with sticky tar from head to foot. In between all these came the posters. They pasted up a profusion of paper slogans and posters that often blotted out the efforts of those who preceded them. Some of the larger posters were very effective cartoons. People went in for harsh cartooning then, somewhat in the style of the Russian anti-Hitler work, and they drew fat reactionary monsters crushing skinand-bone people under foot or reclined on the backs of starving peasants while bombs exploded in the background.

The pasters, the tar wielders, the paint-pot brigades, and the chalkers were only a part of the effort, however. For there were also leaflet distributors and newspaper vendors, and, most effective of all, speakers. The latter stopped and talked to anyone who would listen. Over here a young man addressed a group of rickshaw men. Over there a girl talked quickly and earnestly to the occupants of a streetcar temporarily stalled in the traffic. The passengers made a fine captive audience, for they were jammed together, unable to move. As the speaker finished the crowd clapped and cheered. A young student who spoke broken English came up to me. "Sir, we are students demonstrating against the civil war. The government must stop this war. The people are starving while Chinese kill Chinese. We hope your country will not send any more arms and will help us build democracy. Please write all your friends and tell them what we say." A few minutes later another came and said the same thing in a different way. They were not angry at me for being an American. They only asked for understanding and support.

The response of the Beijing crowds was disappointing to the students. They had hoped that thousands would join their parade. They wanted it to grow into a huge mass demonstration. Nothing like this happened, but the people were friendly.

Many drivers stopped their cars long enough for the slogans to be chalked and the posters pasted. Many shopkeepers looked on approvingly as tar ideographs were brushed on their awning mats. Everyone bought the papers, even soldiers, officers, and American-trained flyers. There was no mistaking where the sympathies of the public lay.

When the march was over the whole route was littered with leaflets, posters, slogans in red paint, black tar, and white chalk. It was hard to believe that a few hundred students could cover such a great area in so little time. But even more remarkable was the scene the next day. Every single slogan had disappeared. All the chalk had been rubbed off, all the posters torn down, all the fresh paint painted over, and all the tar smudged out with black. Householders were held responsible for what appeared on their walls and the police had worked all night to see that they cleaned them up. As the sun rose, I saw an old man rubbing a red wall with a broom. Beside him stood a policeman holding a gun. Thus did Chiang restore law and order and erase from sight the truth that had burst forth so suddenly and beautifully.

Even larger demonstrations had been planned for June 1, 1947. Students were to march, workers to strike, businessmen and intellectuals to meet. But this time the government clamped down. An early curfew cleared the streets in all major cities. Troops and police came out in force. Campuses were barricaded with barbed wire and tanks were stationed at strategic points. The students had to call off their march, but this did not satisfy the Beijing garrison command. Hired thugs, directed by police informers, roamed the streets in gangs carrying clubs of wood and iron. As soon as they spotted a student, he was ordered to halt. If he ran, shots were fired. If he stopped, the thugs descended on him and beat him to the ground. As many as thirty or forty attacked at once. When they had beaten their victim senseless they picked him up and threw him in a waiting car to be carried who knew where. Many students were never seen again.

Such was the Beijing I had left in 1947. How peaceful, relaxed, and yet how full of energy the city was now. There was an entirely different tone to everyday life. Instead of flashy Western suits and loud ties, government workers wore blue padded uniforms and cloth shoes just as they did in the mountains. Airplane heads (permanent waves) and long split gowns had gone out of style. Most girls had already bobbed their hair or braided it and wore pants like the men. Even shopkeepers and businessmen were catching onto the spirit of the times. Some already went about in Sun Yatsen-style uniforms. The countryside had taken over the city.

And the police, how their attitude had changed! They no longer yelled or swore at people. Nor did they beat them up. White megaphones had replaced guns and nightsticks. Jay walkers, light jumpers, and careless drivers were politely warned to mend their ways. It was hard to believe that these were the same corrupt, graft-ridden bullies who a few months ago had lorded it over the population.

Now they called everyone "comrade." A pedicab collided with a bicycle. Both overturned and the two men jumped up to curse one another. "Comrade," said the policeman to the pedicab driver, "if you had waited until I gave the signal, the bicycle would have passed by. We have to learn to wait our turn. The rules apply to everybody. What a mess our streets would be if they didn't. Next time try not to shove in so fast." And to the bicyclist he said: "Comrade, you too are at fault. You were peddling too fast." Taken aback by this calm approach both men looked ashamed. They righted their vehicles, apologized to each other, shook hands, and rode off. In the old days the collision could have developed into a fist fight. One or both participants might well have been arrested by the policeman and released only on payment of a fat bribe.

The *glacis* around the Legation Quarter had also changed. Ever since the Boxer Rebellion in 1900 the whole area had been cleared at the insistence of the foreign powers, to create an open field of fire for the machine gunners behind embassy

walls. Now, fifty years later, the ground had been reconquered by China and had spawned, overnight, the busiest market in town. Restoration of sovereignty over the area and the march of the Liberation Army up the main street of the Legation Quarter, where for decades no Chinese troops had been allowed, had made a lasting impression on the people of Beijing. Two months later, they were still talking about it.

Ironically, the main items for sale on this once forbidden ground were the remnants of army and PX stores left behind by the Marines—canned goods, air-force sleeping bags and parkas, GI boots, mosquito repellent, and Marine Corps knives.

We found the Ministry of Agriculture right in the heart of the theater district, next door to the great Dongan produce market and only a few blocks from Wangfujing, the busy shopping street. The buildings left much to be desired. Built by the Japanese. the two-story monstrosity of *gaoliang* stalks and plaster had several dilapidated compounds and courtyards. Bertha and I were assigned a ground floor room that contained a wooden bed, the first we had seen in a long time. In the middle of the night the bed crashed to the floor and woke the whole compound.

It is hard to describe what we felt those first few days in the city. The happy crowds, the overflowing shops, the endless streams of pedicabs and bicycles, the busy markets, the palaces, the parks, the red flags flying—all this under a clear blue sky and a warm spring sun. A city that belonged to its citizens at last, a capital and a countryside united as one and the dark days of the Kuomintang gone forever! It went to our heads like wine.

Old cadres like Zhang, Li, and Xue behaved like children. The first thing they wanted to do was to see the city's famous sights. "After all, it belongs to us now," they said, as if it were some new toy. One might have thought that old hands like Zhang, who had lived in Beijing for many years and who had graduated from college there, would have been less excited than the tractor students, some of whom had never seen a city at all. But if anything it was the old cadres who were most deeply moved. For twenty years they had lived through the most terrible trials in the countryside. Now at last they had returned as victors to the places they had known and loved.

We went, of course, to the Forbidden City, the palace of the Manchu Emperors, and tried to see all of its 999 rooms in one afternoon. We really had no chance to see anything because Zhang and Li were too excited to slow down. When I stopped to look at some old sword or tapestry. Zhang rushed me to the next courtyard to see where the Empress used to sleep. When Director Li got interested in the Empress' yellow bed, Zhang hustled on to the steam-heated conference room.

(They said the steam heat, installed by a Western firm as a gift to Her Majesty, never did work well.) And so it went. We dashed from exhibit to exhibit, and from courtyard to courtyard, laughing, calling to each other, and rushing each other forward as if afraid that the whole thing would vanish. When we were finally shooed out by the guards at closing time, the only things I could remember were a monstrous gilded clock with elaborate moving figures and chirping birds that the Emperor of Austria had sent to China in the 1890s and a large two-handed sword that only a giant could wield.

On Sunday we climbed into an open truck and went out to the Summer Palace. A lot of other trucks, charcoal burners smoking, were headed the same way. They were loaded with singing school children, government workers from various ministries and bureaus, contingents of factory workers, and soldiers. It seemed as if the whole city was going west. We were unable to hire any kind of boat. There were long lines standing at the reservation booths. We contented ourselves with tickets on the big ferry that plied between the stone boat and the island in the middle of the lake. Then we climbed the mountain that was built from material scooped from the lake bed and drank some soda at the pavilion on top. It was the first soda any of us had had for years. It didn't taste very good—lukewarm and sickeningly sweet—but soda was one of the benefits of civilization, and since we had just come out of the back country, we were in no mood to forego it.

Bertha and I were overwhelmed. Between bouts of sightseeing and celebrating, we managed to get a glimpse of the future. South Ridge was no longer going to be central to the development of mechanized agriculture. It was to be the site of just one of many state farms. Only enough drivers would stay to handle the land; the rest would be sent to new places like the South Airfield at Beijing, to the steppes of northern Chahar. across the Great Wall from Kalgan, and to Bohai. an irrigated rice farm on the Bohai Gulf north of Tianjin. Farms were also planned for Yongnian near Handan, where the land was shaped like a doughnut around the town moat, and Boai just north of the Yellow River, where the Taihang mountains began to crowd the plain. And that was only the beginning. Reports of wasteland were coming in from every province in the North. Trained people were needed, hundreds of them. A national training center would probably be set up near Beijing and a special bureau established to administer the farms

Plans and projects were developing with astonishing speed. Beijing had only been liberated a few months. South China was still in Kuomintang hands, but reconstruction was underway in the North and was rapidly gaining momentum.

How recent the Liberation was, was illustrated by the watch the soldiers kept on the city at night, especially in areas where there were government buildings. After ten or eleven it was always best to walk down the very center of the street so that whatever light there was shone fully on you, for the sentries, who were combat troops on temporary guard duty, challenged everyone who passed with a swift:

"Shui [who]?"

The proper answer was "Wo [I]" and a continued steady pace forward. But sometimes the challenge was so unexpected and so sharp that we forgot what we should say and stopped dead still. This alarmed the sentries and they came out to look us over. When they saw our faded blue jackets and visor caps they waved us on.

Chapter 12

Liberated Tianjin

The new North China Ministry of Agriculture decided to send Manager Zhang, Xue Feng, and me back to South Ridge to carry through the spring plowing. Since Bertha was not feeling well—she had an attack of dysentery and a slight fever—I persuaded her to stay behind at the Foreign Language School where there were other British and American teachers to talk to.

Zhang, Xue, and I returned to South Hebei by way of Tianjin. There, we hoped to buy oil and take possession of some grain drills that had been left behind by AMOMO, UNRRA's successor in the farm machinery business in Nationalist China.

Tianjin was busy and looked much as it had when I left it in 1947. One conspicuous difference was the absence of United States Marines. The shops and bazaars were filled with goods and the people looked prosperous. Liberation by the forces from the countryside had not had as much influence there as it had in Beijing: Tianjin had had fewer government cadres to start with and a lot more commerce and industry. The city had always had a more metropolitan flavor.

Down along the docks where we went to get oil, I overheard several workers discussing the Communist cadres.

"Look at these new cadres, they are all right," said one.

"Yes. It is quite a change. Remember those Kuomintang bastards. Each one of them had two or three concubines all wrapped in fur coats."

"These fellows bring their wives with them."

"Yes, and the women wear the same clothes as the men. They all have a lot of children too."

"Even the men wash their own clothes."

"They are ordinary people like ourselves."

"How would you like to have the others back?" "Hushuo badao [are you crazy]?"

This conversation took place a few blocks from the railroad yards where I had spent so many hours in 1947 trying to get the UNRRA tractors loaded and shipped off to the interior. Having nothing else to do, I had watched the "Battle of the Coal," the relentless struggle between the dust-blackened, rag-covered children of Tianjin and the Nationalist railroad guards. The children went after coal wherever they could find it;

they scraped it still hot from the grates of waiting engines. They pushed it lump by lump down the drainpipes of the tenders. They picked it from cars on the sidings, and they gathered it from between the rails and alongside the tracks.

The soldiers had been there to stop the children. They had guns, and they used them, not usually to kill or to wound, but to frighten.

The soldiers had kept a little fire burning off at one side, and they sat around it boiling tea, looking neither to the right nor the left. The children crept into the yard, crawled through the fence, crouched under the standing cars, scampered across the tracks, and hid behind the iron wheels.

They were lean, ragged little boys and girls not yet in their teens, shoeless and hatless, sharp eyed and nimble footed. They came by the tens, the twenties, and the fifties, hundreds of small invaders sneaking softly into the yards and disappearing in the maze of waiting trains.

When they thought the area was safe, the children came out, first two, then four, then eight, twenty, fifty—all laden with coal. Some carried lumps heavier than their own bodies, or bags taller than themselves. They ran across the open tracks, ducked under waiting freight trains, scrambled toward the yard fence, now only sixty feet away.

Suddenly the soldiers came running. The children were cut off. They fell back, dodged behind cars, under axles, behind wheels. But the

soldiers hunted them out and ran them down. The children were smart and dispersed in many directions. Some got away. Others, unable to escape with their coal, dumped it out of the bags, dropped their big lumps, and ran for safety unencumbered. A rifle barked. Then all was still. No children could be seen anywhere. Here and there in the yard, little piles of black coal lay shining under the noonday sun.

Then the soldiers summoned their own gang, a gang of small girls, to fetch the coal. The girls picked up the lumps, scooped the abandoned piles into bags, and hauled the coal off to a large heap that already contained several tons.

I had been wondering, until that moment, why the soldiers took their guard duty so seriously. They ran fast, crawled in and out among the cars as if their lives depended on it, and repeated this at intervals all day long and far into the night. Yet they seemed never to tire. They pursued the little yard waifs like angry devils hour after hour. Such loyalty among conscript guards was unheard of. That central pile of coal clarified the situation. It belonged to the soldiers. The coal stolen by the children from the cars was stolen from them in turn by the guards, who sold it for money, a very profitable sideline for men on tedious yard duty. How the children must have hated them!

Now the yards contained only trains. No children, no guards, no battle over coal. This seem-

ingly endless struggle, like so many others, had been brought to a sudden end by the victory of the Revolution.

We were buying oil from the State Oil Company which had taken over the stock of Shell and Esso. There seemed to be some confusion as to just which oil was which and what each kind was for. Clerks had a lot of samples and a lot of names but no one knew what the names meant. I finally chose a sample that looked like SAE #30 but when I got to the warehouse no one had any idea where to find the oil that would match the sample. When we got back to the central office, no one could remember where the sample had been drawn from so we started all over again. The officials of the company began to think that I was inordinately fussy, and I thought they were quite disorganized. We even had a few sharp words, but in the end Zhang smoothed things over and we got what we wanted.

Zhang advised the State Oil Company to set up a laboratory to analyze their stock and classify it according to suitable use. Without such a classification they would surely sell the wrong oil to some unsuspecting customer and do a lot of damage. They said they already had the same idea.

While waiting around for the oil, I saw my first Chinese-made movie. It was only a short, but it was excellent. It told the story of a Liberation Army detachment that billeted for the night in a small village on the Manchurian plain. One of the soldiers accidentally fired off his rifle while cleaning it. The bullet killed a small boy. For the death of the villager the soldier should, by law, have been shot.

The issue was taken to the entire village by means of an outdoor public trial. The rules of the army were read aloud, and it was made clear that the soldier merited the death penalty for criminal negligence. Some of the men in the unit rose and condemned him roundly for carelessness. They spoke of the good relations they had always maintained with the people.

Then various peasants got up to speak. They were all opposed to the death penalty. Sentencing the second boy would not bring back the first. After all, was he not a good fighter for the people? They thought he should be given another chance. Finally the dead boy's father took the floor. True, he said, he mourned the loss of his own boy, but it would not help a bit to punish the soldier. Then he made a radical suggestion. "Since I have lost my own boy, and since the young soldier is an orphan, I would like to adopt him as my own if he is willing. Then I would have a son in the Liberation Army."

This suggestion was enthusiastically approved by everyone including the unfortunate soldier. And so it was decided. The old man and his wife were beside themselves with joy. As the unit marched off the next day the father was shown rushing out to the road with an armful of white steamed bread for his new son to take along. For a long time he stood at the edge of the village and waved to the receding marchers, while they waved lack.

It was a simple story, but a powerful one, especially when viewed in the light of traditional Chinese militarism. It was portrayed with restraint and realism. The actors were not professionals, but real soldiers and real peasants: the film was a documentary rather than a studio production. I felt, as I sat in the theater, that I had actually marched into the village, stood among the people at that meeting, and marched off with the men in the end. It looked like a good beginning for a newborn movie industry.

The Tianjin Agricultural Bureau was an organization set up to take over the huge areas of government-owned land that grew rice—the only important tracts of rice in North China. The biggest of these tracts was at Xiaozhan not far from the ocean where 300,000 mu had been irrigated by canals dug by Imperial troops more than fifty years earlier. The Empress Dowager had settled her palace guard, a crack Anhui army unit, there. They reclaimed large areas of alkaline waste by washing, and planted rice. Their descendants still

farmed the area but did not own the land. The land had always belonged to the government.

Under the Kuomintang and the Japanese these fertile paddies had been a rich political plum. The annual rents amounted to an enormous quantity of rice. The right to collect these rents was sublet by various politicos to intermediaries, or second-class landlords, who sometimes further sublet the rights to still another set of intermediaries or third-class landlords. As a result the peasants who actually planted the land were reduced to extreme poverty and often ended up eating the beancake, which had been loaned to them for fertilizer by various eager banks.

The Japanese found this system in existence near Tianjin and immediately proceeded to expand it. They opened up huge additional tracts on both sides of the river and leased them out to tenants for rice culture only. This provided both a good source of rice for the Japanese armies in North China and yielded a handsome profit.

The Agricultural Bureau had inherited this vast empire with its three-tiered exploitation system, its irrigation and fertilizer experts, its accountants and clerks and hangers on, its offices in downtown Tianjin, and its warehouses bulging with last year's crops. There was a big cleanup job ahead. Wang, the man in charge, was an old college classmate of Zhang Xingsan. They had studied agriculture together at Yanjing and both

had gone from there to the countryside. Wang had a nickname—Wang Dapao, which meant "Big Gun" Wang. He was called "Big Gun" because of his booming voice and his set opinions. This stocky, broad-faced man with a shock of jet black hair that fell over his forehead had suddenly been thrust into the chair of a big business executive. He seemed to take enthusiastically to the role and found real pleasure in showing us, the country cousins, around the offices, warehouses, and multi-storied dormitories of his rice empire. Still, he looked a little out of place sitting at a big desk with a buzzer on one side and a telephone on the other, a doorman who brought tea, and a shining, twelve-year-old Hupmobile complete with chauffeur waiting at the door.

Wang and the lovely young wife who had just borne him a child lived in one room in the bureau's second hostel. This was a shabby house just off Tianjin's busiest street, Roosevelt Road—one of the few streets in the city to retain its original name.

Wang's situation was made to order for the silver bullets of corruption aimed by the city merchants against cadres just in from the country. But it looked as if Big Gun had the situation under control. A campaign to remove the first and second tier of landlords had already begun.

When we had solved the oil problem, at least for the time being, Manager Zhang and I returned to South Ridge by truck, leaving Xue Feng to wait for the railroad cars that would move the supplies. For the next six weeks we helped to carry out Jiheng Farm's first plowing.

Chapter 13

Plowing in Thousand Qing Basin

With no barriers or peasant plots to stop them, the tractors, spread out over thousands of acres, moved up and down the Thousand Qing Basin like a swarm of gray beetles. They sounded like a squadron of bombers passing overhead in the distance. Behind each plow the dark earth turned up and over to the staccato sound of snapping roots. Some of these roots were larger than a man's thumb and could stop a tractor dead if the driver did not raise the plow in time. As the new furrows fell snugly into place beside the soil already laid over, the smell of fresh earth, cool and moist, hung for a moment in the air. But the sun soon worked its way with the clods and baked them hard and dry.

One could tell when the tractors had been running well by the density of the groups of village children who were out behind the plows picking up roots for domestic fuel. When tractors broke down the children tended to cluster in large groups behind those machines that were still moving. They pushed and shoved each other for a chance at the fattest gleanings. But as soon as the breakdowns were repaired all all fifteen machines were busily at work, the children were unable to keep up with them and scattered from one end of the field to the other. When this happened, it was obvious that we had had a successful afternoon.

Such results did not come easily that first spring. The students, now suddenly converted into working drivers, still had a lot to learn. Although they knew what made the wheels go round and followed the rules carefully in caring for the Fords, they had by no means mastered them. They had not yet learned to understand the language spoken by pistons, valves, and bearings. They could not hear when trouble was brewing and thus could not prevent it. There was little that I could do about it anymore: at that point, experience was the best teacher.

Every breakdown was a minor tragedy. We had no spare parts, almost no tools, only one barrel of light oil, and a few cans of grease. First the fan belts gave way. Even when properly adjusted, they cracked and came apart. We sewed them, we

patched them, we tried various substitutes, and in the end had to abandon several tractors because we had no belts for them. A few days later the water pump bearings started to go. The first one broke with a smash that sent the fan into the radiator. We repaired the radiator with solder but we could not solder the shaft or revive the bearings. We had to start cannibalizing.

Cannibalizing in a tractor park is like an accelerating epidemic. To keep one machine running you remove a part from another. The next time something breaks, another part is snatched away, and then another and another until only a crippled hulk remains. Then the disease spreads. Soon there are two hulks, then three, four . . .

I was opposed to this on principle but there was no way out. We had to render some tractors useless in order to keep the rest going. By putting sound parts together we managed to keep fifteen of the twenty tractors in the field.

As water pump bearings continued to fail, we tried to rejuvenate them by packing in new grease. We became expert at determining the precise degree of wobble that could be tolerated without disaster. Then generators began to overheat, coils quit sparking, plugs cracked, thermostats in the radiator hoses broke. The cannibalism went on. But so did the plowing. And suddenly we found that the plow points were worn out. A week

of breaking that hard soil was all a chilled steel plowshare could stand.

I advised Manager Zhang to find a blacksmith and, for once, luck was with us. In a village less than five *li* away, he found a young man who had worked in Beijing factories and was familiar with modern forging methods. Together blacksmith Liu and I learned how to sharpen shares and temper them again. From that day on, the village rang with the sound of hammering. We had no sooner solved the problem of the shares than the furrow wheel springs began to give way. But this too, blacksmith Liu remedied with new springs stripped from wrecked trucks and sold in the market at Shijiazhuang.

The men of the technical group were organized into a flying repair squad. Each had a bicycle and a set of tools. To make up these sets we divided all the tools on the farm. They roamed the fields looking for trouble, or, to be more exact, rushing from one trouble spot to the next. When they found a problem they could not solve, they sent for me.

Weeks passed in a nightmare rush. The days blurred into each other. And so did the sharp outlines of the peoples' characters, for the work dominated everything and fused everyone together into a team that had only one thought—to keep the tractors running and finish the plowing. The whole farm was put on two shifts. We rose at odd

hours, and with our heads still heavy with sleep, worked, ate, and fell to sleep exhausted again, plagued, even in our dreams, by frayed fan belts, wobbling water pumps, and stalled tractors. And yet, as June surged into July, a little order emerged from chaos. More and more often we achieved periods when, for hours on end, nothing went wrong.

On one such afternoon I sat in the middle of the work area waiting for something to break or stop. The roar of the engines receded and grew and then receded again as first this machine, and then that one drew away, approached, and then drew away once more. I tried to watch all the tractors at once and to notice whether the plowing was even, whether the soil stuck to the shares, whether anyone had the throttle pulled open too far. Every nerve was taut. I listened to the throb of each motor as if it were my own heart. It seemed impossible for steel and iron to stand the strain of that tremendous speed much longer. Inside the motor blocks shafts, rods, and bearings whirled around several thousand times a minute. Surely something must break. And yet minutes passed, the sun sank lower, and the unbroken waves of sound continued.

I watched the different drivers going by. Li Zhenrong sat straight as a rod, like a novice on a skittery horse. She had no feel for the machine at all, but she was determined to master it. With every muscle tense, she grasped the wheel with one hand and the hydraulic control lever with the other. She kept her eyes on the furrow ahead and saw neither to the right nor to the left. She had no way of knowing what the plow was doing behind her, because whenever she made an effort to look around, the tractor swerved.

Zhang Ming too was stiff, though more at ease than Li Zhenrong. He whistled under his breath as the tractor roared along.

Liu Boying, a husky peasant, sat in the seat as if he belonged there. As he came down the far side of the field. I noticed that he was sitting half sideways so that he could look both ways easily. But he was so absorbed in the plowing that he didn't even notice the uneven sound of his engine.

"Hey, Lao Liu," I shouted, "don't you hear anything wrong with that motor of yours?"

He stopped and looked surprised.

"The engine? I didn't hear anything."

A quick test showed that one plug was not firing. We cleaned the plug off, set the gap, and replaced it. He went off with all four cylinders firing smoothly.

But troubles never came singly. I had no sooner straightened out Liu Boying than No. 10, No. 3, and No. 18 all stopped. One had a plugged gas line, another a plow that wouldn't raise, the third a generator that had ceased to charge. A half hour

of feverish work got them moving again and I had a chance to sit down.

Just then Manager Zhang came striding across the plowed land, stooping every now and then to pick up a handful of dirt and examine it with evident concern.

"How do you like the looks of that dirt?" I asked him.

"I'm afraid it won't do too well," he said. "I thought that with all this grass it would be full of organic matter, but it isn't. And there are too many salty patches."

"What can we do about them?"

"That's what I'm worrying about. There is a plant that thrives on alkali and also makes good fertilizer. Maybe we can plant a lot of it around, chop it, and plow it under. But that will take years."

"Anyway," I said, "the plowing is going well. The students have done well today."

"Yes," said Zhang. And then, as he surveyed the basin with one glance: "That is quite a sight."

As we stood there on that endless flat under the huge canopy of the sky, the machines breaking, the abandoned land all around us, and the sun slowly falling toward the rim of the world, a sense of deep contentment, a sudden awareness of the richness of life swept over us like a warm wind. We did not say anything; we just stood and watched and listened and let the full excitement and wonder of this new work sink in. Where would it lead us, and these young drivers, and China and the world? This was not the first time that I had seen the tractors go into action on the North China plain, but this was the first time they had really settled in, really come to grips with Chinese agriculture. From this place and through the efforts of these very people forty centuries of farming would be transformed. Could there be any doubt of it?

"You know," Manager Zhang said finally, "we'll have to begin thinking of livestock. How can crops be grown on a scale such as this without livestock? We'll have to raise dairy cattle." Yes, he too was dreaming. A vision of the farm as it must someday be was already forming. The great expanse of flat broken by windbreaks, an irrigation system bringing water from the Yellow River hundreds of miles away. Fields of wheat and cotton alternating with wide meadows of clover. Cows, sheep, and pigs grazing in deep alfalfa, and on the high ground great barns rearing their bulk against the sky. All this was not so hard to see in the mind's eye.

It began to get dark. The roar of the engines ceased. It was time to change shifts, to grease and gas up for the night work. We went in to supper. In the dimly lit courtyard we squatted down with the drivers and gulped the hot millet as if breaking a three-day fast. All around grease-stained, dust-begrimed youngsters who had been raw stu-

dents only a few weeks before ate with the appetites of laboring men.

No one said very much. They were all too tired and hungry. They only shoveled the yellow grain into their mouths, chewed, swallowed, and filled their bowls once more.

On the flat the motors sprang to life again. Lights came on and began their steady motion north and south. I climbed to the top of the landlord's tower, which the farm had already repaired and from which one could see the whole sweep of the basin. The lights of the tractors floated like will-o'-the-wisps over a dark sea.

It was easy to see why the peasants in faraway villages had mistaken these lights for dancing fairies and fox spirits when the night shift first began. To quiet their alarm the county chairman's office had had to send messengers throughout the district. They assured the old folk and the superstitious ones that it was not fox spirits but the iron oxen of the Ministry of Agriculture working at night to get the land plowed before the summer rains set in

Chapter 14

Sugar-Coated Bullets

By the time the late July rains began to fall, 12,000 mu of wasteland had been plowed. All the gasoline on the farm had been used. Breakdowns had reached such proportions that cannibalism no longer solved the problem. A rest was imperative.

The tractors were driven or towed back to the shed and jacked up. Buyers were sent off to Tian-jin to get parts, while the drivers began a series of meetings to study the lessons of the spring work. Now that practical work had begun, such meetings were considered even more essential than they had been during the study period. The object of the meetings was to go over the whole six weeks of plowing, discover mistakes, analyze the reasons for them, and take steps to correct them.

"Do not fear mistakes, fear only repeating them," was the slogan.

Those who had done well were praised, those who had been lazy or careless were criticized. During the course of these meetings the Communist Party branch of Jiheng Farm decided to recruit three new members into its ranks. The three were Liu Boying, Dong Xiaoping, and Liu Zhengzong.

Before they could become candidates for membership, these three had to go before a mass meeting of the whole farm and listen to criticism and suggestions. Serious objections on the part of the rank and file could prevent their acceptance into the Party.

Liu Boying and Dong Xiaoping were steady, hardworking drivers who had done their utmost ever since coming to South Ridge. The other drivers had nothing but praise for them. In regard to Liu Zhengzong, however, there were differing opinions.

Of the seventy students who graduated from the training class, Liu Zhengzong alone had been picked to train as a truck driver. This was a special honor. Manager Zhang chose him because he wanted someone of strong character and principles to counter the dissolute, devil-may-care tradition which seemed to have claimed almost everyone connected with transport under the old regime.

While the rest of the young people were out on the flat plowing under the hot sun Liu was on the highway with truck driver Wang, rolling from one town to the next. They traveled to Weixian, Handan on the Beijing-Hankou Line, Hengshui, Linqing, and Dexian. They hauled seed, supplies, lumber, cement, and iron.

Although he was of peasant origin, travel was not new to Liu. He came to South Ridge from the People's Liberation Army where he had served for several years as a bodyguard for a leading member of the Communist Central Committee. As a guard he had traveled widely, met well-known people, listened in on important policy meetings, and learned a great deal about the world. He had also learned to read and write and had studied the writings of Mao Zedong. He was intelligent, alert, and anxious to serve. If he had any fault it was a touch of vanity. This was common among the bodyguards of leading men, for the latter treated their guards like sons and tended to spoil them. The work was light, the life exciting. It was easy to forget how ordinary soldiers and peasants lived and toiled.

As truck driver Wang's assistant, Liu was in a difficult position. He had to live on good terms with Wang, be a good pupil, obey orders, and at the same time set an example to the older man in honesty, frugal living, and service.

Liu tried hard, but rumors kept coming back from the towns through which they passed that Jiheng drivers ate well, sometimes took a drink, and occasionally stayed in private inns instead of the government hostels where lodging was free.

When Liu got up to speak about his work, he mentioned none of this but criticized himself for being slow at learning: "I have been on the road for several weeks already but I have not yet learned how to handle the truck. I cannot shift gears smoothly. The other day I carelessly backed into a building and broke one of the tailboards. I haven't enough regard for the people's property.

"I have also quarreled with Lao Wang because I thought he did not give me a chance to learn. During the whole time he has only let me drive for a few hours. But I should be more patient. There are a lot of things to learn about the truck besides holding the wheel and shifting gears."

"This really is no criticism at all," said Jiao, who had gone with the truck on one trip to help load some scrap iron. "You say you haven't learned fast enough, but then it turns out that it is Lao Wang's fault anyway. I think you ought to speak about living on the road. During this period, when the country is going through such difficulties, we all ought to live in a simple, frugal way. But when the truck got to Weixian we passed by several good restaurants until we came to a fancy one where there were other trucks parked. We went in and

sat down with other drivers and everyone ordered expensive dishes. Chopped cakes with sliced meat, noodles with eggs, even meat dumplings. I ordered a couple of *mantou* (steamed bread), but I was the only one. Some of the drivers ordered wine. They were matching fingers for drinks and making a lot of noise. And outside sat our truck with Jiheng State Farm written right across the hood in gold letters..."

Before he had a chance to finish, Gang, the buyer, jumped up and launched into a speech on the same subject. "I have often been in Wei County. I have spoken to many people there. The peasants say: 'Nothing but the best for the State Farm. Up at Jiheng they live in real style. They can teach anybody how to spend the people's millet.' I say our truck drivers are giving the farm a bad name."

"Right," said Lao Ying, the tinsmith. "It is no harder to drive a truck than to sit on a tractor all day. Just because truck drivers are out on the road is no reason why they have to have a special diet. There are simple things for sale in restaurants. In the cab of the truck you are not even in the sun. There is a cool breeze blowing, so why should you want meat and dumplings when everyone else is eating millet?"

"You make it sound very pleasant," said Lao Hei, who had driven trucks himself for many years and had also been out on the road for Jiheng Farm. "There is a lot of trouble on the road. Things break down. Then you have to walk miles and miles to get to some town. You have to sleep outdoors and guard the truck and work without food or sleep to repair it. It's not like a game of basketball. More than once I have had to drink water out of the radiator because there was no other water to be found. And in the rainy season the roads are nothing but mud holes. You get stuck all the time and have to battle every inch of the way. There is no off shift—now we'll eat—and no on shift—now we'll work. You have to get where you are going."

For a moment it looked as if an argument would develop over the difficulties of trucking as compared to tractor driving but Manager Zhang put the discussion back on the track.

"Every work has its difficulties," he said. "There is no point arguing that. Such an argument can never be settled. The question of simple living, of a proletarian style of work, is something else again. What do you have to say about that?" he asked, turning to Liu Zhengzong.

"Well," said Liu, trying hard to remember, "we did usually get together with other drivers and we bought good food. I didn't pay much attention to it. I ate what Lao Wang ate. Everyone seemed to take it for granted."

"But why didn't you speak out? Do you have to follow somebody, even when it is extravagant and wasteful?" asked Li Zhenrong.

"I was Lao Wang's apprentice," said Liu.

"You talk as if this were the old society-apprentice and master. But that is not true. You are equal even if one is learning and the other is teaching. You can raise criticisms. You can refuse to join the banquet. What has that got to do with driving?"

"What good is a Party member who doesn't stand up for the truth?" asked former militiaman Guo. "A Party member has to have backbone and courage to speak out even if he is all alone."

"This question is an important one," said Manager Zhang, "because we all represent the People's Government. If we do not set a good example of hard work and service to the people, who will? Right now when we are on the threshold of victory we must steel ourselves against new temptations. The sugar-coated bullets of the merchants and manufacturers are as dangerous to us as the steel and lead of the enemy. Soon many of us will be going to the cities to study, to buy, to plan. If we cannot maintain our integrity, if we cannot resist the corruption of city life, our whole revolution can easily collapse.

"To maintain our working style in the face of such difficulties is much harder than to plow all day in the sun or to drive all night through the mud. Up to now Comrade Liu didn't pay enough attention to these matters. He was thinking about learning to drive and he let Comrade Wang set the style in everything. But it is just because he is young, and because he has been raised in the revolutionary army under the leadership of our Communist Party that we expect him to stand firm for what is right, what is fitting and honest.

"Our farm is here to show the people a new way. If it is successful, perhaps in the future our whole country can eat dumplings every day. But that time is a long way off. In the meantime we must live as the peasants do and set a good example. We must justify and maintain their faith in us. This is especially important for our truck drivers because they represent us all over the province. They must carry our honest and simple way of living with them wherever they go, so that people will know that we are serious hardworking people who are doing our best for the future of China."

After Manager Zhang stopped speaking nobody said anything. Manager Zhang lit a cigarette, Liu looked at the ground as if he were thinking hard. Finally he looked up and began to speak.

"It is true. I did not take a forthright stand. I thought, 'It is better to get along with Lao Wang and learn to drive.' But that was wrong. I have done our work much harm. Progress cannot be made without a struggle. I will certainly do better in the future. We have always lived simply here at South Ridge. Certainly we can do the same wherever we travel. I pledge myself to do that."

Everyone thought Liu Zhengzong really meant what he said. His candidacy for membership in the Communist Party was approved.

Chapter 15

Trains, Shops, and a Pacifist

In late July, a few days after the plowing ended. Manager Zhang and I went to Beijing for a second visit. Zhang was to take over the leadership of the new State Farm Management Bureau. I went along to advise him on technical problems until work should begin again in the basin. A student, Ma Lianxiang, went with us. He was bound for the tractor brigade at Beijing's South Airfield. On our departure Big Yang, the local man, once again took over the management of Jiheng Farm.

Before leaving, we three travelers were guests of honor at a wonderful farewell party. The farm cook suddenly blossomed forth with all sorts of fine pork and chicken dishes that no one had suspected he could make. In between courses cadres and tractor drivers wandered from table to table challenging everyone to empty a cupful of the best Hengshui wine. Zhang and I were the object of a veritable bottoms-up offensive and drank enough to feel quite dizzy.

It was a warm send-off and we needed it because the weather outside was terrible. The rainy season had already begun. The roads were a foot deep in mud. Even the two strongest mules could hardly pull the lightly loaded can across the flat. The mud kept riding up and jamming the wheels. We had to wade around in water up to our knees and dig the wheels out with our hands.

At Hengshui, we caught the night train to Dezhou. We found seats in a large roomy chair car and settled down for the night. What I remember best about the trip was the program the train crew put on for the enlightenment of the passengers. The conductor and the brakeman took turns shouting through a megaphone. They not only called out the stations, reminded passengers not to forget their luggage, not to lean out the window or hold children outside the train for toilet functions, but they also gave short talks and lectures between stops. The main topic of the evening was sanitary childbirth. The conductor said that most infant deaths could be avoided by taking simple sanitary precautions. The midwife should wash her hands, the scissors should be sterilized with boiling water, and only clean boiled clothes should be used. Everyone listened very intently and fell

into discussion when the conductor passed on to the next car for a repeat performance. Since most of the passengers were peasants it was a topic of considerable concern to them. Countless village babies died of blood poisoning and tetanus at birth because the country people did not understand anything about bacteria. As the train chugged back and forth to Dezhou, it became a sort of school on wheels, the passengers, with nothing else to do, listened eagerly, and the train crew, anxious to serve them, had time to explain many important matters.

At Dezhou we had to wait many hours. We hired a room at a tumbled-down inn and tried to sleep but the bedbugs made rest fitful. The town had suffered heavily during the war. The station had been bombed to rubble and beyond the freight yards along the westbound track more than a score of wounded locomotives lay half buried in the fields. They looked like stricken hippos, their great sides ripped open by bomb fragments and peppered with bullet holes.

The station was crowded with people from every part of the plain, peasants on their way to the city, soldiers in transit, cadres from various training schools on their way to take up new jobs. It finally turned out that the passenger train would not be in until the next afternoon because the rains had washed out several big bridges down the line, so we all climbed into a train of freight

cars bound for Tianjin. The cars were jammed. Most of the passengers were peasants from the cotton country through which we had been passing. They were on their way to Kalgan and northern Chahar with handspun, home woven cloth.

They told us that in the North cloth was selling well, any kind of cloth, and that one could buy cattle very cheaply in return.

With transportation available for the first time in many years, machine-made textiles were flooding the plain and undercutting homemade cloth. But across the mountains in Chahar, where no cotton was grown and the people wore clothes made of sheepskin, homespun was still very much in demand.

The cloth these men carried was lovely to look at and very long lasting. Many bolts were fashioned of natural brown cotton or of pinstriped brown and white. Because the threads were handspun, there was a roughness and variation in the weave that lent it a rustic charm. In America it would sell on the luxury market at very high prices; here it was considered old fashioned and crude.

Each of the peddlers carried only fifty to seventy pounds of cloth with him. They bought the cheapest rail tickets and took along bags of steamed bread and corn cakes to eat during the ten day round trip.

I sat with three men who were all from the same village.

"Why do you all go?" I asked. "Why not send one man off with all the cloth, save the other fares, and save the time of two men, and share the profits?"

This suggestion did not meet with favor. The men looked at each other, and then back at me as if at a loss for words.

Finally one of them said: "With one ticket we can only take one bundle. If we took more we'd have to buy another ticket."

"Even so you'd save two men's time."

To that they had no answer. I decided that they had not reached the point in their village where they would trust one another to take such a trip. This was typical of peasant individualism. It was each man for himself.

"In some villages the co-op handles the sale of homespun," one of them said. "We don't have a co-op yet."

It was exciting to travel up the line on a train after all I had seen on this roadbed during the UNRRA days. It had been destroyed from Tangguantun to Jinan during the three years of the civil war. The rails had been buried and the ties burned. Huge ditches had been dug in the embankment, first from one side and then from the other, to make repair work as difficult as possible.

I had wondered if the railroad ever would be restored. Yet here, only a few months after the liberation of the region, we glided smoothly over that same roadbed.

The station buildings were still in ruins, but at each stop merchants and stall keepers were doing a thriving business in hastily thrown up mat sheds. Each railroad center had overnight become a thriving vortex of life and commerce. The communities readjusted as if trade had never been interrupted.

We spent a night in Tianjin. The city was brilliantly lit and the streets were crowded with shoppers. We found a dazzlingly clean shop that sold ice cream, a dozen flavors, and treated ourselves to several scoops apiece.

As we stood on the street watching the crowds go by, a young girl and her boyfriend passed in front of us. They were holding hands. Ma Lianxiang was shocked. This was his first trip to the city. He had never seen people holding hands in public before. Such an open display would never be tolerated in the villages of the Taihang. He thought surely the girl must be a prostitute. Why else the waved hair and the lipstick? We had a hard time convincing him that ordinary working people dressed that way in the big cities and that holding hands was a legitimate sign of affection.

Lao Ma was going through the same experience as tens of thousands of other country cadres. They had years of the most intense social experience behind them—war, revolution, guerrilla fighting, land reform, the organization of peasant unions and village councils. In judging

the people and the events they knew they were extremely sophisticated. But when faced for the first time with city life, they appeared naive. All sorts of stories went around about the takeover teams that didn't know what toilets were for, or how to turn on an electric light. But the honesty of the rural cadres, their willingness to learn, and their hard work soon won them the respect of the city population.

When I finally got back to Beijing I found that Bertha already had a permanent job at the language school and a big room in the former Japanese barracks in the embassy quarter.

I spent the next few weeks buying parts and equipment for Jiheng and for several new farms in Beijing and Tianjin. The wealth of tools and parts in Beijing made all of us feel as if we had stumbled into paradise. Among the north wall of the Temple of Heaven I discovered a wonderful hardware market. The long winding street was packed from one end to the other with stalls selling second-hand tools and parts. Taps, dies, cylinder gauges, fine micrometers, and microscopes mingled there with old toilet bowls, worn tires, pink and blue bathtubs, pitchforks from upstate New York, and baby-carriage wheels.

I went there first to buy canvas. I found a little shop run by an old couple, or to be more accurate, occupied by an old couple and run by the old lady. They specialized in taking American army tents apart and selling the canvas in strips. I bought enough to make covers for all the tractors. There was no fixed price on anything. I had to bargain and hoped that I knew more about values than the old lady, which, of course, was unlikely. Quite accidentally I came across a brand new Ford tractor coil lying innocently in a nearby stall. It had undoubtedly been stolen several years before from the UNRRA supplies bound for Suiyuan. I tried to hide my excitement and pick it up cheaply. But the wily merchant sensed the excitement and asked a fantastic price. Although it was worth its weight in gold to us, I left it there, knowing that no one else could ever use it. Each time I went back we dickered over it and he finally agreed to sell for half his original figure. It was still not cheap.

Tianjin boasted an even more extensive market. Instead of a single street, a whole city block of twisting alleys was packed from one end to the other with shops. Some of them specialized in pressure gauges, some in chain, others had everything imaginable: wrenches, bolts, nuts, pipe fittings. None of them were more than eight feet square. The owners lived in the middle of their inventory. They put boards across stools and unrolled their bedding in the shop at night. In the daytime they sat out front, sorted and resorted their wares, and tried to interest everyone who passed in a sale.

It was tantalizing to see the fine tools, the beautiful welding outfits, the precision instruments. The most prosperous of the merchants were worth many thousands of dollars. Most of their stock was leftover American goods. Since, due to the blockade, there were no new imports, prices were high and trending higher. The merchants held us up for everything they could.

While having lunch at the Victoria Restaurant, on one of these Tianjin shopping expeditions, I ran into Ann Liu, who had once worked in the UNRRA Tianjin office. She said she was working for the Standard Oil Company. Through her I learned that her sister Mary, also a former UNRRA employee, was employed at Jardin Mathieson's, the big British import-export firm of Opium War fame. I dropped in to see Mary. She was very excited. She invited me to come to dinner and see her father and mother. They lived in a prosperous-looking two-story apartment in one of the former foreign concessions. Old Mr. Liu was well known in the city. He was an early member of the Kuomintang Party and a close follower of Sun Yat-sen. When Chiang Kai-shek took over the Kuomintang and joined the foreign police in slaughtering the Shanghai workers' battalions, Liu broke with him and went into retirement. Now he was a member of the Tianjin City People's Political Consultative Council and met with people from all walks of life to determine how the city should be run.

This family was a study in contrasts. It was typical of many well-to-do families of the post-World War I generation. The older girls, Mary and Ann, were educated in Tianjin's American School, spoke English with an American accent, and read and wrote it much better than they did Chinese. All their lives they had read American magazines, followed American fashions, and tried to ape Hollywood in their dress and manner. In every way they were more like sophisticated Bostonians or Philadelphians than they were Tianjinese. On the strength of their language ability they had been able to get good jobs with foreign firms and international agencies.

The younger girls, on the other hand (there were four sisters and two brothers in the family), grew up after the family fortune had begun to wane, when the Japanese occupied the treaty ports and the whole Chinese people had risen up to fight for survival. The younger girls went to Chinese schools, wore Chinese clothes, and were moved by the currents of thought and feeling that stirred China. All their ties were to their own people. The third sister, instead of learning English and taking a job with some foreign firm, had joined the revolutionary student movement when she was in college, and had gone, with thousands of other students, to the Liberated Areas. She had

been at North China University in Zhengding when I was teaching English there and told me that she had seen me buying peanuts on the street.

From Zhengding she made a very important trip back to Tianjin to see her father. Her father was a cousin and close friend of Fu Zuoyi, the general in command of the Kuomintang's North China armies. At the time of Tianjin's collapse before the Northeastern People's Liberation Army, Fu had 500,000 troops at his disposal, half of them centered around Beijing. If he had decided to defend the city, a bloody and destructive battle would have been inevitable. It would have resulted in untold damage to the people and the destruction of irreplaceable architectural monuments. If he could be persuaded to surrender peacefully, the war in the North would be over. A precedent would be set for other holdout armies. Countless lives would be saved.

Mary's sister made a dangerous trip back across the lines to persuade her father to go and see Fu Zuoyi and urge him to surrender peacefully. The old man made the journey. Within a few days the surrender was arranged. One quarter of a million men laid down their arms without a fight.

Just how important Liu's mission was is hard to say. General Fu's army was doomed in any case. To fight would have meant sure defeat, for he was surrounded on all sides. He had been listed as a major war criminal. In return for his surrender he

was offered, instead of punishment, a high position in the new government. But Liu, at the least, added one more voice to those urging surrender and thus helped to remove a tremendous obstacle standing in the way of the Revolution.

What made Liu decide to see Fu Zuoyi and urge a peaceful settlement? I thought perhaps he was a revolutionary at heart who saw that China's salvation lay in throwing out the corrupt Chiang regime and putting into practice Sun Yat-sen's three principles. But as I talked to him, it turned out that he was a pacifist who was sick at heart and grieved at the interminable war going on in China. He thought that Mao Zedong could bring peace and urged his cousin to surrender without a fight in the interest of peace for the whole country.

Old Mr. Liu showed me a manuscript he had been working on for many years. It was on pacifism. He was opposed to war, all war. He did not agree with the Communist leaders that only through a war of national liberation, a people's war against the landlords, the compradors, and the foreign powers who held China in bondage could peace be won. Nevertheless, he did his share to bring about victory for the popular forces and for that he was highly honored by the government and by the people of Tianjin.

To depend entirely on leftover parts found in the markets of Tianjin and Beijing would have eventually led to disaster. The Ministry of Agriculture took over the Farm Implement Factory outside Beijing's east wall and began to make whatever could not be bought. We went there first for plowshares. With the aid of the factory technicians, we worked out methods for making cold cast iron shares that lasted much longer than the steel shares that had originally come with the tractors. They were brittle, but there were very few stones in the North China Plain. The cast iron shares usually lasted without breaking until they were worn out. Then they were melted down for recasting.

The Farm Implement Factory was growing rapidly. New buildings were under construction. All the forges, steam hammers, lathes, and other machine tools were going full blast making irrigation pumps and new type horse-drawn plows. The place had certainly changed since the day in 1947 when I visited it with Skuce, the UNRRA deepwell expert. Then, the Kuomintang man in charge had shown us around almost empty buildings. He had talked at length about what he would do when he got new machinery and equipment from America. In the meantime half the equipment that he already had stood idle. In the whole plant we had seen only a few dozen workers, mostly blacksmiths desultorily beating straight some twisted iron. Unfinished pumps, started by the Japanese, lay rusting in the yard. The place was, if not dead, at least dying.

With the Liberation, it had sprung to life, as had industry and commerce elsewhere. No one waited any longer for equipment from abroad. As a matter of fact, many valuable machines from America were found stored in crates in the warehouse. The workers immediately put every machine and tool available into operation and started new farm tools rolling off the assembly lines in ever-increasing numbers. A new furnace was built to keep up with the demand for cast iron. Repair parts for the huge paper mill across the road were turned out and that too went into production. Both plants were alive with workers, messengers, and engineers rushing from shop to shop. It was as if a winter ice jam had suddenly thawed and set the currents of production free.

What was the basis for the thaw? The land reform. Now that the peasants had land, there was, all at once, a huge new market in the countryside for farm tools, pumps, fertilizer, and insecticide. Not far from the Farm Implement Factory a new insecticide plant was under construction, while in the city a branch plant made hand pumps and sprayers. The factories could not keep up with demand, nor was there any hope of doing so. After hundreds of years of stagnation, the countryside had started on the road to mechanization and change. With the formation of land-pool-

ing co-ops, hand sprayers and one-man plows would soon give way to full sets of horse-drawn implements, and these in turn would be replaced by tractors and power machines of all kinds. No wonder the workers hurried.

The needs of China's expanding agriculture pressed the workers in these plants almost as hard as the end of summer pressed the tractor drivers at South Ridge. They had plowed 10,000 acres of wasteland and now had to get it sown to wheat—the first attempt at mechanized planting ever undertaken in North China.

Chapter 16

Autumn Sowing

By the middle of October, the breath of winter already hung on the air. For days on end clouds filled the sky. Strong winds blew down from the west and the geese, flying southward in enormous wedges, battled to stay on course. Then suddenly the clouds blew out to sea. We looked up at a clear blue sky that went on to infinity, transparent and bright in every direction. In the early morning, after the dew had cleaned the air, we could see all the way to the Taihang mountains, a row of wolf fangs on the distant horizon. But the sun was small in that vast expanse and the days did not get warm even at noon.

The village fields were already beginning to look as barren as the wastelands of Thousand Qing Basin. The tall sorghum called *gaoliang* that grew rank and lean like something out of a pri-

meval fen had long since been cut down. The millet, too, with its plump drooping heads, had been carted to the threshing floors. Only some ragged corn stalks and a few wisps of unpicked cotton remained in the fields where beans were stacked to dry. The earth, the bare brown earth, which for a few weeks had been smothered under a luxuriant mantle of green growth, now dominated the countryside once more.

The peasants were busy at the threshing floors rolling out the millet with stone rollers, throwing the chaff into the air and watching it float downwind as the yellow grain fell back. Piles of millet, glistening, golden—the very wellspring of life—grew and multiplied. The village chickens would not stay away even though the peasants stationed their children to drive them off with whips. The many-colored birds gathered at the edge of the beaten ground and darted in to pick up stray grains as soon as the children looked the other way.

The roads resounded with the creaking and clattering of iron-tired peasant carts hauling public grain to the railroad station at Hengshui. There, a field of enormous reed-mat silos sprang up like a rash of plump toadstools.

In doorways and courtyards village women were padding winter clothing with new cotton. They made clothes for themselves and their children and uniforms for the men in the army. As people donned their new padded suits, they sud-

denly appeared larger, stouter, and, for a few days at least, well-scrubbed and clean.

On the flat east of Han Family Village, militiaman Guo's brigade was busy seeding the last of the winter wheat. It was late in the season for planting wheat but it was unavoidable. As I sat on the trailer that carried the seed and watched the two bright green grain drills move across the fallow land I thought of all the troubles and delays of the last few months.

First the rains had come. They so stimulated the growth of the grass that it soon covered the basin with a mass of green that reached higher than a man's waist. Within a few weeks, the spring plowing was obliterated. Manager Yang ordered the land re-plowed. But the supply department was not prepared for such duplication of effort, and after a week the tractors ran out of oil. A man was sent to Shijiazhuang to see what he could pick up. He came back with a barrel of "engine" oil. The oil was dark, but appeared to be of good quality. Lao Hei, who had risen to the position of head mechanic, said to go ahead and use it. Within a few days bearings started to fail. Soon all the tractors were laid up with seized rods. Black gum stuck to the pistons, crankshafts, and cylinder walls. The oil, it turned out, was designed for use on the working parts of locomotives. The engines referred to on the label were steam engines.

This mass breakdown was a major tragedy. For a while it looked as if the whole year's work would come to naught. Everyone made melancholy self-criticisms and vowed never again to be careless about oil. A plea for emergency help was sent to Beijing. Parts, mechanics, and a technician named Jiao Shiru were rushed south by truck.

The disaster turned out to be less serious than had at first been imagined. When all the gum was scraped away, most parts were found to be in working order. Enough tractors were renovated to resume the plowing.

Then the supply department ran out of gasoline. Gasoline was being shipped up river from Tianjin on barges, but low water delayed the boatmen. When I arrived to see how things were progressing I found the tractors and grain drills parked motionless at the edge of the basin. The drivers anxiously paced their quarters.

To wait for boats that never came was intolerable. I finally decided to set out for Yongnian. There, another farm, organized a few months before, had been flooded out and rumor had it that twenty drums of gasoline had been stowed away. The trip turned into a comedy of errors. I set out with Jiao Shiru in a new Dodge truck. The *Daji*, as it is called in China, is the favorite truck. Jiao was happy to be in one. But even a *Daji* can't steer itself. We lost our way. When we finally got to Yongnian we found that the farm manager

was not the least interested in helping out Jiheng. With his own land under water he had problems enough. We tried to persuade him that we would soon return the borrowed gasoline. He was not moved

In the city of Handan we had a stroke of luck. We located vast stocks of UNRRA oil in the supply department of the government transportation company. We bought the oil, gave some of it to Yongnian's sour chief, and got in return twelve drums of gasoline. With a trailer loaded with oil and a truck full of fuel, we started back to South Ridge.

Halfway home the truck slowed down and stalled. Try as we would, we could not get it to start up again. It was October 1, the day of the founding of the People's Republic of China. In every city and village and town of North China, joyous celebrations were under way welcoming the dawn of a new era. In Beijing a seventy gun salute ushered in Chairman Mao's announcement: "The Central People's Government Council of the People's Republic of China took office today in this capital."

A vast parade of soldiers, workers, students, and ordinary citizens from town and country surged across the square in front of the Gate of Heavenly Peace. Two hundred thousand people assembled to watch the parade. Dancing and rejoicing continued until dawn.

As we struggled with the recalcitrant motor, Jiao and I could hear firecrackers going off in the villages that lay around us on the plain. We spent the night in a cotton field. The next day, a message sent through to Jixian brought Lao Hei on a tractor. He towed us home with a flourish, as peasants along the road shook their heads at the sight of the little Ford tractor lugging behind it such a huge truck and heavily loaded trailer.

"That's truly a *daomei jiqi* [a hard luck machine]," said one old man as we roared through a narrow village alley.

The final irony was yet to come. When we got back to South Ridge the barges had arrived. As we rolled across the last flat, we saw the grain drills at work as if nothing had ever delayed them.

When I thought of all these things I burst out laughing. Now that they were over they seemed funny. Just then militiaman Guo jumped up on the trailer and sat down beside me.

"We won't get finished today," he said. "Shall we keep going all night?"

"How are the lights?"

"There ought to be enough good lights to equip two tractors. I'm only afraid they won't be able to see the mark." He meant the furrow cut in the ground by a steel disc attached to the drill. It marked a line for the tractor wheel to follow.

"I think they'll see the mark all right," I said. "Let's try it."

Guo passed the word around that work would continue until the job was done. The drivers were in favor of it. They gassed up their machines, checked the oil and water, and then knocked off for half an hour to eat supper. By the time night fell they were at work again.

The night was clear and brilliant. So many stars came out that it looked as if a bag of millet had been spilled across the sky. Whether it was the moisture in the air or the coolness of the season, or the superior quality' of the oil that we had unearthed in Handan I do not know: whatever the reason, the tractors purred on hour after hour without a halt or break, as if trying to demonstrate at last their dependability'.

Lao Guo and I sat on the trailer and wrapped ourselves in cotton quilts to keep warm. When the seed boxes on the drills were empty we helped load them full again. Other than that there was nothing to do. We fell to talking about the days when Guo fought in the Taihang militia.

He taught me a song that went like this:

Taihang mountains
High, oh high!
A hundred times ten thousand men
Take up the cry.
Young men of the soil
Fear not shell or knife
Each shot we fire
Takes an enemy life.

"Were there really a hundred times ten thousand men fighting in the Taihang?" I asked.

"Of course, maybe even more," said Guo, "and that's not counting the regulars. Our mountains are perfect for guerrilla warfare. Even village had twenty or thirty organized men.

"In our county there is a cave, the famous Lizheng cave. No one knows how deep into the mountain it goes, for no one has ever been to the end. A river of clear water flows out from its mouth. We used to hide there when the *guizi* [Japanese devils] came.

"It was right near that cave that we won our first battle. When the burn-all, loot-all, kill-all campaign began, everyone was frightened. Many people thought the *guizi* were invincible. We kept a careful watch and as soon as troops were sighted our people hid what had not already been buried and headed for the mountains.

"But we young men got tired of that. We wanted to strike back. The older men said no, resistance would only bring reprisals, but we organized a militia group anyway. I was fifteen years old at the time. They elected me captain because I was the toughest boy in the village, even though I was small. We didn't have any weapons, only two old rabbit guns and a rusty rifle. We concentrated on stone mines. Did you ever see a stone mine?"

"No," I said, "but I have heard of them."

"They are easy to make. Take a rock, hollow it out, fill it with powder, and plug it up tight. Of course you have to connect a fuse. Then you pick out a place where the enemy is likely to come. The mines are buried carefully in the path. Someone has to hide out nearby to shoot the blast.

"The first time we used them we picked a place by the river. The path, after going through a narrow gorge, widened in a little grove of trees. We set our mines cleverly all around the grove. The guizi came and, just as we had hoped, decided to rest in the shade of the trees. They took off their packs and sat down, some of them right on top of the mines.

"There was a terrific explosion. Smoke billowed toward the sky as if the whole grove had suddenly caught fire. Some of the *guizi* screamed with pain while others grabbed their guns and fired wildly at the hills on all sides. But they didn't dare comb the slopes. Too many were already dead. Of the original thirty at least twelve were done for. Another six or eight were wounded. Those who could still walk picked up the injured, left the dead lying where they fell, and fled.

"From that day on no *guizi* patrols dared come near our village. We won great prestige with the people. Our group became famous in faraway counties. We got very bold and roamed the mountains looking for a chance to hit again.

"Once I was in a village, sleeping on the roof of a shed, when the enemy surrounded the whole place. I jumped down into the courtyard and hid in a stack of beans. They searched every house but didn't find me. That was the advantage of being small.

"Another time we got caught in the mountains. A large *guizi* patrol cornered five of us in a cave high on the slope of a ravine, but they couldn't get at us. They fired at us but they couldn't hit us. They couldn't get any nearer either because to go forward they had to cross a narrow ledge where we could pick them off. We stayed there all day without food or water. At nightfall they left. They never liked to be out after dark."

Guo's story broke off as Liu Boying came looking for me.

"I want you to check the water pump," he said. "The fan is wobbling."

The fan was wobbling, but I thought it would last the night, so I told him to go ahead. Already the drills had sown their way halfway across the field.

Chapter 17

Militiaman Guo Passes the Gate

When I got back to the trailer, Lao Guo was already thinking about something else.

"I want to ask you, Lao Han," he said, "can you imagine me as an arrogant, short-tempered person?"

"No," I said, "certainly not." The very idea was absurd. Lao Guo was always calm and quiet. Even when everyone else got upset he sat quietly and sized up the situation. He had a way of talking to people that helped them to relax. He could bring up the sharpest criticism in such a way that the person criticized was able to see sense in it. That was because he looked at everything rationally, with a minimum of emotion. And yet Guo was not a cold person. He was full of drive and fire, wit and song. He loved people and understood

them well. I always found it hard to believe that he had never been to school, never read a novel, or listened to a radio. He seemed so sophisticated.

"Well, I used to be very proud. I lost my temper all the time," Lao Guo said. "The victories we won in the militia went to my head. I thought I was a hero. I carried two guns and swaggered through the villages at the head of thirty men like a baron or a duke. When the people didn't do as I told them I got angry and cursed them. I had a girl in every village, sometimes more than one. I was crazy about women. When I wanted to visit a girl I posted militiaman outside the house to warn me if anyone came. My wife was so distraught that she tried to kill herself.

"The people had a name for me: 'The Little Emperor.' And it was true. I forgot my origin. I thought I was better than other people. And all because I had killed a few Japanese."

"What happened?" I asked. "You've certainly changed since then."

"Yes," said Lao Guo, slowly. "I changed a great deal. I had to learn to control myself and to listen to others."

"But how did you do that? It's not very easy to change one's character."

"I had to. I had to pass the gate."

The gate was a form of examination by the people, by the peasant masses, of all leadership, all cadres. In 1948 the Communist Party opened its

regular self-and-mutual criticism meetings to the public. Throughout North China the Party called for delegates elected by the peasant unions to attend Parry meetings, offer criticism, and supervise the work—past, present, and future—of all Communists. Non-Communist cadres were also invited to these meetings and were criticized in the same manner. Peasant delegates had the right to repudiate any cadre and deny him or her the right to hold office again.

This whole movement was part of a general review of the progress of land reform after three years of turbulent uprising and struggle against the ruling gentry in the villages. It was an expanded form of Party rectification made possible by the fact that the Liberated Areas governments were at last relatively secure from counterattack and could with some safety reveal the names of all leading cadres.¹³

"During the Party rehabilitation movement," Guo said, "I had to stand up before the delegates of the village and make a self-examination. I defied them at first. Hadn't I risked my life dozens of times for them while they hid in the safety of the mountains? Who were they to criticize me? And why should they hate me so? But they shouted

¹³ For a detailed account of the gate in a North China village in 1948, see *Fanshen: A Documentary of Revolution in a Chinese Village*, Parts IV and V.

'What is your thought? What makes you think you can climb on the backs of the people?'

"For almost a week I didn't sleep. I hardly ate a thing. My mind was in a turmoil. It was clear that no one would accept me if I didn't change. The people would no longer have anything to do with me. Nor would the Party. If I did not bow my head before the masses I would have to return home and farm.

"I went before the gate again and apologized for some of the worst things I had done. But still they were not satisfied. For I was still proud and I resented their criticism. In my heart I did not accept it. Either they were all wrong or there was something wrong with me. I had to think it through. I saw that I had mounted the horse. From a servant of the people I had turned into a tyrant. If I went on that way I would be no better than the landlords' bullies whom we all hated. I realized, too, that I could not have fought the Japanese alone. How could I have done anything without the people, those who stood guard, those who raised the food we ate, those who hollowed out the mines? Our victories were the victories of the whole village.

"I felt ashamed. When I went before the gate for the last time, I spoke about everything that was in my heart and the people forgave me. From that time on I have been a different person. It was the biggest lesson of my life." "Lao Guo," I said, "do you think everyone can change and grow?"

"With the help of the people almost everyone, yes. It is like the hairs on my head. Among the countless black hairs only one or two are white. Just so, among countless people there are only a few who cannot, who will not listen and reform themselves in order to carry the revolution forward."

After loading another grain drill he told me an almost incredible story to illustrate the point.

"In our mountains there was once a famous outlaw whom we tried to reform. He was twenty or so when I first knew him. He could outrun a horse. He could leap farther than a mountain lion. He could lift boulders that no one else could even move. Many times when he got into trouble with the security forces he escaped by jumping from high places that no one else even dared to climb down. He leaped ravines as if they were puddles.

"He could do the work of five men, but he didn't like to work. And he didn't have to. He became a bandit. A few friends followed him. For years they lived an easy life robbing wealthy landlords and merchants. They were bold beyond belief. Once Yang, for that was his name, went into a county town and robbed the magistrate in broad daylight. No one dared cross him, for he was quick to anger and had killed more than once.

"When the Japanese came, we tried to get him to join us. He was a wonderful guerrilla fighter, fast and tireless. But he didn't like the discipline. He went along with us for a while, but he suddenly took off on his own, fought the Japanese in the morning and robbed the wealthy in the afternoon. The robberies gave our guerrillas a bad name.

"We sent a squad out to capture him, but even with the cooperation of the people they couldn't catch him. His men had deserted him, and he was still more than a match for us. The only way we finally caught him was to persuade a sweetheart of his to entice him to a rendezvous. He trusted her and came. It took six men to tie him up. We left three men to watch him. He broke out of his ropes, overpowered the guards, and leaped from the roof of the building into the street. His guards said he hurt himself when he landed but he still ran faster than they could.

"After that he lived wild in the mountains. We gave him up as hopeless. Then one day he killed one of our best fighters, a man with whom he had quarreled over a woman. That made us angry. Robbing we could endure, and loose living, but when he started to kill our own people it was too much. The word went out: Bring him in dead or alive. We tried to capture him alive but he vowed he would not be taken. In the end he was shot while running down a ravine. When the militia reached him he was dead.

"We thought we had rid the country of a menace, but when Commander-in-Chief Zhu De heard about it he was very upset. He said we were very backward. He said that we had not made enough of an effort to win Yang over. He said that with patience and more effort Yang could have changed his outlook and become a great fighter for the people. Such people as he were rare enough, one in many many millions. It was a great crime that we had committed.

"I think Commander-in-Chief Zhu was right. The power of the people is very great. Properly organized we could have won Yang to our cause. We could have reformed him. He sprang from the same origin and suffered the same oppression as the rest of us. Instead, we drove him to the cliffs and the caves and finally shot him like a wild animal. That was the result of our impatience."

The story of the bandit Yang was indeed a strange one. As Guo told it I felt the loss of the man as if I had known him. For a long time we sat in silence watching the stars. A thin moon rose in the cast and began to light up the basin. The tractor lights paled by comparison. The character of Guo himself set me thinking. Every time I talked to him I learned much that I had never known before. There was something about his outlook on life that was more mature, more steadfast, and more enlightened than my own. At twenty-two, life had taught him more than books, colleges, and world travel had taught me at thirty.

Liu Boying's tractor pulled up. The grain drill was empty, and we helped him fill it. The seed on the trailer was almost gone, but so was the unplanted land. A few more sweeps back and forth would finish the field. In another half hour the first mechanized crop in North China would be in the ground.

"They are almost finished, Lao Guo," I said. "How do you think it will turn out?"

"I'm worried, Lao Han," said Guo, peering out across the flat. "There is too much salt everywhere, and not enough fertilizer."

"What worries me," I said, "is how we are going to harvest all this. How are we going to cut twelve thousand *mu* with sickles?"

"If it comes up we'll harvest it, don't worry about that," Guo said.

But I worried about it just the same.

Chapter 18

Double Bridge

▲ Il through the summer and fall of 1949, the Troads leading out of Beijing rumbled and shook with a never-ending stream of trucks, carts, and hand-wagons hauling muck and trash from the city. Thousands of soldiers stood waist deep in slime, scooping the silt from lakes and moats that had not been dredged in the memory of the oldest inhabitants. They transformed stagnant pools filled with swamp grass and mosquito larvae into clear lakes that fish could live in and boats sail on. Municipal workers in blue tackled sewers that had been plugged for a hundred years, while people cleaned out abandoned courtyards where mountains of trash made stinking citadels for rats, mice, and lean, scabby dogs. Alleys that had been blocked with refuse since the time of the Boxer Rebellion were made into broad, level walks. All the rich material removed from the city was pressed into service as fertilizer for the next year's crop on the plain surrounding Beijing. The director of the Beijing Municipal Planning Bureau later said that 600,000 tons of garbage were removed.¹⁴

Trucks and carts dumped their reeking loads at the edge of the highway a few miles out of town and the peasants came from near and far to haul it away. Those who owned carts came with carts, those who owned wheelbarrows came with wheelbarrows; those who only had carrying poles brought their poles and baskets. Women and children, old men and young boys, came out to gather up the foul remains of decades and centuries of Beijing corruption and cart it off to the land to be transformed into golden grain and green vegetables.

Everyone was happy to see the filth go. As the heavily laden vehicles rolled toward the city gates, neighbors called to one another: "There goes the last of the Kuomintang filth."

It was between rows of carts that Sun Xiaogong, the interpreter from the tractor class at South Ridge, and I drove out to Double Bridge, ten miles beyond Beijing's East Gate (the famous *chaoyang* or "facing the sun" gate) to find a site for a second

¹⁴ See Robert Trumbull, *This is Communist China* (New York: McKay, 1968), p. 200.

winter training class. What we discovered was the place that was to replace South Ridge as the center of tractor work in China.

To return to South Ridge in Central Hebei in the winter of 1949-1950 made no sense. At least ten new farms had already been established by South Ridge students during the summer, and Beijing was central to all of them. All the departments of the new national government had migrated to sites in and around Beijing, and all nationwide projects centered there. Our training class in 1950 was not sponsored by the government of North China but by the State Farm Management Bureau of the Ministry of Agriculture of the People's Republic of China. As a consequence, although we would still return many times to South Ridge, and although our first major crop lay in the ground there, we decided to train new drivers and give advanced courses to old drivers at a site somewhere near Beijing. Rumor had it that there were some rundown buildings on a city-owned farm at Double Bridge. We found that the rumors were not completely unfounded. There were some old buildings, but "run down" was much too mild an adjective. Most of them had long since collapsed and the whole place had been looted.

What we found was a farm that had once been a barracks for the troops that guarded the radio station and central telephone exchange of the Japanese armies in North China. To make the installation safe, the Japanese had quartered several companies of soldiers there and had confiscated hundreds of acres of farm land so that the people could be forced to keep their distance. The commander had set his men to work raising vegetables and hogs for the officers' mess.

The Japanese erected their barracks in a walled compound doubly protected by a moat and a high voltage electric fence. Even this was not considered safe enough for the higher brass. In the northeast corner of the compound a second square had been walled off and fortified at the corners with concrete blockhouses. Here the Japanese officers evidently felt safe, not only from the Chinese but from their own men as well.

The officers must have brought their families with them, for their dwellings were divided into apartments with all the comforts of home. Xiaogong snorted when he saw them. Each unit had a kitchen and next to it a privy, both under the same roof. "The Japanese don't know the first thing about sanitation," he said. "They always have the cooking stove and the privy side by side."

The roofs of the buildings had long since collapsed. Rubble and trash littered the ground. The new caretaker lived under one of the few roofs that remained. One large brick warehouse was still intact and, to the west, not far from the compound wall, was the huge, barnlike hulk of the former telephone exchange. Tiles had fallen out of its

roof leaving gaping holes and all the windows had been smashed, but the walls looked sturdy and the doors large—large enough for a ten-ton tractor to go through.

We decided that these big buildings would make excellent classrooms. Roofs could be replaced on the ruined barracks to convert them into dormitories. The land would be a convenient practice ground for tractors.

We returned to town full of enthusiasm for Double Bridge. There, only a few minutes outside Beijing's walls, we had found the answer to our needs.

Work began on the buildings at once. Xiaogong took charge of this. The first things he ordered built were some large and well-appointed privies, far removed from any other buildings. Director Li, who was appointed to head up the new training class as he had the old, made out long lists of the lumber needed for beds, the cooking pots and utensils needed for the kitchen, and the office supplies, ink, and paper needed for the school. While he was still interviewing accountants and office boys, letters went out to all the mechanized state farms in the country to send in some, or all, of their drivers for winter training as soon as the ground froze in December. And, since the farms had few good tools, measuring instruments, or men with the know-how to supervise repair work, the mechanics on every farm were also instructed

to come to Double Bridge and to bring their tractor motors with them.

Jiao Shiru, the man who had gone with me to Handan in search of oil, was put in charge of repair work. Stored corn and wheat belonging to the farm were moved out of the one good warehouse so the building could be converted into a shop. Lathes and drill presses were bolted to the floor. Work benches were made and covered with tin. Almost overnight the place took on the air of a professional garage.

Jiao, in a creative streak, converted a big oil drum into a stove that heated the building, provided boiled water for drinking, steam for cleaning, and distilled water for batteries, all at the same time. He named this the *wannenglu* or "ten-thousand abilities stove."

Even before the new roofs had had time to set on the buildings the drivers and mechanics began to arrive from the countryside. There were many joyous reunions of South Ridge people who had not seen each other since they had plowed the Thousand Qing Basin together that spring, for while one contingent had remained at South Ridge, the majority of the trainees had set off in midsummer to establish new farms.

The drivers from Lutai told a discouraging story of soil and sod so heavy that the tractors could not plow it up, and field levees so high that the tractors could not cross them. The men from Chahar, who looked like trappers from the wild west with their fox-fur hats and heavy wool-lined overcoats, were elated with their success. With ten Allis Chalmers tractors equipped with disc plows, they had plowed 30,000 mu in the few weeks left to them before the ground froze that fall. In the bitter cold they had driven in twelve hour shifts, kept the tractors going night and day, and turned over all the virgin land on the farm in preparation for sowing a spring crop.

Those who had remained behind at South Ridge told of putting in over 10,000 mu of winter wheat and then finishing off another 10,000 mu of fresh fall plowing. They said the wheat was coming up well and a good crop was anticipated. Yongnian drivers had also planted a large area of wheat, but complained that the Fords didn't have the power to plow out the heavy roots in the rich basin around the county town. The same complaint came from Boai, way down by the Yellow River. On that farm, they said, the grass roots were as big as a child's arm and the ground was full of humps and hollows. It was almost impossible to do anything with the Fords.

Many new faces appeared, technicians and drivers came from Central and East China, from Guangbei, the new farm that was being set up on the wastelands near the mouth of the Yellow River, from Dongxin in north Jiangsu, from the old UNRRA/AMOMO warehouses on Fire Island

in Shanghai, and from farms and farm tool shops in Zhejiang and Jiangxi. A big contingent also arrived from Henan, the old Yellow River flood area where the main UNRRA tractor effort had been concentrated. Soon we had more than two hundred drivers and mechanics.

The first few weeks were spent reviewing the past year's operations. It was a time to sit down and think over all that had happened since the tractor class ended in March, to discuss what had been done well and what had been done poorly, and to criticize those responsible for waste and mistakes. Since most of the farm managers and the brigade leaders were also present, it was possible to examine operations from top to bottom.

The South Ridge group discussed again the disastrous mistake of using a cheap engine oil that had resulted in the simultaneous breakdown of the bearings in more than ten tractors. The crews from Nanyuan, the South Airfield farm, had a lot of criticisms to make of their manager, Rong, who ran things in a highhanded way and made decisions without consulting anybody. Some of those decisions had resulted in big losses for the farm, such as the rotting of almost 100 tons of sweet potatoes because of inadequate storage.

Supply parts, living conditions, work clothing, management, planning, and a thousand and one other questions came up. Everyone had a chance to air his views and gripes and to make suggestions for improvement. A large number of recommendations were turned in to the various farms and to the Farm Management Bureau.

In the middle of this review I went off to Harbin in Manchuria to bring back the Soviet tractors, plows, and other implements that had been promised the national bureau by the State Farm Bureau of the Northeast. (In the Northeast, farms had been operating with Soviet tractors for more than two years.) The Northeastern bureau had more equipment than it needed for the time being and had been persuaded to lend a few items to the central government until new machines could come from Russia to replace them. Most urgent for our work were machines with which to harvest, or at least to thresh, the wheat crop at South Ridge.

Chapter 19

Soybeans for Steel

Zhou Bu, a mechanic, Li Kun, an administrative cadre, and I arrived in Harbin on a December morning. We stepped off the train into the most biting cold that I have ever felt. Our feet went numb, and our lungs winced at the intake of sharp air.

Snow lay all around and squeaked underfoot. We could think only of one thing, to get to the state farm headquarters as soon as possible. We hired a droshky pulled by a stumbling old horse and driven by a man in a thin padded coat. His feet were encased in huge felt boots, but that was the only part of him that appeared to be well clad. How he survived the cold and rode around on that high seat all day was hard to imagine.

The bureau headquarters were on Asheke Street, in what must once have been the Russian

section of town. In the bright morning sunlight we seemed to have come to a foreign city. Hills, wide streets, great plaster-covered houses and halls painted in pinks, blues, and greens stretched out on every side. After the tight alleys of Beijing and the crowded streets of Tianjin and Shenyang, Harbin looked like a park. Perhaps the snow had something to do with it. Under the blanket of crisp white crystals everything looked immaculately clean. The trees along the sidewalks added to the pleasing appearance of the sector.

The state farm office put us up in a typical Russian-style Harbin house. It was one story high and solidly constructed, with walls at least two feet thick. It was divided into sections of four rooms each with a round brick stove where the four rooms met so that each room shared a quarter of it. The quarter of the stove that was in our room radiated heat in waves, which made the indoor temperature as hot as the outdoor temperature was cold. Fortunately, a small panel in the double window provided enough air to prevent us from suffocating while we slept.

A Comrade Gu and his wife were in charge of the whole Northeastern state farm program. We liked them immediately. Gu was a tall, robust, plainspoken man who never seemed to be in a rush. The desk in his enormous office had nothing on it. He apparently had plenty of time to talk. I got the impression that he was a good administrator who helped to decide the main direction of the work and turned the details over to the rest of the staff.

Gu's wife was small, handsome, and lively. She wore her hair in long braids wound around her head. As administrative secretary of the bureau, she seemed to have a grasp of the details of the work which surpassed that of her husband. Between them they made a very competent pair. They had walked all the way to Harbin from Yanan after the Japanese surrender in 1945. (This was part of the race to reach Manchuria before the Kuomintang, with American air support, could fly in enough officials and troops to take over.) Even though neither of them knew anything about machinery or farming they had been chosen to head up the agricultural mechanization program because of their ability to lead others.

After seeing them in action I came to the conclusion that technical knowledge was the least of the requirements for heading up any large enterprise, whether it be agricultural or industrial. The important thing was to know how to get people together, allow them to thrash out their problems, and guide them in choosing a correct solution. This technique the Gu's had mastered.

Their first regional production meeting had just concluded. The rooms buzzed with the activity that would put the plans for 1950 in motion. Compared with North China, the Harbin bureau

was very well organized. It boasted a supply department and a technical department. The technical department was staffed with agronomists, mechanical engineers, draftsmen, and translators. The chief translator was a German who had been the main dealer in Lanz tractors in Manchuria for more than twenty years. He translated the Soviet tractor and machinery manuals into English, and then a Shanghai-trained engineer retranslated them into Chinese. They had worked hard for a number of months and already had more than ten manuals, complete with illustrations, in print.

The German was a typical Hanoverian businessman. He obviously did not think the Chinese were capable of setting up and operating large state farms. He regarded the Soviet tractors and equipment as a bunch of junk. He described a week he had spent on a state farm the previous year. He said it was a mad rush, night and day. He no sooner settled down for a little rest when a new breakdown brought him to his feet again. And so he went rushing from one field to another trying to keep the tractors running. All the troubles he blamed on the Russian equipment. "You can't rely on any of it. I never saw anything like it," he said. "Ordinarily a carburetor, say, will develop certain troubles that can be predicted. So will a magneto. But these Soviet jobs, they're completely unpredictable. You never can tell what might go wrong. So it is almost impossible to teach the drivers how to repair them. You can't lay down any rules at all." Of course the German-made machines were a different story, according to him. They never broke down. He intended to go back home to the Lanz factory in West Germany. Already they were building a big trade with South America, Africa, and southern Asia. Business was booming. He couldn't wait to get back.

The Shanghai engineer had studied for many years in England. He was not happy about his work. He was an expert on internal combustion engines and didn't know very much about tractors and farm machinery. He had worked in an English automobile factory and regarded duty in far off Manchuria as a sort of exile. He found the climate much too rigorous. Also, like all engineers I met before or afterward, he longed to be in a factory, working in production. I don't think I ever met an engineer in China who was content to help others use machines more efficiently and keep them in good repair. They all wanted to be industrial designers turning out machinery in large-scale industry. Nevertheless, this engineer had led his department in trying to solve some of the problems met with on the farms. They were making drawings for a wide boom which a tractor could use to pull several implements. They had also designed a type of plowshare more suitable for turning over heavy prairie sod that the shares that came with the Soviet plows. In addition, as already mentioned, they had translated and printed up numerous instruction manuals. Of these last we ordered large quantities, so that when the Soviet machinery came to North China every driver could have a copy.

Almost the first thing we did was to visit the big supply depot out at the edge of town behind the power plant. Here were warehouses and lots filled with farm equipment and tractors, huge combines and horse-drawn reaping machines, and spare parts for them all. Hundreds of machines were lined up in rows in the snow, some of them in pieces and others fully assembled. A barbed wire fence surrounded the lot and a soldier at the gate let no one in without a special pass issued at the supply base office. After the scrimping and figuring we had been through in the past year trying to make the list use of every machine and wondering how we would ever keep them running without any parts, this depot was incredible. Here was everything a farm could need. Like children at Christmas time, we could walk in and take our pick.

And all of it was said to be very cheap. It had been acquired from the Soviet Union in return for Manchurian soybeans at very reasonable rates. I was told that a carload of beans could be swapped for a Stalin 80 tractor. Since the warehouses of Manchuria were bulging with beans, this was a very attractive proposition, and the State Farm

Bureau had taken advantage of the situation to buy what looked like enough machinery for several million acres.¹⁵

Gu was willing to give us six new and four used STZ 54 horsepower kerosene-burning crawlers from the Stalingrad tractor works. We looked them over with intense interest. What struck me first of all was the extreme simplicity of the engine, the drive mechanism, and the track. A glance was enough to reassure me that here was something we could handle. There was nothing new or unknown in principle, nothing that our students had not already studied, in the construction of the engine. It was unusual only because of its great size and weight. I immediately felt better. The idea of bringing home a shipment of Soviet tractors that we could not handle had been worrying me for some weeks. We took a closer look. What was Russian machinery like? How did it compare with that from the United States? All the world was interested in that question. Well, it certainly was not beautiful to look at. The tractors were built square and straight, the castings were rough and had a lot of corners and sharp edges. The tracks were cast steel plates linked together

¹⁵ Chinese experience with Soviet prices on industrial goods in later years contradicts this. In the fifties, Soviet-made machines carried exorbitant price tags and the Soviet trading organizations demanded big markups on machinery produced in Eastern Europe.

with pins. A great crank, almost two feet long, stuck out from the frame in front and hung to one side suspended on a bent wire. Instead of fins to control the cooling there was a piece of canvas on an iron rod that could be raised or lowered at will in front of the radiator.

No, the tractors were not beautiful, but they looked very sturdy. They were built for use, not for display at international fairs. They had a straightforward, stripped-for-action appearance. No fancy grille, no streamlined cowl, no extra gadgets. Just the essentials. They were painted a dull gray.

I thought it would be a formidable job to start one up, especially at twenty below zero. It did not seem possible that one man could turn that huge crank and bring the cold machine to life, even in summertime. But in that respect appearances were misleading. One of the mechanics at the base got a little can of gasoline, poured a few drops into two especially constructed ducts which led the gasoline into the intake manifold, and gave the crank a wide, swift swing. Our ears were greeted with a deafening roar, flames and smoke belched from the four-inch exhaust pipe. The motor was turning over. It soon settled to an even rat-tat-tat like a machine gun going off very near at hand. The mechanic ran for water to fill the radiator.

We were to become accustomed to that sound. We were to learn to tell all sorts of things about the engine itself and the man who was driving it from the rhythm, the tone, and the free or restricted outpouring of that staccato exhaust. But when we heard it for the first time it only seemed terribly loud. How was one ever to listen for engine knocks, or transmission noises, with that devil's concert going on up front? The vibration made the bolts and plates of the cab sing and hum. As the radiator filled, the sharp shaking of the whole tractor frame made the water come dancing out at the top in little geysers.

But it proved to be very maneuverable. It surprised us with its speed. In high gear it pranced and clanged along at better than six miles an hour. A pull on the steering clutch levers sent it into sharp zigzags. We were told that with a load on the drawbar it turned even more easily.

The one thing we were warned about was to be sure to have the engine warmed up properly before switching to kerosene. A temperature of around 200 degrees was needed before the kerosene could vaporize and burn well in the cylinders. They had had a lot of trouble because inexperienced drivers turned on the kerosene valve before the engine had warmed up; it then skipped and popped, piled up carbon in the combustion chamber, and leaked fuel past the rings into the crankcase. It didn't take long to so thin out the oil that a change was necessary. "Run her hot," was the advice. "Keep the cloth over the radiator until

you see steam rising from the cap. Then change to kerosene and keep her that way." Thus we picked up our first tips on the Soviet machine.

We picked out our ten STZ's and then went on to pick plows, disc harrows, spike harrows, grain drills, cultivators, and winnowing machines. On close examination all the equipment showed the same characteristics as the tractors, rough, rugged, utilitarian construction, simple design, no frills or extras. We were very pleased and could hardly wait to see one of those big multiple gang plows turning five black furrows ten inches deep as it went down a field. The Northeast bureau had agreed in advance to give us all this equipment, so there was no trouble about it. Anyway, they had enough there in the lot for quite a few more farms. No one would miss ten sets, or even twenty. But there was one problem that we couldn't get off our minds-the wheat at South Ridge, the 10,000 mu we had finally sown with such great effort. How was it ever to be reaped, and once reaped, how threshed? We did not have the nerve to ask for a combine. They had ten or twelve just in from across the Urals, but they had tens of thousands of mu of wheat planned for the spring and the combines would be hard pressed to handle the crop. We finally decided to ask for one of the big threshing machines that stood way off on the side of the lot; we thought that with all those new combines no one in Manchuria would be interested in threshing machines.

We proved to be wrong. After an hour or two of urgent pleading, Gu agreed to give us one, but when the request went downstairs the man in charge of the supply department refused to honor it. Instead he rushed up to see Gu and was closeted with him for more than half an hour. When Gu called us in again he apologized and said that he would like to give it to us but the plan would not allow it. Every bit of threshing capacity in the Northeast would be needed to handle their crop.

This was a terrible blow to us. Comrade Li and Zhou Bu were willing to drop the matter, but they had not been at South Ridge. They had not made a five-day trip to Handan in search of gasoline, or stayed up night and day putting in a crop of wheat. I said we had to try again, otherwise the whole ten thousand *mu* at South Ridge would have to be cut and threshed by hand. And what if we couldn't find all that manpower?

So we went at it again. Li talked with Gu while I talked to his wife. I described the wheat in Hebei in glowing terms. I told her all the difficulties that we had gone through to start it off right. I asked her how it would look if our first harvest, the first mechanized wheat south of the Great Wall, were to be cut by hand and rolled out on the threshing floor with stone rollers.

I listed for her every piece of machinery that we had so that she could understand clearly the pitiful shape we were in on that score. I asked her if it were not benwei to leave us without any threshing equipment while the Northeasterners used brand new combines. This was a telling argument. Benwei meant local sectarianism, a great effort to keep one's own house in order but complete apathy when anyone else's problems came up. Cadres from the old Liberated Areas, where the forces had been isolated from one another and each had fought desperately for its own life, knew its evils well.

In the end she gave in. She talked with her husband. He ordered the supply man to release the threshing machine. The solidarity of North and South prevailed.

Our life in Harbin was not all hard work and special pleading. New Year's Day 1950 (new calendar) came and went while we were there and on New Year's Eve the whole city of Harbin celebrated. We were invited by some Russian friends whom I had worked with in North China to the Teacher's Union ball. We danced until dawn in a gaily decorated recreation hall where revolutionary young people, full of vigor and enthusiasm, never seemed to tire. Only the few Russian girls came in dresses; the Chinese girls, already teachers though still in their late teens, wore black serge trousers and Lenin jackets. Their hair, bobbed

to fall just short of the neckline and cut straight across the forehead in a bang, framed each radiant face in a square of jet black. The thirty-below cold outside and the eighty-degree heat inside the hall combined to bring an extraordinary flush of healthy red to their faces. Flashing black eyes completed the lively picture.

For the first time in my life, I felt old. By midnight I was tired, but the young people danced on until dawn and when I tried to sit out a dance they would not allow it. As the only American in the whole Northeast, I was a celebrity and every girl in the Teacher's Union demanded a dance with me.

A few days later, Zhou Bu and I visited a state farm several hundred miles north of Harbin, half-way to the Amur River. It was situated in the heart of an extraordinary rolling plain, reminiscent of North Dakota, with virgin black soil three to five feet deep just waiting to be plowed. They showed us samples of this soil. If you put a few ounces in a jar of water and shook it, the water remained clear while the soil particles remained black, so tightly bound were the molecules. The only drawback to large-scale farming here were the numerous bogs and swamps in the hollows between the rolling uplands.

We saw neither swamp nor soil because everything was frozen solid and covered with two feet of snow, but we did learn how they had organized their farm, how they maintained their machinery, and what they planned to do with the land in the next few years. Their plans were bold and exciting, for here there was no problem of fertility, no alkalinity, no chronic flooding, no history of drought—only millions of acres of chernozem waiting to be tilled. That night the temperature went down to forty degrees below zero but no one even talked about it. The harsh climate seemed to make people healthy. Of all the people I saw in China, the Northeasterners seemed to be the most rugged and the most vigorous.

Chapter 20

Wherever the People Need Us

First Soviet tractors arrive in capital"—so read the headlines in the *Peoples Daily* on that day in early January 1950 when the ten carloads of tractors and farm machinery from the Northeast finally rolled into the Double Bridge station. The sun shone brightly. The air was clear and cold. The whole student body rode out to the siding to speed the unloading, for the stationmaster insisted on clearing the cars before noon. All hands fell to with a will. The heavy iron wheels and beams and boxes were lifted bodily from the gondolas while mechanics drove the tractors off. As each one reached solid ground a great cheer went up.

Everyone was delighted with that sharp, staccato exhaust, with the tremendous roar of the engines, with the flashing, clanking tracks, and the speed and snap of the tractors on the road. Right then and there the prestige of American tractors and of American industry itself shrank several sizes. Here at last was a tool suited to China's wastelands. Here were plows of giant size, grain drills that truly spanned a field. From that moment on, not one of the hundreds of students or staff members at Double Bridge was ever interested in a Ford tractor again.

Lin Ji was so pleased he lectured everyone. "You see, that's the difference between the USSR and the USA. In the USA, they make those little Fords, useless little beetles that can't even plow more than six inches deep. But in the USSR, look what they make—54-horsepower crawlers. Now there's a tractor that'll really do a job. It'll pull five plows and plow ten inches down. That's the difference between socialism and capitalism for you."

I told Lin that America made big tractors too, in fact even bigger ones than any we had yet seen, but that didn't make much of an impression on anybody because there were no concrete examples sitting right before their eyes. What machines came from America? The little Fords. What machines came from the USSR? The huge tracklayers. And I think Lin Ji was right, for the Soviet 54-horsepower crawler represented Soviet agriculture of that decade just as surely as the 20-horsepower Ford represented contemporary

American farming. The fact that America also made large crawlers was really beside the point, for they were not widely used on private American farms because the fields were too small. Compared with Soviet collectives, American farms were miniatures.

A group of photographers and reporters drove out from the city to record the historic unloading. They snapped pictures right and left, interviewed Director Li, talked with those who had brought the tractors from Harbin, and even lent a hand unloading parts. The crowning shot on their film showed all ten tractors in a row clanking down the road toward the school gate while peasants, students, teachers, and staff workers lined the banks to welcome them.

The arrival of the tractors meant that the work of the winter could begin at last, and there was no time to lose. We had only two months to learn how to make these monsters work and keep them running. No one had ever seen a kerosene-burning tractor before. Who would do the teaching?

Director Li organized the best qualified technicians and mechanics from each farm into a "teaching group." Among them were:

—Xiang Zirong from South Airfield. People teasingly called him the Japanese because his round face, his horn-rimmed glasses, his low forehead, and profuse growth of chin whiskers made him look like a man from Nippon. He had studied

mechanical engineering in Tianjin, worked for a number of years in auto repair shops, and then in 1948 joined a Nationalist-run plowing project in the Bohai Gulf area.

- —Ma Qingbo, an old classmate of Xiang's, who was working in a Nationalist army truck repair depot near Hankou when the Liberation Army swept through. I was in the bureau office the day he came in looking for a job—young, clean, eager. As soon as Director Li found out that he knew something about engines he hired him on the spot and sent him to Chahar to take charge of the plowing there. He had never seen a tractor but he learned fast.
- —Zhou Bu, the mechanic from the Bohai Gulf who had gone with me to Harbin. He was delighted to be chosen as a teacher, a position he had never dreamed of attaining. At every public meeting he got up to tell of his past, of the beatings and humiliations he had gone through to learn his trade. The only trouble was that he did not know when to stop, and Director Li had to urge him to sit down in order to go on with the program.
- —Lai Bengnian, from East China. He was one of the original UNRRA students from the Yellow River flooded area. From there he had gone to Shanghai for a degree in agricultural engineering. He came to Double Bridge from a tractor farm in Jiangsu run by the East China government.

He came to study Soviet machinery. Director Li made him a teacher.

—Four engineers who were interested in the manufacture of farm implements came from the Yangtze Valley. Someone in the Ministry got mixed up and sent them to the tractor school instead of the Farm Implement Factory, and, before they had realized the mistake, Director Li had made them into teachers. It was not until the course was over that they finally got around to visiting the Farm Machinery Plant at Nine Dragon Mountain. They did not complain, however. Double Bridge was the only place south of the Great Wall where Soviet machinery could be studied, and everyone knew that this was the machinery of the future.

I was made head of this teaching group. The teachers' main task was to keep ahead of the students. As soon as supper was over we rushed to the tractor shed to take the machines apart and study the problems that were to be taught the next day. Each "teacher" studied the parts allotted to him for an hour or so and then we met to pool ideas and discuss any questions that remained. Since we also had to answer all the questions raised by the students the day before, we usually got to bed long after midnight.

Keeping at least twenty-four hours ahead of the students was difficult. So was teaching in the crowded classrooms. The only building large enough to hold both the tractors and the students was the former telephone exchange building. It was roomy enough, but there were no partitions. Each day four persons lectured and each lecture was given four times. The students, divided into four groups, rotated from one teacher to the next. As a mark of progress over South Ridge days, each student had a little stool to sit on instead of a brick or a block of wood. At the end of an hour they picked up their stools and moved to another corner of the room.

But regardless of which corner they settled into, it was hard to hear the teacher because there were always three other lectures going on at the same time. No sooner would one teacher pause in his explanations of the cooling system than a lucid description of the oil pump would come from another corner of the room.

We teachers in turn found our voices rising higher and higher in an effort to make ourselves heard. Ten minutes after the lectures suited we found ourselves shouting at the top of our voices like barkers at a county fair. Then, realizing that this was impossible, we would stop the class and start in again pianissimo.

There were no doors on the building and no glass in the windows. The temperature inside was the same as that out of doors. Luckily the weather was kind that winter. A good warm sun shone down upon us day after day, and the force of the wind, when it blew, was broken by the high brick

walls. Within a few weeks we had studied the whole tractor, from crank to drawbar.

While this was going on in the classrooms. Jiao Shiru led the mechanics in the shop in the repair of the tractor engines that had come in from the farms. By studying together they solved many problems that had seemed insurmountable. Their most brilliant achievement was to devise a substitute for the thin steel cylinder sleeves that had come with the Fords and had already worn out of round. These sleeves were so hard that they could not be bored out by ordinary cylinder boring equipment; even special cutting tools from Germany only scratched the surface. We had no spares. Jiao and his crew decided to replace them with cast iron. As they were almost paper-thin, all the experts said it would not work—cast iron could not be made than thin without cracking. But in desperation the mechanics went ahead anyway. They cast thick iron sleeves, forced them into the block, and then bored them out to size. The first engine that went on the testing stand ran very well. This was no indication of how it would stand up in the field, but since there was no alternative, they decided to gamble. All the tractors were fitted with cast iron. It worked. Only one tractor broke down that year because of sleeve trouble.

The winter was a success all around. Not only did the drivers go back to the farms confident that

they could handle the Soviet tractors, but they also went back with a new spirit of solidarity. They had come from different regions with widely varied backgrounds. During the first few weeks they stayed in small cliques and were very conscious of their differences. But the course soon united them with a common experience and a common goal. The slogan in great white letters on the walls of the school, "We are the pioneers of the wastelands," took on a new meaning as the students realized that the same forces were at work in many different parts of the country simultaneously, and that the problems they faced, they faced in common. Out of that training course a spirit of cooperation was born. "Tractor hands," north, south, east, and west, became brothers in fact as well as in name. One concrete result of this was the founding of a new magazine—the Mechanized Agriculture Newsletter—that published news from farms across the country and related the most up-to-date technical experiences to every field and shop.

Out of that course was born the friendly competition between farms that helped to improve the level of work everywhere. Each group left for home determined to make its farm the best in the country.

To the engineers from the Yangtze Valley, fresh from years of decadent Nationalist rule, the winter at Double Bridge was a revelation. One of them told me that he was returning south a new man. Under the old regime he had never taken any interest in politics. He stuck to his machines and his handbooks. When Chiang was in power, he worked under Chiang. When the government changed, he worked on as before, convinced that one government was much like another and that ordinary people got a raw deal in any case. The thing to do was to find your own niche and mind your own business. But after spending the winter at Double Bridge he began to see things differently. "Are you glad you came?" I asked him.

"I certainly am," he answered.

"But since you came to learn production methods I should think this would have been a waste of your time."

"Not at all. We have learned about Soviet tractors. That's all to the good. But that isn't the main thing. The main thing is that we've had our eyes opened about China and about the future. Our talks with Director Li and all the discussions here have helped me to see that something new is really happening. I never thought Communists or anyone else could change things in China. I thought it was all talk. But things are already changing. Director Li and the people here mean what they say. They are going to build something new and I believe they will succeed. I hope we can carry that spirit back with us. It is a lot more important than all the technical knowledge in the world."

On graduation day the students and staff turned out in the brand new uniforms that were to become traditional for tractor workers in China. Blue overalls, strongly reinforced at the seat and knees, blue jackets that zipped up the front, and blue workers' caps. As they assembled in the tin-roofed shed that was the general meeting place, they looked like the ranks of a new and powerful army.

Director Li was glowing with pride. He wore the same outfit as the rest, and, as usual, it was a little too big for him. The pants bagged at the seat, the cuffs scuffed the ground, but he paid no attention as he hurried from place to place making sure that everything was in order.

All at once the whole group burst into song:

We workers have strength
Night and day we are busy
Our eyes are red with weariness
Our faces run with salty sweat
Why, why do we work so hard?
To liberate the whole of China,
To liberate the whole of China!

This was followed by:

Unity is strength.

Iron is strong.

Steel is strong.

But unity is harder than iron.

Unity is tougher than steel...

Their voices filled the air until it seemed that the pressure of sound would surely lift the roof off the shed.

Secretary Zhang of the central Ministry of Agriculture spoke. "Our job is to open up wasteland, but where are the wastelands? They are not in the suburbs of Beijing and Tianjin. We can't take a streetcar or a commuter's bus to work. No. the wastelands are far away on the edge of the Ningxia Desert, across the Great Wall in Kalgan, buried in the swamps along the Yangtze, flung at the edge of the sea at the Yellow River's mouth. We cannot think of any easy life. We cannot hope for movies, opera, and soda pop. Someday we'll have everything. When we have created the conditions, we can have whatever we desire. But this year and the next year will not be easy. Is there anybody here afraid of difficulties? Is anybody afraid of hardship?"

A great shout went up: "No! No! No!"

"That's right. We had better not fear hardship. It is a fact," he went on, "it is a fact that the imperialists are not afraid of anything. They go to the ends of the earth to seek wealth. Wherever there are resources lying in the ground or under it, sooner or later they come. Heat, cold, hunger, disease—they face it all for money. If we don't go out and reclaim our own land, if we don't go out and find our own oil and coal, and copper and tin, the imperialists will. In the modern world noth-

ing can remain buried for long. No resource can remain untapped.

"Are we less brave than they? Could it be that we would do less for our country, our people, than they would do for gold? Could it be?"

Again the answer was a deafening shout: "No! No! No!"

"All right then," said Zhang, laughing in spite of himself at their eagerness, "when you are assigned to your farms—some of them are far away, some do not even have village huts to live in—do not complain: 'Oh, I don't want to go there.' 'That place is too far away,' 'This place is too cold,' 'That place is too hot.' I hope everyone will gladly go wherever he or she is needed most."

"Never fear. We'll go wherever there is wasteland to plow."

They burst into song again.

It was the song that students all over China were singing that winter as they prepared to go out to the far ends of their land to start the great movement of reconstruction:

"Wherever the people need us, there we will go."

Chapter 21

A Trip to the South

Minister Pan, known to busy UNRRA officials as "Peter Pan," had been in charge of whatever "agriculture" the Nationalist Army still held when I had visited in Manchuria in 1947.

"The Communists," he used to say, "can't do anything for the peasants because they don't have any trained people. They have no one who understands agriculture."

"Don't you think technical people will work for a Communist minister once he takes office, just as they work for you now?" I asked him.

"What an absurd idea," snorted Pan.

Minister Pan fled to Formosa when Shanghai fell, but very few technicians followed him. I thought of this as I looked at the people in the Spring Sowing Inspection Team that Director Li was sending south to see how the men and women

we had worked so hard to train were making out on the wasteland. We were going to visit our students-turned-drivers at South Ridge, Boai, and Yongnian. We hoped to help solve any problems which they might have run into, whether administrative or technical.

Our group included Lai Bengnian, the "teacher" from Jiangsu; Li Mojiu, a technician from a private Beijing garage; Liu, an economics student from the Management Division of the bureau; Peng, a raw-boned, loud-mouthed agricultural expert who had worked many years for the Japanese on experimental farms; and Zhen, a Hunanese Agricultural College graduate, who was a member of the Democratic League.

They were all landlords' sons or the sons of men with landlord connections. They came from the class which the Revolution had overthrown, yet they were not only working for the new government, but, with the possible exception of Li, were inspired by the great tasks of reconstruction. Already the People's Government had won from them a respect and loyalty that the Kuomintang had never engendered. In the past they had worked for salaries and whatever could be squeezed on the side. Now they worked for the progress of their country and took its problems to heart.

We had not been on the train more than half an hour when Li suggested that we go to the diner and have some beer. We made our way back through the crowded cars and gulped down six bottles of "Five Star," Beijing's best-known brew. To pass the time we then ordered cakes, sat around talking in loud voices, and finally washed down the last of the cakes with more beer.

When we got back to the coach Lai said: "I don't think we ought to live like that."

"Why?" I asked.

"It makes a bad impression."

"The trip will be hard enough later on. Why not play a little while we can?" asked Li.

"It isn't suitable for government workers to sit around in the dining car, drink beer, and spend money like a group of profligate merchants. In Beijing we live simple. We are frugal and hardworking. We ought to do the same on the road. We ought to set a good example to everyone," Lai said.

"What does it matter as long as the money we spend is our own?" asked Li, who was treasurer for the group. He felt that if he kept public and private funds separate, that was enough.

"Lao Lai is right," Peng said, "Look at the peasant comrades on the train. They buy their food at the stalls along the way. We should do the same. If we want to be close to the people we cannot live in a different way and spend a lot of money on beer and wine. And besides, I don't know about the rest of you, but I can't afford it."

I agreed and so did Liu and Zhen. We decided we had started off on the wrong foot and agreed to act like the conscientious inspection team that we hoped to be.

The question of study came up next. At the Ministry in Beijing and at the training classes in Double Bridge everyone had studied at least an hour every day before work began in the office or the classroom. Were team members to fall behind just because they were traveling? Once again Li Mojiu didn't seem to care, but the rest wanted to keep up with their study and elected Lai to lead them. Fortunately he had brought the books along. Whenever we had a chance to sit down, read, and discuss, we took advantage of it. The topic for study that month was the reorganization of the national financial system, the unification of tax collection offices, the bringing together of all tax grain in warehouses managed by the central authorities. It was a sweeping reform that would cut waste and undercut chances of graft and corruption. If successfully carried out it could help stop inflation, put China's finances on a sound footing, and lay the basis for the nationwide construction work that was planned.

As workers in agriculture we were, of course, directly concerned with this progress. The financing of state farms and the disposal of state farm crops were directly affected. The new regulations put all state farms on a strictly commercial basis.

They could no longer live on their own resources. The produce they raised had to be turned over *in toto* to the government. The money the farms needed for operating expenses and for investment was then allocated according to the plan and was spent only if the plan called for it. Full grain bins could no longer be considered cash in hand. The change meant that much more careful management and intricate planning would be necessary. It also meant that the farms had to keep strict cost accounts and conduct operations in a business-like way. From that time on every penny had to be accounted for: before a second penny was allocated, the use of the first had to be justified.

Our first destination was Boai Farm, down near the Yellow River. We had to travel to Xinxiang and then change to a branch-line railroad that ran west to Jiaozuo, a coal mining center tucked under the edge of the Taihang mountains. The branch-line train had no regular coaches and we rode in boxcars equipped with benches. We passed through some of the most beautiful scenery in the world, or so it seemed to me that morning.

To the north the jagged peaks of the Taihang range blocked the sky. The villages that dotted the plain were ringed about with bright green squares of wheat, broken irregularly by fields of yellow flax in full bloom. Looking southward, the villages, fields, trees, and paths blurred together in a haze that we knew must harbor the Yellow River

itself, for people said that the blue range of mountains on the far horizon was in Henan, across the stream.

As we traveled westward the land began to rise and undulate. The solid expanse of fields gave way to patches of orchard trees, some of them in full bloom. There were persimmons, cherries, pears, peaches, and walnuts. We could see that the upper branches of many of these trees had been grafted onto stock of a different kind. Fruit growing had been developed into a high art and its skills were passed on from one generation to the next.

The sun shone warmly down out of a clear sky. Prosperous peasants in bright new clothes climbed onto the train with bags of grain, chickens, and strings of dried fruit. They were on their way to the market at Jiaozuo and talked animatedly among themselves. Spring had suffused the whole countryside with activity.

When we left the train at the end of the line we were still more than twenty miles from Boai Farm. We hired a cart to carry our bedding and set out on foot. Our road first skirted several large coal mines. Smoke poured from the chimney of a power plant. We could hear the rumble of the elevator machinery and the whine of steel wheels on a curved track as an engine shuttled empty gondola cars into the mine yard and hauled out a fresh trainload of coal.

Then the mountains crowded in from the north and orchards covered the land on every side. We crossed streams of sparkling mountain water that branched into irrigation ditches laid among the trees. These streams came from a mountain river down an irrigation system centuries old. A dyke tapped the torrent as it burst from the hills and sent the water outward like the ribs of a fan to service thousands of acres of land.

The sun was disappearing behind the mountains when we finally came to the farm. In the soft light of dusk the wheat fields, which had been planted in the fall, looked like flat sheets of emerald. Clear water gurgled and danced in the ditches on both sides of the road. Leaning willow trees sheltered the villages and settlements in the low-lying basin while on every side heavy thickets of bamboo, a rare growth in North China, cut off the wind. Only the highest mountain summits still peered over the tops of the vegetation to remind us that we had not suddenly dropped into a wholly new world. How rich and moist and fertile it seemed after the dry, windswept North China plain.

Mountains, rivers, running streams, a bamboo-sheltered basin of black soil—Boai looked to us like a garden of Eden set down in a forgotten valley.

We soon learned that the place was no paradise. The low wet land was a breeding ground for

mosquitoes. Malaria tormented the villages. No one who settled here escaped for long, the painful chills and fever. The tractor drivers told us that as many as a third of their number had been laid off work in one week due to illness.

The drinking water, too, was unwholesome. For some reason the people did not drink from the running streams but used only the water from shallow wells. The well water was full of minerals that caused diarrhea in newcomers and stiffened the joints of old timers. "With Boai water slake your thirst/Your legs by devils will be cursed" was a local saying.

One of the young mechanics from Beijing, homesick and lean with dysentery, thought that it was not only his legs the devils were interested in. Devils came into his room at night, he said. He locked the door, but they jumped in the window. He slammed the window shut, but they crawled under the bed. He jumped onto the bed, but they grabbed at his legs. He ended up screaming in terror, "Drive them away, drive them away."

When his companions broke into the room to see what was the matter they found him cowering under his quilt. "Help, drive the devils off, I want to go back to Beijing, I want to go back to Beijing," he shouted over and over again. For several days they could not leave him alone, so frightened was he of the stillness of the country nights, of the

ghosts and devils described by the peasants, and of the sickness that he saw all around him.

When he returned to normal, he still wanted to go back to Beijing. It was clear to us then that pioneering had its casualties as well as its victories.

When we saw the land we realized why Boai drivers had welcomed the Soviet crawler tractors with such enthusiasm. The wastelands they had to plow were full of hummocks and hollows that stalled the wheel tractors before they could get started. The roots underground were enormous. Some were as large as a man's wrist and so matted together that the furrows did not turn over and lie down as they should, but broke up, stood on end, fell backward, and twisted sideways until the whole field looked as if a herd of wild boars had been let loose. Even the big Soviet NATI's couldn't pull the five plow bottoms they were rated for, or even four for that matter. The drivers had to cut the plows down to three bottoms in order to turn the land at all. Two or three years would be needed to convert that soil into mellow ground.

For some reason that we could not understand, machines went awry as readily as men at Boai. One after another, the cylinder heads cracked. Was it the hard water? Or was it the strain of breaking heavy roots, wallowing over hummocks, and sinking in ditches? Or were the tractors poorly designed for the warm climate? The problem was serious, for there were very few spare heads

in China. The cracks in the iron had to be drilled and patched, but the patching did not last. Plows also broke in that rough ground. When the moldboards snapped in two they had to be taken to the mines at Jiaozuo for welding. All these troubles had held up the spring plowing and the farm was already a week behind.

As if disease and breakdowns were not enough, there were also personnel problems. Some of the drivers had been on the farm a year, others had just come from Henan, still others were new arrivals from North China. These different groups did not get on well in the field. They were jealous of each other. The newcomers thought they were just as competent as the old hands, but the latter had been appointed brigade and team leaders because the farm manager knew them better.

There was even more disunity among the mechanics. There were no real experts—all of them had been chosen from the repair crews at Double Bridge. Not one of them would listen to what another had to say. Each felt he was as competent as, if not more competent than, the rest. So each went his separate way and secretly rejoiced when another failed to solve some problem, on the chance that this might enhance his own prestige.

Speeches about working together were no solution. What was needed was a man who knew enough about machines to win the respect of the rest and lead them to work together. The techni-

cian in charge did not have that much knowledge. He was one of the Harbin students who had been a truck driver, not a mechanic, and his qualifications as a technician consisted of a year's course in the training school at Harbin and a few months' experience on a northeastern farm. As far as the mechanics were concerned, he was an amateur. They thought he didn't know any more than they did, so they were not willing to listen to him.

To add to the difficulties created by friction among the workers themselves, there was a growing gulf between the management of the farm and the staff at all levels.

The farm manager was a man named Xu. Before the Japanese war, he had been a middle-school teacher. After the invasion of North China, he joined the Communist-led guerrillas and become the general affairs secretary of his county government. In many ways he seemed an ideal man to head up a large enterprise. Although he knew very little about agriculture he had had years of administrative experience. He was level-headed, hardworking, honest to the tips of his toes, and extremely loyal to the ideals of the revolution.

What Xu lacked was imagination and human warmth. Like a schoolmaster, he weighed and considered every question and delayed action until the last minute. He rarely consulted with others and those under him felt frustrated. Deci-

sions made without their participation, they carried out only half-heartedly.

Two problems which troubled most farms were acute at Boai: food and medical care. On both scores we found many people grumbling. They said they were not getting the food they paid for. They ate coarse grain and cabbage day after day at prices that would have bought noodles and steamed bread in Beijing. As for the medical care—the sick had to pay for their own drugs and there was no doctor, only a man with limited first aid experience. Since everyone got sick at Boai, the workers felt that medicine at least should be free. They were upset because Manager Xu's wife, a chronic invalid, got a subsidy from the provincial government for medical expenses. "The cadres are taken care of," they said, "so why shouldn't we be?"

Afraid of getting only the manager's side of the picture, the members of the Spring Sowing Inspection Group avoided Xu entirely. We spent our time talking to the workers. When we heard that the food was not good we skipped the special breakfast that had been prepared for us and went out to the courtyard to eat with everyone else. We went to the shops and to the fields and everywhere asked what grievances people had. The more information we gathered, the more shocked we were.

After two days we had recorded a long list of problems. At a meeting attended by Xu, the vice-manager, the secretary, and the brigade leaders, we read out the list as if it were a catalogue of charges against them.

Xu looked dazed. He admitted many things were wrong, but he said that there were a lot of factors we had not considered. The discussion was inconclusive. We left the meeting feeling frustrated, and so did he. Xu hardly seemed capable of managing so large a farm. It did not occur to us to have a long frank talk with him and find out how things looked from his point of view.

On the day that we left, as we walked eastward from the farm toward Boai town. I found myself alone with Xu. I asked him the question that had been bothering me.

"What about this subsidy for your wife?"

"They told you about that?"

"Yes. There seems to be a lot of resentment over it."

"They don't know the background. Yes, my wife does get medical aid. It is because she ruined her health during the war. She was a leader in the guerrilla movement. She worked herself to exhaustion. The food was poor. They had to be on the move all the time. She finally had a breakdown. While the war lasted there was no rest for anyone. Her recovery was delayed. Now she is able to get some of the care she needs."

"Then it isn't because she is your wife?"

"No, of course not."

There was a long silence as this sank in.

"I don't know," Xu said finally with a sigh. "I think this job is too much for me. I haven't been able to win the support of the men. I have had no experience with machines. I have decided to ask the ministry to relieve me."

All at once I realized what the effect of our visit had been on him. I tried to speak a few words of encouragement, but it was late for that. At the gate of the county seat he said goodbye. He had business with the district chairman. He walked down the street with his shoulders drooping and his head bent forward, like a man whose burdens are too heavy to bear.

On the train traveling back north, I asked the others if they thought we had done the right thing at Boai. Had we accomplished our mission? Had we left the farm more united, more vigorous, and more confident than when we arrived? To all this the answer seemed to be: No. We had been too one-sided. We had listened to the workers but not to the managers. We had catalogued the defects but not the achievements. We had understood part of the problem but not the problem as a whole. We had made no distinction between just and unjust complaints—as in the case of Xu's wife—and we had laid all the complaints at Xu's door as if he alone were responsible. The result was to lower,

not raise, morale, and to so discourage the manager himself that he asked to be relieved. Could the problems of mechanized farming be solved by encouraging all the managers to resign?

When Xu said there were many factors we had not considered, he was right. The men wanted a good doctor, but could a good doctor easily be found? In the whole of China there were only a few thousand good doctors. The men said food cost more than in Beijing. That was true, but it was not simply poor management. Although grain was cheap enough on the local market, all kinds of vegetables were expensive, including cabbage. There were no large market gardens around the county town of Boai.

The real problem was one of confidence and cooperation. They had to learn how to pull together. Then all the problems could eventually be solved. But we had taken the side of the workers against the management and helped to create an even greater rift. Had we not failed to grasp that Boai Farm was a socialist enterprise, an enterprise in which there should be no basic conflict of interest between the manager and the workers? In reality, in such an enterprise could there be any "side" of the workers? Could there be any "side" of management? Perhaps there could only be the "side" of how best to improve production so that the life of the whole people might be improved. Where exploitation no longer existed, was every-

one not on the same side? If a manager had short-comings, didn't the question become how could he be helped to overcome them? Were men capable of running ten-thousand-acre farms growing on trees? If not, then didn't the best men available have to be chosen and then aided, encouraged, and cultivated until they became capable of handling the job? Was it any solution to mobilize their workers against them?

These were some of the questions we discussed as we traveled away from Boai. By the time we reached Yongnian, the next farm on our itinerary, we had decided to approach the whole question differently.

Yongnian Farm had changed a lot since October, when Jiao Shiru and I had gone there hunting gasoline. At that time, a school for captured Nationalist officers had occupied most of the empty buildings. Now the officers had completed their studies and moved away to take up civilian work and the farm had expanded into their former quarters, which consisted of dozens of interconnected courtyards. The first time we walked there alone we got lost in the many different levels, alleys, archways. gates, and yards that separated the farm office and the repair shop. One wrong turn and we wandered into an unknown maze.

All these abandoned buildings were a grim reminder of the bloody fighting that had taken place during one of the longest and bitterest sieges of the civil war. A group of former bandit troops, affiliated with the Kuomintang after the Japanese surrender, had taken over the city of Yongnian in 1945 and held it against all comers. In 1947 the people's militia laid siege to the city and cut the enemy soldiers off from supplies. Chiang supported his garrison with air-dropped weapons, ammunition, and food. The soldiers lived a luxurious life—each one was reported to have several wives—but the civilian populace soon ran out of grain. People died by the hundreds in the streets, and their bodies were thrown into the most that ringed the town. So many bodies rotted there that the stench carried far into the countryside and the fish, feeding on human flesh, grew to unprecedented size. In the grand effort to take the city, the peasants of the surrounding countryside threw up a circular dyke and diverted the waters of the Wei River into the lowlands around the town. The water, rising slowly against the city gates, would have put an end to the garrison's resistance had not the Kuomintang commander radioed for air support. A plane flew in from Beijing and blew up the dyke. The resulting flood lashed back at its creators, destroyed the crops for many miles around, and drove tens of thousands from their homes. After that a long stalemate ensued: the militia were not strong enough to take the town; the garrison was not strong enough to break out. Townspeople continued to die, and the fish in the moat, which by that time had become a vast lake, grew larger and larger. Finally, when all the remaining Kuomintang forces in North China had been defeated, the Yongnian detachment made a desperate effort to break out and run for the South. The men did not get very far. One by one their small groups were rounded up and brought in by the armed people of the surrounding counties.

The lands of Yongnian Farm were marked out on the lake bottom itself and ringed the town in the shape of a doughnut. The extraordinary fertility of the rick black soil was due, the people said, to the corpses of both fish and men that had rotted there, and indeed the place did have a grim and ghostly aspect. Great dark, medieval battlements rose from the sunken plain and towered over the half-empty town. The water of the moat, which reflected these battlements on its surface. was so black and turgid that one could not see into it more than a few inches. On every side there was only an empty expanse in which the tractors were all but lost. How many years would it take to revive this place? Not many, we decided, when we saw the farm staff in action. Although the land, the crops, and the expected yields were not nearly as good as at Boai, everyone seemed cheerful, cooperative, and full of plans for the future. The food was excellent. Since the farm buildings were situated right in the heart of the town and the town was a county seat, there was no great medical problem. The county clinic was right next door. Nor was the staff isolated and cut off from all cultural life. The workers and their wives joined with the students of the local high school to produce plays and to sing in the chorus. Many wives found employment in the town and added to the family income. Study circles and an evening school were well attended.

The man who had organized all this was Farm Manager Liu, a fat, energetic cadre from the Provincial Production Department who had formerly run a large cotton ginning plant at Weixian, forty miles to the east. When he was put in charge at Yongnian Farm, he had not given up the gin. It was attached to the farm as a subsidiary enterprise and he managed both at once.

Unlike Xu with his serious schoolmaster's ways, Liu had a knack for getting along with young people. He understood the sense of adventure that had brought them into mechanized farming, gave his young technicians and brigade leaders their heads, and backed them up with all the support he could muster. He also paid great attention to comfort and living standards. He headed a committee that actively supervised the kitchen and saw to it that drivers in the field got hot meals and hot water for drinking.

Everyone told us that Manager Liu really cared for the wellbeing of the staff. They said he himself had shouldered a carrying pole and hauled boiled water to the fields when there was no one else available to do it. He also checked night and day to see that everyone had enough to eat, warm clothes to wear when the wind blew, and hats for protection from the sun. All this made him a most popular manager and helped to unite the whole farm into a team that worked together with enthusiasm.

Things were going so well at the farm that there was no need to stay long. We asked for a truck to take us to South Ridge and pushed off in a heavy rainstorm.

Chapter 22

Big Yang Sits Under the Pomegranate Tree

We arrived in South Ridge just as the wheat was making its first spurt of growth. Guo Huxian's fears for the crop appeared to be justified. Where the alkali was heavy, the new sprouts were already stunted and yellow at the base. Even the best wheat was not as green and strong as that grown by the more skillful of the peasant farmers. Nevertheless, everyone was hopeful. With a few good rains, they said, a crop of fifteen to eighteen bushels to the acre could certainly be harvested. Such a yield would not be below the local average.

In spite of this optimism the morale of the tractor drivers was low. Preparations were under way for heavy spring work, for the planting of sorghum and cotton, for the plowing up of new areas of wasteland—but the young people went

about their tasks with less than their usual vigor and spirit. I sensed that there must be some friction between the tractor brigade and the farm management, but it was not easy to get to the root of it.

After talking with a number of South Ridge people one thing became clear. No one had confidence in Big Yang, the man who had again assumed responsibility for the farm after Zhang Xingsan left to set up the State Farm Management Bureau in Beijing.

Yang was an old man and very large. Everyone called him Yang Pangzi (Big Yang).¹⁶ He seemed often to be in the grip of a strange lethargy. He sat for long periods in one place, usually a sunny spot, without moving so much as an eyelash. At such times he apparently neither slept nor thought but simply existed, inhaled and exhaled, vegetated like a turnip.

Beside the door of the farm office grew a beautifully proportioned pomegranate tree. Sitting peacefully under this tree, his eyes half closed, Yang Pangzi looked for all the world like one of those carved mahogany buddhas that are so common in the curio markets of China. If he had donned a flowing robe in place of his padded cotton jacket and had crossed his legs under him the image would have been perfect.

¹⁶ Pangzi means "fatty" or "fatso."—Ed.

Yang came from a solid middle peasant family with close ties to the soil. He had great prestige in his home region, which was not far to the south of Jixian. During the anti-Japanese war he had joined the resistance movement and had been so well thought of by local leaders that he was sent all the way to Yanan to study resistance policies and guerrilla warfare. He walked several hundred miles through the mountains to get there.

Perhaps age and weariness had since overtaken him. Perhaps he felt he had done enough and it was time to relax. Perhaps he felt incapable of handling the complex problems posed by a large mechanized farm. Just what the trouble was it was hard to say, especially since Yang didn't talk much about it.

He was used to acre and half-acre lots, the whole of which could be seen from the shade of one pomegranate tree. Since he did not have a car and could not ride a bicycle, he did not even get around regularly to look at the 2,000 acres under his care. Some of the best wheat grew not far from South Ridge village. It could be seen from the office gate. Yang rarely saw any other. His solution to alkalinity, as to almost every other soil and crop problem, was to plow, plow, and plow some more. He did not realize that a tractor plow that turned the soil over from six to eight inches deep was very different from the peasants' iron-tipped stick that scratched the surface like a cultivator. He

had a pathetic faith that somehow, if the soil were turned and stirred often enough, the salt would fade away and fertility would rise from below.

Old Yang spent more time worrying about the garden outside the farm's back gate than he did about the whole rest of the farm put together. The garden was on a scale he could grasp. He personally supervised the construction of a wall which enclosed it

It should not be supposed that Yang was a bad man. He was not. He was a good man, a very kind man. He had served the Chinese people and the Chinese Revolution well for many years. Faced with a responsibility that demanded too much, he clung to what he knew while the rest of life rushed past. He lacked what Chairman Mao called a "sense of the new," and so, inevitably, he became a bureaucrat. He was not an autocratic bureaucrat who ordered people around, or a *xinxin kukude* (busybody) bureaucrat who wore himself and everyone else out looking after minor details. He was a do-nothing bureaucrat who preferred contemplation to action and continued to hope that the whole world would slow down a little.

As the *People's Daily* pointed out time and again, bureaucracy was the "hot bed" of waste and corruption. Irregularities flourished around the honest, well-meaning, and often hardworking bureaucrat in every field of work. Energetic and ambitious opportunists took advantage of the sit-

uation to pursue their own ends. South Ridge was no exception.

Since Yang did not grasp the reins of control very tightly another man took over the day-byday operation of the farm. This man was Secretary Li. (Not to be confused with Li Zhi, director of the training class.) He was administrative assistant to Yang. He was supposed to run the farm office, receive and send letters, oversee the use of funds, and help the managers in every way possible. Secretary Li did far more than that. He made most of the decisions, disbursed funds, hired new staff members, called and supervised meetings. His position was strengthened by the fact that he was concurrently the chairman of the local Communist Party branch. Not only farm affairs, but Communist Party affairs as well, were in his hands

Secretary Li was a native of Nangong, the thriving cotton and commercial center thirty miles to the south. For many years he had been a cadre in the revolutionary government there, but his thinking was still very close to that of a small tradesman. This was not strange, for Nangong was famous for its merchants and its trade. Every peasant family had at least one relative in business. In Nangong people were far more concerned with profit than with production.

When Secretary Li came to Jiheng he found huge sums of money waiting to be invested in crop production. These monies were the farm's operating capital. To see such funds sit idle, even temporarily, distorted Secretary Li's entrepreneurial soul. Why let fertilizer funds gather dust until spring, when they could be invested in trade and make a handsome profit for the farm in the meantime? Li chose the consumer co-op as the most likely place to put these funds to work. The co-op had been established by Director Li, head of the first tractor training class, to provide daily necessities for the staff and students of the center. Towels, toothbrushes, cigarettes, coal, notebooks, paper, pens, and ink were sold. Secretary Li immediately set to work to expand its operations. He turned it into a wholesale house. He bought cigarettes by the mule cartload, sold them to local peddlers pifan—bulk—and allowed them to make a sizeable profit marketing them retail. The co-op also became a coal distribution center for villages in a wide area west of the basin. This trade also proved profitable.

To handle the expanded activities of the co-op. Li hired friends and relatives from Nangong. Soon the co-op staff outnumbered the administrative staff of the farm. With his own men in the majority, Secretary Li's wishes usually carried the day. A great part of every staff member's time and energy was spent discussing commercial operations.

Secretary Li was constantly looking for areas in which to expand further. Several small pump engines sitting in the stockroom gave him a bright idea. He set up a cotton ginning plant in Jixian and contracted to gin government cotton at so much per bale. Mechanics were dispatched to keep the gin running. The sub-soil of the basin was good for making bricks. This gave Secretary Li another bright idea. He decided to go into the brick business. He located a manager in Nangong to set up a kiln. Twenty local peasants were hired in the off season as brickmakers. Truck transport was also lucrative. Secretary Li dispatched the farm trucks on commercial hauling expeditions.

In the meanwhile, farm work fell into a pitiful state. I have already described the wheat. The sorghum field was choked with rank weeds. Scores of tons of sheep manure, which were to insure a good cotton crop, still lay in the sheep pens where they had accumulated over the years. The energy, the capital, the talents, and the organizing ability allocated by the state to reclaim marginal land and grow bumper crops were being diverted by Secretary Li into subsidiary, non-agricultural enterprises which, though profitable, had nothing to do with farming.

In this respect, Secretary Li was only following in the footsteps of Big Yang. He was sticking to what he knew best: in his case, this was not gardening but business. Profit and loss, margins, rebates, retail and wholesale—Li had sucked all this in with his mother's milk. Given capital to

play with he was perfectly capable of running it into a million. Secretary Li was bolstered in his natural affinity for business by the formidable task of converting the basin into a flourishing farm. He had very little faith that any crop ventures could succeed in making money. Hence, he took the path of least resistance and expected that by showing financial gains he would win favor with the bureau that employed him.

In this he openly defied the People's Government. There were strict regulations laid down for just such irregularities. Funds allocated for production were to be used for that and that alone. Trading, transport, brick kilns, cotton ginning—these had no place on a state farm unless designed to supply its own members, process its own products, or transport its own supplies. Business for business' sake was illegal. *Zhuanguan, zhuanyong,* (earmarked funds for earmarked use) was the slogan. But the country was large, enterprises were many, a clever manager could distort national policy for a fairly lengthy period without being corrected.

It was the distortion of government policy that upset the tractor drivers. They had come to build a farm, only to find themselves submerged in multiple commercial enterprises. With Secretary Li, business came first, tractors second or third. He fired Liu, the blacksmith, diverted skilled men to the cotton gin when the tractors needed their

attention, and used the tractors to haul bricks. Everyone was angry, but there was not much they could do about it.

The diversion of funds turned out to be only a part of the story. One night, Lao Guo, the former militiaman from the Taihang, asked me to come to his room. "I want to tell you something about finances," he said.

When I arrived he told me that the drivers suspected Secretary Li of corruption.

"Did you see that cotton gin in town?" he asked. "Yes."

"Well, every month the State Cotton Company gives the gin so much cotton to process. The cotton is top grade. We are supposed to return top grade cotton. But Secretary Li, in league with a Nangong merchant, sells a portion of the top grade cotton, substitutes second or third rate stuff in its place, and turns the mixture back to the government. He himself pockets the difference."

I was stunned. "Are you sure about this? Have you any proof?"

"We can't prove it absolutely. But that is what those who work at the gin say, and there are other things which tie in with it. You know that Secretary Li gets a moderate salary, just as the rest of us do. Yet he supports a very large family. There are at least eight people living off him here at the farm. They often eat meat dumplings, eggs, and pork. These are foods the rest of us can't afford.

Where does Secretary Li get the money? He is the only one in the family who works. His wife has no job as many of ours do. Everything they have must come from him."

"Have you reported this?" I asked. "Couldn't it be investigated?"

"We took it up with the Provincial Agricultural Department, but they have done nothing. They said they would send someone down to investigate but no one has come. We also took it up with the Party branch. But Li is chairman, he denies everything."

"Can't you appeal to a higher body?"

"I have. I went to the regional committee. But they have known Li for a long time and can't believe he would do such a thing. Also, he is a local man. Ji Fengying (one of the three girl students of the first training class who had stayed on at Jiheng as a brigade leader) and I are outsiders. They think we may be trying to discredit him."

"But surely they will send someone to investigate."

"Maybe they will," said Guo, "but they haven't yet. They still wonder it I am not making this up for personal motives."

"What about the general farm meeting? Hasn't this matter come up there? Surely everyone knows of it by now?" I asked.

"We are outvoted on the farm council. In the general meeting many are reluctant to speak. Lao Gang has spoken out. He had a personal quarrel with Li. But he gets so angry that you can hardly tell what he is saying."

"What is his personal quarrel?"

"It concerns his wife. You know, he just got out of the army. He married a widow, but she is not such a proper sort of person. Lao Gang is away a lot. He does the buying. He is gone for a week or two at a time. His wife has taken up with Li, or so he says. When he is away, they carry on. Li has given her expensive presents, so now Lao Gang wants a divorce."

"But he only got married a few months ago."

"Yes, but he is fed up and angry. He doesn't want anything more to do with her. She really is not a good woman. But the marriage could be a success if there were no temptation."

"Ai ya!" I said. "This is fantastic."

The whole story made me feel sick through and through. It was bad enough to suspect any government cadre of corruption or immorality, but to have such a man at Jiheng Farm undermining morale, using government funds for personal gain, and allowing all the hard work of a year to slide into ruin in the meantime—this was a blow that struck home. Each of us who had worked at Jiheng felt a personal stake in the welfare of the farm. It was our first child—a hard luck child no doubt, but still a first child—and we were determined to give it every chance. Then along came

a man who turned it into a personal gold mine. It was appalling.

I wondered if it were possible for one man to ruin what a hundred had built up. Could the drivers, young people like Guo and Ji Fengying, ever allow it? All their training cried out against the corruption and perversion of their work. Wasn't the vision of a new China too bright to be tarnished and brought low by one selfish manipulator who tried to "drag them into the mud hole"? And yet their protest seemed to be gagged. The higher authorities were hesitating. Bureaucrats were passing responsibility from hand to hand. How could the problem be solved?

The group of technicians from Beijing was not an investigating team. We had no authority to conduct an inquiry into graft and corruption. The best we could do was to raise the problem when we got back. We did, however, have the right to challenge the general policy of the farm. At a meeting of the farm council, we sharply attacked the diversion of funds to projects which had nothing to do with agriculture and warned that the farm would be judged by the crops it harvested, not by the number of cases of cigarettes sold. It was obvious that if the funds were properly used, graft would be far more difficult. There were no easy profits to be wrung from the wastelands. A good crop there could only be the result of hard

work and careful planning, and that was not the kind of row that grafters liked to hoe.

We returned to Beijing with heavy hearts, unaware that in the future a great movement against graft, corruption, and bureaucracy would expose men like Li all over the nation. In the meantime, our job was to plan for the harvest, the first mechanized harvest in North China. For soon the wheat would be ripe and Li or no Li, we would have to harvest it.

Chapter 23

When the Sun Stands One Stalk High

Bold young men and maidens fair
Fear not work nama yi ya hei
Before the cock's crow fades away
We mount the combines to start a new day.
The tractor thunders o'er the field
The combines roars, nama yi ya hei
Watch the tractor roll and turn
Hear the combine whirl and churn.
Now the sun stands one stalk high
One stalk high, nama yi ya hei
We've harvested three tanks of grain
Grease up, fuel up, start again.

The young men and women in the railroad car sang lustily as Xue Feng, now a dean of students at Double Bridge, made up the words to verse after verse. On the line from Shijiazhuang to Dexian, boxcars with benches still served for passenger coaches, so we were all crowded in together instead of being scattered through the train wherever there was an empty scat. The group was made up of technicians and drivers from farms all over North China. There were a few from Henan, south of the Yellow River, and one from Shandong. On that sunny afternoon as we rolled along at a leisurely pace through the fields of ripening wheat and plots of young millet and cotton, the spirit of adventure soared high. The other passengers smiled and exchanged curious glances as they watched the young people in worker's garb sing out at the top of their voices.

"Where are the comrades going?" asked an old peasant who held a pipe about two feet long and enjoyed two puffs of smoke for each laborious tilling of it.

"Down to South Ridge to harvest the wheat," came the reply in chorus.

"And what would workers be doing at the wheat harvest?" asked a merchant in a long blue gown. His newly purchased bolts of cloth were stacked near the open door.

"We're going to harvest it with machines," said Lao Hei, the mechanic who had once offered to be my blood brother, with undisguised pride.

"Machines? What sort of machines are those?" asked the peasant, incredulous.

"Combine harvesters, from the Soviet elder brothers. They have knives sixteen feet long and can cut two hundred *mu* in a day."

"Is that a Soviet brother?" asked the old man, pointing me out with the stem of his pipe.

"Oh no," said several of the drivers at once. "That's Lao Han, our American technician."

"Can he run the machines?"

"Sure, of course he can," said the drivers, almost indignant at the question.

I wished that I felt so confident. I had never run a combine in my life. I had spent one afternoon years ago filling bags on a combine in an upstate New York oat field, but aside from two dollars, I had gained nothing from the experience. I hadn't even looked inside the threshing chamber. Yet here I was responsible for the operation of seven enormous Soviet harvesters. I kept wondering if the preparations had been complete. Did we have enough parts? Would the machinist from Beijing be able to handle the mobile lathe shop that had just arrived? Was there enough oil? What if the canvasses got wet?

There was nothing that could be done about those questions now, but still I worried. Everything that had been done in South Ridge since the tractor class first opened—the training courses, the gasoline, oil, and seed that had been consumed, the patient work with the peasants, the renova-

tion of buildings, the planning and the endless work—all would be on trial in the next two weeks.

The drivers did not share my anxiety. After a two weeks intensive course on combine operation in Double Bridge, they felt they knew what the big machines were all about. After all, they had assembled them, learned the function of every working part, started them up, and driven them around. What had at first looked like a confused mass of steel, iron, chains, sprockets, reels, and levers had gradually taken on rational lines. There was the sickle knife that cut the standing grain, the revolving canvas that carried it into the box, the threshing cylinder that smashed the kernels from the heads, the straw walker that walked the stalks to the rear, the sieves and fans that separated the wheat from the chaff, blew the lighter material away, and let the heavy kernels themselves fall to the bottom. And finally, there were the elevators that carried clean grain to the top of the machine where it accumulated in an enormous tank until a truck could come to carry it away. Should anything go wrong with all this, the drivers thought, Lao Han would help them, as in the past, and everything would be solved.

I was not so sure. The fans could be made to turn at different speeds, the sieves to leap at different intensities, the apertures for wind and chaff could be widened or narrowed, the teeth of the cylinder set close or far apart. The combinations and permutations were endless. Only experience could dictate what was the proper way or the best way. Experience none of us had had.

The textbooks and instruction manuals were useless. The American books simply described the machines, told how much they could harvest in a day, and analyzed the cost per bushel. About adjustment, operation, wet conditions, dry conditions, wheat as distinct from rye or barley, they said not a word. The Russian books were in Russian, which none of us could read, and even if we had been able to, we would not have benefited much, for according to an interpreter, they dealt mainly with specifications and repair. One thing at least we had, a complete maintenance chart that showed how often each part should be greased or oiled or attended to. Since there were dozens of grease fittings, we had invented a system of colored dots, red for four hours, green for ten, yellow for twenty, and so on. Each fitting had its dot and on the back of the machine the key was painted in large letters. Why hadn't the builders thought of that in the first place? I wondered.

"Lao Han, come on and sing," said Zhang Ming, the tractor student with a middle-school education who aspired to be an engineer. He said it mockingly—he always liked to tease me by talking Chinese with a terrible accent which he said was a copy of mine. "What are you worrying about?"

"I was thinking about the combines," I said.

"Well, stop worrying. Before the machines came you were worried that we wouldn't have them and how would we harvest the wheat. And now that they are here you worry that we cannot use them. Never mind. Everything will be fine. Let's sing."

Zhang Ming was right. I worried too much. All winter I had fretted over the Jiheng harvest. By dint of prodigious persuasive effort I had managed, while in Manchuria, to convince Bureau Head Gu to give us a threshing machine of enormous capacity, but what was one threshing machine for two thousand acres? And how was the crop to be cut and hauled? I did not believe that combines would really come from the Soviet Union in time for the summer harvest. I thought, of course, that in the long run machinery would come from Stalingrad and Kabarovsk, and the Altai, but that was something for the future. It had nothing to do with 1950. The harvest at South Ridge would have to be cut by hand. Mechanized farmers in the fields with sickles! Talk about "face." That would be a real loss of face.

Then suddenly, a month before harvesting time, the machinery had begun to pour in—trainloads of tractors, combines, grain drills, plows, and harrows arrived from the Soviet Union. None of us would soon forget the first night of that deluge.

We could not see the end of the long line of flatcars that stretched westward from Double Bridge station into the darkness. On each car sat two enormous tractors waiting for the crank. They had to be started up and driven off before dawn. In two hours we managed to move only a dozen of them and we were already exhausted.

The huge kerosene-burning monsters were stiff and sluggish. It was all we could do to crank them over, but cranking over slowly was not enough to start them up. Every now and then one would spring to life, but most of the time we worked in vain. We put gasoline in the petcocks. The motor sputtered and died. We put gasoline in again only to have the same thing happen. There didn't seem to be any rhyme or reason to it. Some of the tractors just would not respond.

We tried cranking with two men. We tried cranking with ropes so that four or five could pull at once. Nothing worked.

About two in the morning Director Li disappeared in the jeep and came back with hot millet porridge and steamed bread. We squatted around the steaming pot under the glare of the electric lamp that lit the station platform. The task seemed hopeless. The great machines sat cold and silent on their cars. The station master came out to ask how we were progressing.

"There are lots more up there yet," he said.

"Yes, so it seems," said Director Li.

"Think you'll get them off in time?"

"Doesn't look like it now. How about giving us more time?"

"Well, it's supposed to be four hours, after that you pay demurrage. But the engine won't be in until nine o'clock. If you have them off by that time we won't ask anything."

We started in again. The rest and the food had renewed our strength, and, for a while, motors popped to life all up and down the line. But the vigor soon faded. We settled down to a long slow fight. Draining the fuel helped in some cases, but in others nothing seemed to work. We had to keep cranking even though our arms and legs ached beyond endurance and refused to obey our brains.

The sky grew light in the east. The sun rose. We could feel the growing heat on our backs but still the loaded cars kept coming. Finally, just as we heard the whistle of the engine on its way, the last tractor sputtered and caught and was driven off.

We started to climb into the truck that would take us back to the school when somebody shouted:

"Look, combines!"

And sure enough, as we turned to watch, the engine glided into the station with a trainload of new machinery—great, gray, sheet-metal monsters sitting on flat cars with their wheels blocked and wired. C-6, said the faded white paint on the grain tanks. The "C" stood for Stalinetz and the

"6" for the six-meter-long sickle bar that filled the rest of each car.

Jiheng's harvest was safe at last!

We were so excited that we forgot about the agony of the night and set to work unloading the combines without stopping for breakfast.

Telegrams immediately went out to all the farms to send in their best drivers for a training course.

Hastily, technician Wan, who had once studied in America with the International Harvester Co. and who came to us from the University of Nanjing, and I organized the study of the machines. It could hardly be called a course since there was no one qualified to teach it. As always we worked together, exchanged ideas and argued points of disagreement. Now we were on our way to the wheat fields, and new worries had replaced the old. That was life.

Xue Feng, who loved music far more than machines, or politics, or anything except possibly food, had already dreamed up a last verse to his song. As he repeated it over and over so that everyone could memorize it, I joined in. The verse was perhaps over optimistic. But why bother about that when everyone else was enjoying himself? I sang along at the top of my voice:

The combines make a hula hula sound A hula hula sound, nama-yi ya hei

The last grain of wheat has been hauled away Happily we sing at close of day.

Hei, hei, hei, hei

The last grain of wheat has been hauled away Happily we sing at the close of day.

Chapter 24

Combines in the Cotton Patch

t the station we were met by the farm carts **1** and rode down through the familiar countryside under a clear sky that promised good harvest weather. The further south we went, the poorer the wheat became. It hail obviously been very dry. We became more and more anxious about the South Ridge crop and could hardly wait to see it. As soon as we came to the edge of Jiheng Farm, Xue Feng and I dropped off the cart and began a tour of the fields that lasted until nightfall. We found some fine stands of wheat with stalks thrusting up thigh high, but the more we looked the more certain we became that this was no bumper crop. As we had foreseen, the alkali spots were the worst; in many places there was no wheat at all, only the bare ground. This was especially true where the ground was high because every ridge and raised hummock increased evaporation and concentrated the salt. The wheat shoots died before they grew an inch tall. In other spots the wheat had come up well but had failed to grow vigorously and was now beginning to head out only a foot or so above the ground. The absurdity of the widely spaced rows in which it had been planted was clearly revealed. The growing wheat did not begin to cover the land. There was room between each thin green line for at least two more sets of plants. But there was nothing that could be done about that now; experiments with closer planting would have to wait for the next crop.

After surveying every field, we estimated that the crop would not even run ten bushels to the acre. There were twelve, fifteen, and even twenty bushel patches, but the average of the whole would not be over ten, if that. The only consolation was that some of the peasants in the surrounding area had even poorer stands; on the other hand, a lot of them had much better. With all our machinery, gasoline, deep plowing, and technical proficiency, we were still behind the peasants.

We came across an old man picking bugs from some straggly cotton plants.

"What do you think of the Jiheng crop?" Xue asked him.

"Very good," he said. "Very good."

"It's certainly not as good as yours," said Xue, wondering if the man was holding back the truth for fear of offending us. "How can you say it is very good?"

"That's wasteland out there. The salt ruined it ever since the flood. It has grown nothing. I think you got a good crop."

We found the same reaction everywhere. The peasants hadn't expected to see as much wheat as was growing there. This made us feel much better. Anyway, it was too late to do anything about it. Ten bushels or five, it still had to be cut and stored. For the next twenty days all attention was turned to the harvest. We thought, talked, and dreamed of nothing else. Big Yang's small peasant ways, Secretary Li's commercial deviations, his misuse of farm funds, the poor results in the cotton field, the fiasco of the sorghum, the overstaffing of the co-op—all these would have to wait. If the wheat was not cut on time, it would be lost. And yet these problems turned up to plague us whether we thought of them or not.

We ran into trouble right away trying to find a place to assemble the combines. The wall that Manager Yang had built around the garden was supposed to encompass a tractor park as well, but Yang was so delighted with this enclosure that he had planted the whole area to cotton. Since the land was in first-class condition—it had been bought from the village only a few months

before—the tractor-yard cotton was doing much better than the main crop in the basin.

It was the pride of Yang's life. He protested against moving the machines in and was deeply hurt when we insisted that there was no place else. When we finally had our way, he suffered over each strong green plant that was trampled in the dirt.

Neither Yang nor Secretary Li had any faith in the ability of the combines. In America and in the Soviet Union, combines might work. Certainly nobody would go to the trouble of making such enormous monsters if they couldn't do any work. But after all, this was China. Maybe Chinese wheat was different. It had always been cut by hand. It shattered easily. Also, the crop was poor. Maybe it was too low. There wasn't much straw. Wouldn't the wheat all be blown out behind? And besides, could the young drivers use the machines? Would they be able to adjust them? Yang had read about a combine fiasco in the Northeast, where a farm had tried to use combines for harvesting and had lost a major proportion of the crop. If there were delays, it would be too late to hire local people. Then everything would be lost.

Secretary Li thought it best to take no chances. He got in touch with the local high school and the Teacher Training Institute and asked if they would send students to help. He also arranged with the commander of the district garrison to send men

down to guard the crop. If worse came to worse they could help out.

Fortunately for Jiheng Farm, Manager Liu came up from Yongnian with his tractor crews and under a directive from the Provincial Agricultural Bureau took over command of the harvest.

He proved to be an energetic organizer, full of enthusiasm for machinery and new ways. He did not stop to worry about everything that might go wrong. Instead he went right ahead and plunged in. "You can't learn to swim if you don't jump into the water," he said.

Liu organized the harvest campaign as if he were going into battle, which was exactly the way we all felt. The combine crews were the front-line fighters. They had to be supported by supply contingents, reinforced with mechanics, and protected by first aid men. Fuel and parts had to be shifted to the field, hot meals sent out, and boiled water supplied at all times. The harvested grain had to be hauled home, dried on prepared ground, cleaned, weighed, and stored. Something had to be done about the peasants, some of whom had already taken advantage of moonless nights to carry off a *mu* or two of the best wheat.

Since the farm was divided into two main areas that were more than four miles apart, all these activities had to be set up in duplicate. Two field kitchens were necessary, and two mechanic's teams, and two medical kits. There was no way to divide the mobile machine shop, so it was assigned to the farthest section and set up operations at the sheep pens east of Han Family Village. Liu and Yang divided the harvest area between them and took turns presiding over first one side and then the other.

I was the only one who was expected to be everywhere at once. Since I couldn't be divided in two, I was given a new Shanghai-made bicycle with which to pedal furiously back and forth. An outstanding feature of this bicycle was a beautiful electric generator and light imported from Holland. The peasants in the villages along my route were delighted with it. They had never seen the like and when word got around that Teacher Han's bicycle *mo ziji de dian* (ground its own electricity) I had to stop at frequent intervals along the way to demonstrate it.

A week of tinkering, tightening, repairing, and adjusting finally put the combines into shape. The weather held fair and hot, the wheat ripened quickly. The peasants were already busy hauling in the sheaves and stacking them around the village threshing floors. It was time to begin.

As the great machines went lumbering out of the gate with the Soviet tractors in front blasting their exhaust to the sky and the headers trailing behind on twenty-foot wheeled racks, it looked as if some long disjointed Chinese dragons had suddenly come to life. At the last minute the drivers had somewhere unearthed red banners, and from the highest point of each combine, front and rear, they streamed out proudly in the wind. A great cheer went up from those who stood watching. The combine crews cheered back. Only Big Yang looked unhappy; the best of his cotton plants had been destroyed. As the noise of the machines faded in the distance, he looked the garden over carefully and shook his head. The cotton would never recover.

Chapter 25

It Works

Banners and cheers were all very well, but now we were face to face with the ripe wheat itself. It stretched out on every side, bending with the breeze and rustling quietly—peaceful, serene, provocative. Would the combines succeed? Could they really digest this enormous expanse? I felt as if I had had nothing to eat for several days.

For a beginning we selected a good stand of wheat east of Han Family Village. I told three of the crews to wait while I went with the fourth to make the first cut. Lao Hei started the engine, let the clutch in slowly, and brought the whole rattling mechanism up to speed. It shook, whined, and roared, but nothing gave way. So far so good. We had done that much before. Then Lao Hei pulled a long blast on the exhaust whistle; the

tractor starred up with a jolt and the great long header plunged into the wheat.

I don't know what we expected to happen. Perhaps the knives would plug, or the wheat would fall on the ground, or the canvas would jam—but no such thing occurred. Urged by the sweeping reel, the golden ears came dancing onto the canvas. The canvas in turn bore them rapidly to the cylinder that knocked them to pieces with a low snarl. Soon straw began to bounce from the rear of the combine, and then grain began to pour into the grain tank. We watched the growing stream full of wonder and excitement. We took turns leaning over to hold our hands under it. The wheat poured over our palms, bounced from our wrists, and fell with a drumming sound to the metal below.

"It works!" said Lao Hei, jubilant.

"Look how clean it is," shouted Ji Fengying. "As if it had been winnowed ten times."

I noticed some chaff and bits of straw slithering down the chute along with the grain, but this looked like a minor problem. The machine was certainly working.

Already we were rounding a corner. For a moment the flow ceased, then started up again with a rush as we bore down a long straight stretch. We listened for any false notes in the motor. There were none. We climbed down the ladder, squatted on the main header brace, and

watched the wooden rod that drove the knife. It flashed back and forth in a blur, but it made no alarming noise. All was well there. We opened the inspection hatch and watched the straw coming up the conveyor; we inspected the sieves shaking the chaff to the rear. We jumped to the ground and ran to the far side of the machine to examine chains and sprockets. Everything was in order. In the din created by the spinning, shaking, bouncing parts it was almost impossible to talk. But at that moment no words were needed. We looked at each other and smiled.

By the time our combine rounded the end of the field and started back, the other machines were no longer in sight. Impatient with waiting, they had started harvesting on their own. When the machine I was on completed a full circle I jumped off, waved the crew on, and stood a minute looking around. Like great gray battleships, the three tractor-drawn combines moved through the wheat, while over on the left the self-propelled machine rolled across the horizon like a light bomber about to take off. The roar of the engines sweeping across the wheat from all sides spoke triumphantly of the tremendous power that had suddenly been unleashed.

I turned to Manager Liu, who stood there transfixed.

"If they go on at that rate, we'll be finished up in two or three days."

I had no sooner said these words than one of the combines came to a halt. Then all four were standing still in the field. The throb of the motors ceased entirely. The mishaps had begun. One of the combines had a broken elevator chain, another had lost its drive belt, the canvas had jammed on the third. After an hour of hard work, running from one to the other, I finally got them moving, only to find the same process starting over again.

During one brief moment when they were all running I peddled off to South Ridge to see how the other brigade was making out. Contrary to instructions they had not waited for me. They had long since set their machines running, blown a blast on their whistles, and plunged in. Now they too were stalled all over the field with minor breakdowns.

At first I was angry, but then I thought it was just as well. If we waited to get all the kinks out of one machine before starting the rest, the grain would be falling to the ground. It was best for all crews to jump in and begin. That was the only way to learn.

And learn we did, the hard way.

One crew left a rope on top of their machine. It fell off, caught in a fast moving chain, jammed a sprocket, and smashed it in two. There were no spares. Another crew ran their header into a parked tractor and crumpled it. A third forgot to tighten the bolts that held the main screens. They

shook themselves loose and wore the fastenings so that it was impossible to tighten them later. Canvasses jammed, ripped off their slats, and snapped their straps. Sickle knives came loose and broke guards. Even the tractors refused to behave. One blew a gasket. Another shook a head bolt loose. It seemed to me that everything that could go wrong went wrong. The expanse of uncut wheat loomed larger and larger. In three full days we had harvested less than a fifth of the area. The peasant's crops had long since been out and hauled home. Soon the wheat would begin to shatter. Time pressed like a suffocating blanket building tension far beyond anything we had experienced in the spring.

To make matters worse I found that the wheat dust affected my head, throat, and lungs. As soon as I got near a combine I began to cough and sneeze. After a day in the fields I could not sleep at night. My throat seemed to be blocked up and it was only with the greatest difficulty that I drew breath at all. Even in the village wheat dust seemed to be everywhere. Only on the roof of the tower did I find any relief. There the air was clean and fresh and soothing. In order to sleep I had to carry my bedding to the highest point and spread it out under the stars. This was fine when I was in South Ridge, but at the sheep pens of Han Family Village there was no escape. There I had to lie down with the rest in the low huts and cough the night away.

The repair crews overcame the breakdowns one by one. Lao Liu, the blacksmith, turned out to be especially able. For half a day I tried in vain to repair a broken sprocket by welding, but the weld always cracked as soon as the cast iron cooled. We had no furnace in which to heat and cool it slowly and so despaired of fixing it at all. That meant one whole machine would be out of action. But Liu said, "Leave it to me. I'm going to make it stronger than the original."

He fashioned an iron ring that was just too small to slip over the extended hub of the sprocket. Then he heated it to a glowing red and the ring expanded just enough to slide on. When it cooled the contracting iron gripped the hub with tremendous pressure. As Liu had promised, it was stronger than the original. Soon the combine was back in action.

And so it was with everything that broke. Liu thought of a way to fix what others had given up on. The tinsmith Ying and the machinist Li were also determined to keep the machines running and often worked far into the night. Just as they were beginning to get things under control, two of the tractor drivers made a serious blunder that immobilized one combine completely. They drained the oil from the tractor crankcase, as required by the maintenance manual, and then drove off without refilling it. The bearings immediately seized up and a major overhaul job

was necessary before the tractor could run again. Without the tractor the combine was helpless. We tried pulling it with two rubber-tired Fords, which worked on level ground, but not when they came to a slight rise. All attempts to repair the bearings also failed because we couldn't get babbitt metal that would hold. Manager Liu got a specialist to come up from Weixian, a lathe large enough to turn the bearings was located in Nangong, but it was all useless. Each time the tractor was assembled, little pieces of metal kept cracking off the bearing surfaces.

By that time it didn't matter so much. The crews of the other combines were beginning to have some control over their machines. On the fourth day Liu Boying's team worked for ten hours without stopping. Their combine rolled around and around humming like a well-oiled watch. Every hour the whistle blew to announce another tank full of grain and the truck rushed out to receive it and haul it home. Liu Boying had begun to master the mechanism in his charge. He discovered the key points that had to be watched, tightened, or adjusted, and assigned crew members to look after them. Things went so well that he decided to keep going right through the night. Far away, on the other side of the flat, the second brigade saw the glow of Boying's light and heard the roar of his motors. They decided not to be outdone and at midnight two of their machines went back to work. When I awoke in the morning the expanse of stubble had vastly expanded. Everyone took heart and the harvesting went forward at an accelerated pace.

What had apparently been building up to a debacle now suddenly took on all the air of an impending victory. Like a drowning swimmer who finds all at once that his wild lunges and thrusts are holding him up, the two brigades pushed vigorously forward toward the distant shore. I found time to rest a bit and look around. When a combine stopped in the field I no longer hopped on the bicycle to find out what was wrong. I waited and usually the crews themselves solved the problem and started up again.

Night work became the order of the day. Even Big Yang, who had been plodding around with his usual lethargy, suddenly grew enthusiastic and took an active hand in setting up two shifts. In the end he even broke precedent by coming out to ride one of the machines at night to see what it was like.

Night harvesting turned out to be full of excitement. The great gray combines sail through the darkness with their running lights twinkling. Standing on the bridge, holding the wheel that adjusts the height of the cut, the crew leader feels like the captain of a ship at sea. The huge hulk beneath him lurches and shifts. In the stark glare of lights, the great reel walks forward into the

standing wheat. Shorn heads pour onto the canvas conveyor.

Then the long drawn-out whistle wail of a crew in distress wakes the mechanics from their fitful sleep. They stumble out into the night, find their bicycles, and go off in the direction of the sound. A shaft has worked loose, slid sideways in its bearings and snapped a chain. The shaft itself is bent. There are curses as the men work on the part in the dark. Their flashlight grows dim and finally fades away altogether. Someone bruises a finger and swears. "Tamade-[your mother's]!" under his breath. Finally the shaft is freed from the machine. They race back to the lathe truck with all the broken parts. Blacksmith Liu, who has kept awake by telling stones of factory life to the welder Ying, warms up his forge. Ying gets out his acetylene torch. Machinist Li, who has been studying ideographs under the bright light over the lathe, snaps on an electric drill. In ten minutes they have everything fixed. The mechanics disappear into the night, only to be replaced in the ring of light by another crew carrying a twisted header brace. In the dark they have run into a grave mound at full speed, buried the sickle three feet in the dirt, and crumpled the brace. Here is another hour's work for the repair crew.

In the distance a whistle is wailing again, but this time it is short and sharp. Somewhere our there a grain tank is full. The truck driver, who has been dozing at the wheel, springs into action, starts up his vehicle, slams it into gear, and roars off to receive a new load of wheat.

Chapter 26

People Come First

The first harvesting brigade settled into the sheep huts at Han Family Village as if prepared for a long siege. They laid reed mats over ground that smelled strongly of sheep manure. The huts had no windows, only doorways that let in a shaft of sunlight or moonlight, as the case might be.

The people asleep inside were hot, grease covered, and dripping with sweat, for it was midsummer. The sun had reached the Tropic of Cancer and shone down mercilessly. No one had time to bathe or worry about appearances. Food was dished out in a great cauldron under the open sky. Drivers came in from the field, grabbed bowls from the beam or log where they had laid them down after the last meal, filled them full of hot millet, and ate wherever they could find a place

to squat or a brick to sit on. When they were finished they rinsed out their bowls, rolled out their quilts, and lay down to sleep without bothering to undress, for there was no telling when they might be called again.

In the evening when everyone woke up, life brightened around the huts. It was then that the crew leaders came together to report to former militiaman Guo who led the whole combine brigade. Beside an oil lamp placed on a stool, Guo and the brigade record keeper sat cross-legged with their notebooks while the crew leaders told what had happened that day, how many full tanks they had harvested, how much gasoline and oil they had consumed, how many parts had broken or given trouble. They also had a chance to register complaints about supplies, food, and help. This was the time to exchange ideas and experiences.

"You have got to have a system with these machines," said Liu Boying when the others asked him how he kept running so many hours on end. "The three on the combine have to divide their attention and watch different areas for trouble. Otherwise they get in each other's way and no one sees the bolt that is loosening or the chain that is slapping.

"And when you stop for fueling and greasing," he continued, "certain things should be checked and tightened each time, like the bolts and nuts that hold the screens."

"How do you adjust those elevator chains?" asked Li, the intellectual. "We tried them all ways. If you get them too tight they snap as soon as you start. If you get them too loose the links fall apart by themselves."

"It's hard to say how we do it," Liu Boying answered. "But we test it by hand, feel for tension. I can't explain but I can show you. We haven't had any trouble for two days now."

Thus, bit by bit we worked out the kinks and helped each other to take the measure of the combines and gradually to master them. Just as the wheat dust covered everything, settled in our ears, made our noses run, stuck eyelids together during sleep, and brought spells of coughing as it lodged in our lungs, so thoughts of gears and engines, shafts and whirling chains pervaded our minds, occupied all the crevices and wrinkles of our brains, and for the time being displaced all other things in our lives.

This was true of the drivers, mechanics, and technicians whose job it was to make the machines work. But Guo Huxian and Manager Liu were thinking of more important things: how to organize, how to coordinate, how to guarantee the work we were doing. For me the harvest was a problem of broken machinery; for them it was a problem of people and their mutual relations. I couldn't help remembering Guo's criticism of my pre-harvest speech. I had said, "The most import-

ant thing we have is these machines. If we take care of them well, we can solve all our problems, but if we neglect them they will fail us and everything will be lost."

Guo came to me later and said: "You have misplaced the emphasis. The most important thing we have is our people. Their knowledge, their welfare, their growth, their cooperation—that is the first problem and the crucial one. Even if we ruin all the machines, if our men and women advance in skill and ability to work together, we will be far ahead."

Guo and Liu assumed from the beginning that the machines would be mastered sooner or later. What they wanted to study was how a harvest should be carried through from beginning to end, and exchanging information and promoting mechanical skill was only a part of this. In addition, there was the problem of coordination between the different sections, the organization of two shifts, supplies, transport, meals, boiled water. From the beginning they watched the men, their food, their hours, their rest. They encouraged those who needed help and criticized those who were causing difficulties. In every way they pushed forward the development of teamwork and cooperation.

One problem in human relations developed into a thorny one. This was the problem posed by the peasants who insisted on gleaning. A few dishonest persons had already stolen ripe wheat from the farm fields. Now, with their own crops harvested, honest peasants came out by the hundreds to glean. Crowds of women and children followed along behind the combines to pick up whatever had been missed. In some places, this was a lot because the unevenness of the ground and the stunted stalks made it impossible for the header to remain low enough everywhere. By following after the machines with baskets and bags the peasants were able to pick up several catties apiece each day.

Secretary Li had arranged with the district cadres that no gleaning would be allowed until the harvest was over. Once the combines went through and the farm staff, with the help of soldiers and students, had gleaned all that was considered worthwhile, then the word would be passed to the villages to come and gather the rest. But the villagers didn't wait. They came crowding in while the machines were still at work. They got in the way and were in danger of being run down. The soldiers tried to keep them back, at least until any given field was finished, but they had no sooner cleared one field than another would swarm with busy gleaners. It was impossible to restrain the crowds.

Some of the cadres, including Secretary Li, were all for calling in more soldiers, but most were ashamed of the fact that there had to be any

soldiers at all. It was an admission of failure on their part. They had not properly educated and helped the peasants. As Guo said, "If the people don't regard the farm as their own, all the soldiers in the world won't protect it. What is needed is more work in the community. We must connect the life of the farm with their lives. We must prove that the machinery is their future as well as ours. And we absolutely have to stop running over their fields and damaging their crops when we cross the flat. How can we expect them to love the farm crops when the farm workers don't love theirs?"

This last was an important point, for much of our equipment was wider than the cart tracks that wound between the peasants' cultivated plots. Whenever we pulled grain drills or combines from one place to another, some growing plants were bound to be crushed. There was continued war between cart operators and roadside plot owners anyway. Each peasant tried to protect his own fields by digging deep trenches alongside them. To avoid these trenches, the drivers swerved their carts onto other land and the owners in turn dug pits and embankments to protect their property. In the rainy season the battle reached a climax as mud holes blocked the way and carters detoured through whatever field was handy. Now, to make this even worse we brought in equipment that wouldn't fit on the roads

The action of the peasants during the harvest brought home to Jiheng Farm that a very important part of their work had failed. The farm had not yet become a community center, no peasants came for help and advice about advanced agricultural methods, high quality seeds, effective insecticides. The farm technicians had few contacts among local people. State farm and peasant each went his separate way. Instead of helping each other, each made things more difficult for the other. Much more effort and hard work were needed to bring about improvement in this sphere.

By noon of the seventh day the harvest was completed. We left the peasants gleaning in the fields, hauled the machines home, and took a day off to celebrate and rest. Everyone walked around with new self-assurance, like veterans of a battle. Hadn't the first mechanized harvest been successfully—even victoriously—completed? What worlds were there to conquer next?

The terrible hours of four to five days past, when it looked as if the whole affair might prove to be a fiasco, were completely forgotten.

But when we totaled up how much wheat we had brought in with eight machines in seven days, everyone sobered up. The whole crop from 12,000 *mu* turned out to be less than 400,000 catties—less than forty catties to the *mu*, less than six bushels to the acre. It was clear then that machinery in itself was not the key to successful large-scale

agriculture. We had managed to run the machines without any disasters, but the crop—the crop was nothing less than disastrous. From that day on, the work of building state farms in China began to develop on many fronts instead of just one. Agricultural technicians, accountants, and competent managers were seen to be as important as tractor drivers and certainly more important than tractors. Big Yang's dream of solving everything with deep plowing collapsed.

Chapter 27

Bujiandan

Returning to Beijing we rode north all night on the Beijing-Hankou line. The coaches were crowded, so the drivers sat in the aisle on their bed rolls. This time they felt more than ever like singing, but as they were scattered through several cars, they had to content themselves with telling the other passengers all about the harvest. As the conductor walked through the cars, his way was blocked by group after group of suntanned young people engaged in eager conversation with the passengers around them. Soon everyone had heard about the harvest at South Ridge—which was nothing to boast about—and the marvelous machines that accomplished it—which were something else again.

I finally found an empty seat beside three young women from Guangzhou. They insisted in

broken Mandarin that the seat was occupied, but when, after half an hour, no one came to claim it, I sat down anyway. An hour later I was startled to discover a fourth girl asleep on the floor with her head and shoulders under one seat and her legs under the opposite seat.

"That's the only way we have found to get any rest," they said. "We've been on the train four days and nights. After a while it is impossible to sit up any longer."

They turned out to be young teachers who had just graduated from the Normal School in Guangzhou. They were on their way to Beijing to visit schools and colleges in the capital at the invitation of the Ministry of Education. This was their first trip north and they were very excited.

One of the young women told me that her parents were Christian pastors. "But I have given up Christianity," she said. "We discussed it a lot in school, and it seems to me that what Christians believe is just like a superstition. Morality and ethics surely don't depend on that. There was a lot of preaching in the past, but there was very little morality. Look at China now! Everyone is trying to serve the people. Isn't that real Christian morality? When I get back to Guangzhou, I am going to volunteer for a teaching post in Yunnan. I have a friend who has been there for six months already." She smiled as she spoke of it.

"What do your parents think about your views now?" I asked.

"We get along fine," she said. "They think I am wrong, but they too have seen that the Communists are working for the good of everyone. They can't deny that. So we argue and argue. Even when I was little, I used to wonder about turning the other cheek. Surely the imperialists would walk all over us if we did that. Turn the other check, they said, and then sailed a gunboat up the river. It's all so clear to me now."

"This time we are building our own China. We teachers have an enormous job ahead of us. Isn't it wonderful that we are able to come to Beijing? I'm so excited I can't sleep anyway. I've never been on a train trip before . . .

She talked on and on, almost thinking aloud, about religion, about her parents, about New China, and her future work.

On the seat to my right a photographer in a blue cadre's uniform listened for a while and then entered into the conversation himself.

"New China! I want to tell you, you don't know what our New China is like until you travel around a bit. There are more things going on than anyone can imagine. Now take me. I've just been down to Jiaozuo to the coal mines. Never expected to see such a place. The mines are all mechanized. They have electric trains running underground, and electric lights, and air forced into the shaft by huge

fans. But the best thing is the new homes. There are tens of thousands of workers all moving into new rooms. We do not have dwellings like that, even in Beijing. They all have running water and lights, there is a hospital and a theater and schools for the children, just like a regular city. And that's just the beginning. There is lots more coal there. The mines will be much bigger in the future.

"The newspaper sent me there. We had heard it was remarkable, but you can't imagine until you've seen it. When the lights go on at night you can see a whole valley of lights.

"And now here is a fellow who has been harvesting wheat with combines. Who ever heard of that before? Yet we're already doing it. I tell you, you have to travel around a bit to find out what is going on. New China is *bujiandan* [not so simple]."

In the small hours just before dawn we all finally dozed off. The train carried us swiftly northward through Dingxian and Baoding toward the great iron bridge over the Yongding River. Fengtai's long railroad yards flashed past and then we came to Beijing's Great Wall. In the golden glow of morning the city looked peaceful, quiet, and clean. The blue roof of the Temple of Heaven showed itself over the battlements of the outer city as we glided through mile after mile of carefully tended truck gardens glistening with a bright sheen of dew.

As the train entered the station, the pulse of life quickened. The platform was jammed with people loaded down with bundles and parcels. Inside the waiting rooms and out on the sidewalk, others sat on their baggage and waited in orderly lines for the trains that would take them to the far corners of the country, to Shanghai, Guangzhou, Xian, Manzhouli. and Baotou. Beijing had truly become the hub of the nation. No matter what your rail destination, there was always a train that went there direct from Beijing.

The public security officer at the platform gate scanned the moving line for foreigners. When he saw me he tried to look efficient and aloof. But there was a softness in his eye. Finally, after examining my pass, he said. "Well, Lao Han, what have you been up to this time?"

"This time it was the wheat harvest. A mechanized harvest. China's first."

"How did it go?"

"Swell, it went just swell."

"Wonderful," said the officer. "That's wonderful. Our New China, it's *bujiandan*."

Postscript, 1970

The Great Proletarian Cultural Revolution has ushered in a whole new stage in the Chinese Revolution. It has also opened the previous stages to searching mass examination in a vast effort to expose and ultimately overthrow the authority and influence of the bourgeoisie in Chinese society, in the Chinese Revolution, and in the Chinese Communist Party. No serious study of any aspect of the Revolution can escape reexamination now that the "struggle between two lines"—the struggle between the socialist road and the capitalist road, between the proletarian headquarters and the bourgeois headquarters, between the Marxist-Leninists and the revisionists—has been so thoroughly revealed.

Iron Oxen is no exception. This book was written as a recollected journal of the author's life and

work in China during 1949 and 1950. It describes the first steps in the creation of a system of mechanized state farms as a critical turning point in the Chinese Revolution—the end of imperialist-Kuomintang rule and the establishment of the People's Republic of China. It reflects the consciousness of these events which the author held at the time.

The year 1949 was one of great political complexity. With hindsight it is now evident that what I, together with the cadres and students of the tractor program, lived through in those days was not simply victory for the new-democratic class coalition, which Mao Zedong had skillfully forged and led for so many years, but the end of the new-democratic stage and the beginning of the socialist stage in the Chinese Revolution as a whole.

What I was conscious of at the time, however, was not a great transition from one stage of the Revolution to another, but a straight-line development of new democracy, its culmination, so to speak: the smashing of foreign intervention on the mainland; the destruction of feudal landholdings; the creation of a mixed economy of state-owned, cooperative, and private enterprises existing and expanding side by side; a continuing alliance of four classes—workers, peasants, petty bourgeoisie, and national bourgeoisie—led by the working class through its party, the Communist Party; a Common Program which stood as the manifesto

of this class alliance and served as the framework for judging all programs and all actions.

How long would this stage last? Quite a long time I assumed. Many statements by Chinese Communist leaders, including some by Mao Zedong himself, pointed to decades rather than years.

In regard to socialism, I understood that this was the next goal. I also understood that the state farm program, in which I worked, was a part of the socialist component of new democracy, that this component was decisive in the economy (it included all the heavy industry and transport expropriated from old China's four leading families), and that it represented China's future. What I did not grasp was that the socialist revolution had already begun, that just as new democracy defined the content and basic class relationships of the revolution to overthrow Chinese feudalism and foreign imperialism in the period from 1919 to 1949, so socialism defined the content and basic class relations of the revolution to collectivize agriculture and to restrict, limit, and finally to expropriate the bourgeoisie after 1949. Before that year, the society around us had been feudal, comprador, imperialist-dominated. The Liberated Areas where I had worked for three vears had been islands of new democracy thrust up in a feudal-comprador-imperialist sea. After 1949, the mixed economy, politics, and culture of new democracy soon dominated the whole nation and what constituted the new was no longer new democracy but the islands of socialism, among them state farms, that thrust up in the new-democratic sea. Just as the struggle to make new democracy universal had constituted the central task of the old stage, so the struggle to make socialism universal constituted the central task of the new. And this was true even though in 1949 millions of peasants in south and west China had not yet settled accounts with their landlords or expropriated their property. Land reform, which loomed so large and absorbed so much energy in those days, was still in the nature of a leftover task. The center of the agrarian struggle had already shifted elsewhere-to the development of mutual-aid groups, land pooling cooperatives, and collective farms by peasants who had fanshened.

The victory of 1949, it is now clear, had by no means ended class struggle in China; it had only transformed it. Having resolved, at least internally, the great contradiction between the Chinese people—primarily the workers and peasants—on the one hand, and the feudal landlords, the bureaucratic-comprador capitalists of the Kuomintang, and the American imperialists on the other, victory shifted a previously subordinate contradiction to the center of the stage. This was the contradiction between the working class and the bourgeoisie, including the national bour-

geoisie which was still an important component of new-democratic society. The red thread of this new conflict ran through every sphere of Chinese life and every aspect of China's reconstruction. It took the form of a contest between the "capitalist road" and the "socialist road" in farming, in industry, in trade, in education, in culture, and in politics.

In the countryside the shock forces of this struggle were the former poor and lower-middle peasants who saw no future in small-plot farming and moved to collectivize, step by step, in the face of protracted opposition from the more prosperous peasants. In the cities the shock force was made up of rank-and-file workers who struggled to give real socialist content to state-owned industry and trade while riding herd on the private sector until it too could be transformed. Inside the Communist Party itself both these roads had adherents: Mao Zedong repeatedly took the initiative for socialist transformation in all spheres, and Liu Shaoqi consistently applied the brakes with policies that objectively fostered a private economy and an extension of bourgeois, "humanistic" culture.

It is important to raise all this because there is a tendency in *Iron Oxen* to assume that the great revolutionary storm was over, that the working class had been victorious in a final sense, and that the crucial job at hand was economic, tech-

nical, and administrative—rather than political. The reader could well be lulled into thinking that with the Kuomintang smashed and the landlords expropriated, the main problem in the countryside was modernization—that favorite word of American academia—a modernization that included, as an important component, mechanization, if only the young peasants and workers who were the students at Jiheng could master internal combustion engines and combine harvesters, if only their counterparts in the agricultural schools could master soil science, insecticides, and plant growth, the future of socialism in China was assured.

All such assumptions have been proven false by the development of socialist revolution not only in China but throughout the world. Modernization without conscious and protracted class struggle to ensure that state power remains in working-class hands and that the superstructure of society, as well as its base, is transformed, can and has led back to capitalism. False though these assumptions were and are, they were held to a greater or lesser degree by many revolutionary Chinese and they influenced the writing of this book. The reappraisal of history that has accompanied the Cultural Revolution demonstrates that this was no accident. A lot of confused thinking about the problems of the transition to socialism existed in China after 1949, not only among the rank-and-file but within the Communist Party and its leading bodies. Behind the confusion lay a clear-cut conflict between factions led respectively by Mao Zedong and Liu Shaoqi. This conflict crystalized, in part, around the theory of the productive forces, which is an essential component of Marxism.

Liu Shaoqi and his followers held to a version of this theory reminiscent of Bukharin: since the productive forces—the land, resources, machinery, techniques, and labor power—available to any society determine its contours and development, and since socialism is a historical stage requiring a high degree of division of labor, industrialization, technical knowledge, and scientific research, it is impossible to develop socialist forms of agricultural organization in the Chinese countryside until industry is able to provide tractors, fertilizers. and insecticides and the schools can provide a large cadre of technicians, scientists, etc. China's peasants should be content to take the rich peasant road (the capitalist road) until the urban sector can provide a sound technical base for a switch to socialism

Mao and his followers, on the other hand, held to a different version of the theory: they recognized not only the importance of the productive forces but also the vital impact of the relations of production—class structure, forms of ownership, forms of organization among producers—on these forces. Old, outmoded relations of produc-

tion can inhibit, even destroy, productive forces; new, revolutionary productive relations can develop and even create new productive forces. Furthermore, Mao recognized the importance of the superstructure—that is, ideology, education, the arts, law, and all the institutions outside the sphere of production—on productive relations and on the forces of production. It was Mao's view that, under the conditions existing in China, only a fundamental shift in productive relations in the countryside—a shift from individual to collective agriculture—could lay the groundwork for an all-round development of productive forces, provide a market for China's growing industries, supply these industries with raw materials, and make possible the introduction of tillage machinery, electricity, pumps, and modern techniques of all kinds into the Chinese countryside.

"Socialist industrialization cannot be carried out in isolation, separately from agricultural cooperation," Mao wrote in 1955.

Heavy industry, the most important branch of socialist industrialization, produces tractors and other agricultural machinery, chemical fertilizers, modern means of transport, oil, electric power, and other items for the needs of agriculture, but it is only on the basis of a large-scale cooperative agriculture that it is possible to use all these, or use them on an

extensive scale. We are now carrying out a revolution not only in the social system, changing from private ownership to public ownership, but also in technology, changing from handicraft production to mass production with up-to-date machinery; and these two revolutions are interlinked. In agriculture, under the conditions prevailing in our country, cooperation must precede the use of big machinery.

The theory advocated by Liu Shaoqi was an expression of economic determinism and served as an excuse for a policy of laissez-faire that could only have resulted in a rapid class differentiation in the Chinese countryside, stagnant productive forces, and a stagnant market leading to stagnation in industry and an eventual return to semi-feudal, semi-colonial status for China. The theory advocated by Mao Zedong was an expression of dialectical materialism. Applied in practice, it resulted in the socialization of Chinese agriculture through class struggle and a relatively rapid development of rural productive forces. These latter were greatly stimulated by the large scale of the new agriculture, its potential for rational land and resource use, its capacity for capital accumulation, and its mobilization of all labor power—off-season, part-time, handicapped, etc.—for sustained production work.

Looking backward, it is not hard to see that many of us in the tractor program were greatly influenced by Liu's theories. Cadres and workers on state farms thought of themselves as the vanguard of Chinese agriculture, who, having mustered modern technique, would lead the entire peasantry down the high road of large-scale socialist agriculture sometime in the future. We were quite aware that we were part of the socialist sector of the new-democratic society, and since this sector was decisive in the economy as a whole, we naturally thought of ourselves as the decisive factor in the transformation of agriculture, the advance guard. Actually, it now seems clear that the advance guard of socialism in Chinese agriculture in 1949 consisted of poor peasants like those in Wang Guofan's pauper's co-op, which was made up of twenty-three families, who, beside their land, owned only a three-quarter share in a donkey. "But relying on their own efforts, in three years' time its members accumulated a large quantity of the means of production," wrote Mao Zedong.

They "got it from the mountains," they explained. Some of the people visiting the cooperative were moved to tears when they learned what this meant. Our entire nation, we feel, should pattern itself after this co-op. In a few decades, why can't 600 million "paupers,"

by their own efforts, create a socialist country, rich and strong?¹⁷

Hundreds of millions of poor and lower-middle peasants took up Mao's challenge in the middle fifties. They consciously chose the socialist road, and it was this decisive battle against the capitalist road which they fought and won which gave importance to the mechanization pioneered by the state farms.

Any reader who is unaware of this could be misled by the sub-title and text of Iron Oxen. The book is a documentary of revolution in Chinese farming, but it describes only one aspect of that revolution, an aspect that was important to the revolution as a whole because the peasants of China had to master modern technique if they were ever to take command of nature and fashion a flourishing socialist society, but an aspect, nevertheless, which was subordinate to the struggle to take the socialist road that occurred in hundreds of thousands of obscure villages and hamlets throughout the length and breadth of the land. The true seguel to Fanshen lies not in Iron Oxen alone, but in books like The Builders by Liu Qing, where the first steps toward mutual aid in an isolated village after land reform are described; in books like Socialist Upsurge in China's Countryside, where the experiences of peasant activists

¹⁷ Socialist Upsurge in China's Countryside, 1956.

and rural cadres in building producers' cooperatives in various parts of China prior to 1956 are collected between two covers and edited by Mao Zedong; in books like *Great Changes in a Mountain Village* by Zhou Libo, and *The Rise* of *the People's Communes in China* by Anna Louise Strong.

Readers of *Iron Oxen* may of course discern that the struggle between the capitalist road and the socialist road after land reform took place not only in the private sector of China's economy—that is, among millions of small-holding peasants—but also in the socialist sector, in the Tractor Training Center at Jixian (later at Double Bridge), in the State Farm Management Bureau, and on the various state farms that were created as full-blown socialist enterprises in 1949 and after

One of the great lessons to be learned from the Cultural Revolution is that the establishment of socialist forms is not the end of the revolution on the economic or any other front.

After the realization of agricultural cooperation... the struggle between the consolidation of the socialist system of collective ownership and the attempt to sabotage it remains an outstanding question.... The proletariat and the former poor and middle peasants must use the tremendous power of the dictatorship of the proletariat to consolidate and develop the

socialist system of collective ownership so as to take the road of common prosperity.

So reads an article entitled "Struggle in China's Countryside Between the Two Roads," which appeared in *Xinhua News* on December 4, 1967. If this was true in cooperatives and communes established by peasants, it was no less true on state farms established directly by government cadres.

The most striking example of this struggle in the text is the story of Manager Li, from Jiheng Farm, who used capital and transport allotted for the development of crop production to build a small trading empire and thus convert a socialist farm into an institution for capitalist profit. Other examples of this struggle appear in the meetings for self-and-mutual criticism, where individualism, hedonism, and go-it-alone philosophies clash with the strivings for mutual aid, collective consciousness, and unconditional service to the people that are fundamental to socialism. It is also revealed in the contrast between my view that "These machines are the most important thing we have," and Guo Huxian's view that "It is the people who drive them who are most important." Where capitalism puts machines and technique in first place, socialism puts man and man's political consciousness first

As the years passed, the struggle between the two roads in state farm construction became sharper

and more clearly defined. It showed up most strikingly in the battle between the foreign-trained experts assigned as teachers in the tractor school and Director Li (not to be confused with Manager Li¹⁸) over the form and content of the education provided. The experts wanted to build a school and later a college that resembled the institutions of higher learning that they themselves had known in China and the West. They wanted strict selection by examination both for admission to the school and advancement from class to class. They wanted students graded according to knowledge already mastered, with advanced courses for advanced students and the culling out of the slow and the backward. They resisted and resented "practice" the periodic emptying of the school as faculty and students alike went down to the farms to plow, plant, and harvest. They felt that their own careers had been aborted by exile to a mere "trade school." By rights they should be heading departments and research facilities at great universities. They also demanded the privileges and bonuses, salaries and distinctions, that traditionally went with such high-level posts.

Director Li, who had worker and peasant support, had an entirely different approach to education. He was for taking in all students assigned to the school, regardless of level, and for advancing

¹⁸ Referred to in the book as "Secretary Li"—Ed.

them all, by whatever means necessary, toward the level of master technician without demoting anyone or culling anyone out. He was for mixed classes of culturally advanced and culturally backward students. He was for mutual aid between students of all levels and for mutual aid between those with practical experience and those with theoretical training. He was for the most intimate combination of theory and practice, with the school actually operating a farm and with staff and students periodically joining production elsewhere. And he was for research and development in the field arising out of real work and carried on by those engaged in the actual process of production. He also insisted on political mobilization, the fostering of proletarian consciousness, as a prerequisite for building a new socialist world.

The foreign-trained experts wanted to develop a technical elite on the Western model. Consciously or unconsciously, they were advocates of the capitalist road. Li Zhi was for the all-round liberation and development of the talents of the working people of the state farms. He was, I feel, advocating the socialist road.

But though this struggle between the two roads was actually taking place, and I took part in it on Director Li's side, I was not conscious of it's being part of a basic class struggle developing in a new period of socialist revolution. Thus the text of *Iron Oxen* expresses a certain naivete, a certain

innocence, that more accurately reflects the exuberant, euphoric state of mind quite common in the Liberated China of those years, than the actual situation that was unfolding—a situation of sharp class struggle between proletariat and bourgeoisie in every field, from crop production to play writing, and at every level, from peasant plot to state council.

In the context of the times, this state of mind can perhaps be excused. The struggle of the Chinese people against feudalism and imperialism had been long and bitter. The chronic violence, misery, and oppression of the old society had pushed people to the limits of endurance, and they had paid a heavy price in mounting the revolt that smashed it. The victory of 1949 brought in its wake a tremendous liberation not only of body but of mind and spirit. As Wordsworth said of the first days of the French Revolution:

Bliss it was in that dawn to be alive, But to be young was very heaven!

It would be inexcusable, however, in 1970, not to point out the limits of this earlier understanding, and to arm the reader with a more complete insight into the actual development of the Chinese Revolution. For it is exactly this innocence, this naivete in regard to class struggle, on which the bourgeoisie counted and still counts to allay the people's vigilance and provide the conditions

for a renewed assault on socialism and proletarian state power after it has been established anywhere. Contrary to the line put forward in 1956 by Liu Shaoqi that "In China, the question of which wins out, socialism or capitalism, is already solved," Mao Zedong specifically pointed out:

The question of which will win out, socialism or capitalism, is still not really settled. . . .

The class struggle between the proletariat and the bourgeoisie, the class struggle between the different political forces, and the class struggle in the ideological field between the proletariat and the bourgeoisie will continue to be long and tortuous and at times will even become very acute....

After the enemies with guns have been wiped out, there will still be the enemies without guns; they are bound to struggle desperately against us, and we must never regard these enemies lightly. If we do not now raise and understand the problem in this way, we shall commit the gravest mistakes.

In a world where struggle against imperialists is inextricably linked with struggle against revisionists—bourgeoisie, new and old, masquerading as socialists—it would indeed be a grave mistake to gloss over or obscure this problem. No revolution can possibly succeed without a clear grasp of the new ways in which the old ruling classes distort

and misdirect revolutionary movements from within before their own state power is smashed and then once again seize power from the working class after working-class states are created.

The great teacher of these lessons is Mao Zedong. The Cultural Revolution he is leading in China is a practical demonstration of how the working class can and must defend its hard-won state power, defeat revisionism, and carry the socialist revolution through to the end.

Collection "Works of Maoism"

- Collected Works (1968-1987)
 Communist Party of Peru
- 2. Selected Works, Volume VI
 Mao Zedong
- Selected Works, Volume VII
 Mao Zedong
- 4. Selected Works, Volume VIII
 Mao Zedong
- Selected Works, Volume IX
 Mao Zedong
- 6. Selected Works, Volume I
 Mao Zedong
- 7. Selected Readings from the Works Jose Maria Sison
- 8. Selected Works, Volume II
 Mao Zedong
- 9. Selected Works, Volume III
 Mao Zedong

- Selected Works, Volume IV
 Mao Zedong
- 11. Selected Works, Volume V Mao Zedong
- 12. Documents of the CPC, The Great Debate, Vol. I
- 13. Selected Works, Volume I Ho Chi Minh
- 14. Documents of the CPC, The Great Debate, Vol. II
- Documents of the CPP, The Second Rectification Movement Armando Liwanag
- Documents of the CPP, Resistance to Martial Law Ang Bayan

Collection "New Roads"

- From Victory to Defeat: China's Socialist Road and Capitalist Reversal Pao-yu Ching
- 2. Silage Choppers and Snake
 Spirits
 Dao-yuan Chou
- 3. Which East is Red?
 Andrew Smith
- 4. Mao Zedong's "On
 Contradiction" Study Companion
 Redspark Collective
- Critique of Maoist Reason
 J. Moufawad-Paul
- 6. Like Ho Chi Minh! Like Che Guevara! Ian Scott Horst
- 7. Critiquing Brahmanism K. Murali (Ajith)
- 8. *Operation Green Hunt* Adolfo Naya Fernández

- 9. Of Concepts and Methods K. Murali (Ajith)
- 10. The German Communist ResistanceT. Derbent
- 11. Revolution and Counter-Revolution Pao-yu Ching
- 12. A Commentary on the Compendium of the Social Doctrine of the Church CNL
- The World Turned Upside Down Amit Bhattacharyya
- Politics in Command:
 A Taxonomy of Economism
 J. Moufawad-Paul
- The Women's Emancipation
 Movement in the Philippines
 Compilation

Collection "Foundations"

- The Foundations of Leninism Joseph Stalin
- Wage Labour and Capital
 Wages, Price and Profit
 Karl Marx
- 3. Reform or Revolution? Rosa Luxemburg
- 4. Socialism: Utopian and Scientific
 Frederick Engels
- 5. The State and Revolution V. I. Lenin
- 6. Labour in Irish History
 James Connolly
- 7. Anarchism or Socialism?
 & Trotskyism or Leninism?
 Joseph Stalin
- 8. Manifesto of the Communist
 Party & Principles of
 Communism
 Karl Marx & Frederick
 Engels
- 9. Essays in Historical Materialism George Plekhanov
- 10. The Fascist Offensive
 & Unity of the Working Class
 George Dimitrov
- Imperialism, the Highest Stage of Capitalism
 V. I. Lenin
- 12. The Origin of the Family, Private Property and the State Frederick Engels
- 13. The Housing Question Frederick Engels
- 14. The Modern Prince
 & Other Writings
 Antonio Gramsci

- 15. What is to Be Done? V. I. Lenin
- Critique of the Gotha Program Karl Marx
- Elementary Principles of Philosophy
 Georges Politzer
- 18. Militarism & Anti-Militarism Karl Liebknecht
- History and Class Consciousness Georg Lukács
- 20. Two Tactics of Social-Democracy in the Democratic Revolution V. I. Lenin
- 21. Dialectical and Historical

 Materialism & Questions of

 Leninism

 Joseph Stalin
- 22. The Re-Conquest of Ireland James Connolly
- 23. The Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte Karl Marx
- 24. The Right to Be Lazy
 & Other Studies
 Paul Lafargue
- 25. The Civil War in France Karl Marx
- 26. Anti-Dühring
 Frederick Engels
- 27. The Proletarian Revolution and the Renegade Kautsky
 V. I. Lenin
- 28. Marxism and the National and Colonial Question Joseph Stalin

- "Left-wing" Communism, an Infantile Disorder
 V. I. Lenin
- 30. The Poverty of Philosophy Karl Marx
- 31. The Mass Strike
 Rosa Luxemburg
- 32. Revolution and
 Counterrevolution in Germany
 Frederick Engels
- 33. Economic Problems of Socialism in the USSR & Commentaries
 Joseph Stalin & Mao Zedong
- 34. The Labor Movement in Japan Sen Katayama
- 35. On Education N. K. Krupskaya
- 36. Falsificators of History Joseph Stalin
- 37. Woman and Socialism August Bebel
- 38. The German Ideology
 Karl Marx
- 39. The Condition of the Working Class in England Frederick Engels

- 40. The Right of Nations to Self-Determination V. I. Lenin
- 41. Materialism and Empirio-Criticism V.I. Lenin
- 42. The Holy Family
 Karl Marx & Frederick
 Engels
- 43. The Class Struggles in France Karl Marx
- 44. One Step Forward, Two Steps Back V. I. Lenin
- 45. History of the CPSU(B) Short Course Joseph Stalin
- 46. Ireland and the Irish
 Question
 Karl Marx & Frederick
 Engels
- 47. Communist Education M. I. Kalinin
- 48. The Colonial Policy of British Imperialism Ralph Fox

Collection "Tales from the Front"

- Prison Diaries and Letters Felix Dzerzhinsky
- Warriors, Poets, Friends Joven Obrero
- 3. Bright Clouds
 Hao Ran
- 4. Wall of Bronze
 Liu Qing
- 5. The First Time in History
 Anna Louise Strong

- 6. Hundred Day War William Hinton
- 7. New Women in New China Compilation
- 8. When Serfs Stood Up in Tibet Anna Louise Strong
- 9. Volokolamsk Highway Alexander Bek
- Iron Oxen
 William Hinton

Collection "Colorful Classics"

- Marxism-Leninism-Maoism
 Basic Course: Revised Edition
 Communist Party of India
 (Maoist)
- Philosophical Trends in the Feminist Movement Anuradha Ghandy
- Minimanual of the Urban Guerrilla Carlos Marighella
- 4. The Communist Necessity
 J. Moufawad-Paul
- Maoists in India: Writings & Interviews Azad
- 6. Five Golden Rays
 Mao Zedong
- 7. Stand for Socialism Against Modern Revisionism Armando Liwanag
- 8. Strategy for the Liberation of Palestine PFLP
- 9. Against Avakianism Ajith
- Specific Characterics of Our People's War Jose Maria Sison
- 11. Rethinking Socialism: What is Socialist Transition? Deng-yuan Hsu & Pao-yu Ching
- 12. Fedai Guerillas Speak on Armed Struggle in Iran

- Dehghani, Ahmadzadeh, Habash, Pouyan, Ashraf
- 13. Revolutionary Works
 Seamus Costello
- 14. Urban Perspective Communist Party of India (Maoist)
- Five Essays on Philosophy Mao Zedong
- Post-Modernism Today Siraj
- 17. The National Question Ibrahim Kaypakkaya
- 18. Historic Eight Documents Charu Mazumdar
- 19. A New Outlook on Health Advocators
- 20. Basic Principles of Marxism-Leninism: A Primer Jose Maria Sison
- Toward a Scientific Analysis
 of the Gay Question
 Los Angeles Research Group
- 22. Activist Study-Araling Aktibista (ARAK) PADEPA
- 23. Education to Govern Advocators
- 24. Constructive Criticism Vicki Legion
- 25. Writings on Organization & Mass Line
 Mao Zedong